
REPUBLIC OF KENYA

OFFICE OF THE AUDITOR.GENERAL

Enhancing Accountability

PARI, IAM ENT
REPORT-ok- KENYA

t,IBR ARY

OF

THE AUDITOR-GEN

ON

CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA
LIMITED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER,2023

'_.-..-..+-.

I



t,

t ED

U

s

Io I fc o I !. D FT R0 c I R LP Bo Ia 0l 0 ii 0 it o I
R T

RECE
COTISOUDAIED BAI{K OF KETIYA UMIIED AND SUBSIDUIRY

CO SOUDAIED A flUAL F|NAI{OAL STAIEI,IEI{TS

FOR IHE YEAR O'IDED 31 DECEIT,IBER 2023



CONSOLIDAIED EANK OF ffiflYA UMIIED AND SUBSIDIARY

ANNUAI- REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR IHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

CONIENIS

Coaporate infomation

Statement of conorate govemanc€

Report of the directors

Statement of directors' responsibilaties

Directo6' remuneration

Report oftie indcperdent auditor

Flnancial statements

Consolidated Statement of prollt or loss and othercomprehensive incrme

Ba nk Statemeflt of pmfit or loss and other compr€hensive lncome

Consolidated Statement of fnancial position

Bank Statement of fi nanclal position

Consolidated Statement of changes in equity

Bank Stat€ment ol changes in equity

Consolidated Statement of cash flovrs

Bank Statement of cash lloYrs

Not6 to the financialst tements

Appendices

Appendix 1 Statement ofcompadson (Actualvs Budget)

Appendir 2 lssues Raised by $e Auditor cenerdl during tie pr€vious year

PAGES

1

2-6

7 -8

9

10-11

12- 15

16

t7

18

19

20

2t

22

23

24-95

96-98
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CONSOLIDATED BAN( OF KENYA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY

STAIEMENT OF CORPORAIE GOVERNANCE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

Corporate governance defines the process and structure used to direct and manage the business affairs of Consolidated Bank oi (enya

Limited ("the Bank") r,l,ith the aim o, enhancing corporate accounting and shareholders' long term value while taking int0 account the

interests of otherstakeholders.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the govemance o, the Bank and is committed to ensuring that its business operations are

conducted with integrity and in compliance with the law, intemationally accepted principles and best practices of corporate govemance

and business ethics. To this end the Bank has put in place processes, systems, practices and procedures which are frequently reviewed

and updated embracing the changing corporate environment and world trends.

Business ethics

The Bank conducts its business in compliance with high ethical standards of business practice. ln this respect, transactions with its
clients, intermediades, insiders, employees and other stakehold€rs are conducted at arm's len$h, with integrity and transparency. The

business is conducted with high levels of transparency and accountability.

Eoard of Directors

The names ofthe Directors as at the date ofthis report are set out on page 1.

The Board ,ulfils its fiduciary responsibility to the shareholders by maintaining control over the strategic, financial, operational and

compliance issues of the 8ank. Whilst the Board provides direction and guidance on strategic and general policy mafters and remains

responsible for establishing and maintaining overall intemal controls over financial, opemtional and compliance issues, it has delegated

authority to the Chief kecutive officer to conduct the day-to-day business ofthe Bank.

TIe Board consists of eight non-executive directors (including the Chairman) and the Chief kecutive officer. Ihe Board members
possess extensive experience in a vadety of disciplines in banking, busine-ss and financial management, all of which are applied in the

overall management of the Bank. The Eoard meets at leasl once every th,o months and has a formal schedule of matters reserved for it-

The Directors are given appropriate and timely information so thatthey can perlorm theirliduciary responsibilities effectively.

a) Directors' Emoluments and Loans

The remuneration of all Directors is subject to the guidelines issued by the Office ol the President on terms and conditions of seryice

for State Corporations. The Directors are not eligible for membeBhip ol the pension scheme and do not participate in any of the
Eank's bonus schemes. lnformation on the compensation received and the dealings of the DirectoIs with the Bank are included in

notes 17 and 43 to the tlnancial statements.

b) Related Party Transactions

There have been no materially significant related party transactions, pecuniary transactions or relationships between the Eank and
its Directoc or Management except those disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements.

Ihe Board has set up working committees to assist in discharging its duti€s and r€sponsibilities as follows:

Audit Committee

The Committee reviews the integrity ot the financial statements of the bank and recommends the statements for approval to the Board.
The Committee considers management's recommendations in respect of impairment on loans and advances as well as other disclosure
requirements. The Committee is also mandated to raise the standards of corporate gov€mance by reviewing the quality and effectiveness
of the intemal control systems, the intemal and extemal audit functions and the quality of financial reporting. ln addition to advising the
Board on best practice, the committee also monitors management's compliance with relevant legislation, regulations and Suidelines as
well asthe Bank'slaid down policiesand procedures. The comminee has direct contact wilh the lntemal Audit function, the Company

Secretary and the extemal auditors.



CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA I.IMITEO AND SUBSIDIARY

STAIEMET'IT 0F C0RP0RAIE G0VERNANCE (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OECEMBER 2023

Risk Commiftee

The committee is responsible for overse€ing the implementation of the Bank's risk management framework to ensure that all
existing and potential significant risks are identified and etfectively managed. The committee considers both intemal and extemal
sources of information regarding risks to keep abreast with new developments and their potential impact to the business. Ihe
committee receives periodic reports from the risk and compliance tunction relating to the Bank's strategic risk, credit risk, martet
risk (interest rate risk, price risk, and foreign exchange risk), operational risk, regulatory risk, reputational risk, and liquidity risk.

tinance and Credit Committee

Ihe committee is mandated to reviel and make recommendations on the Bank's credit, financial and accounting policies, and
review and make recommendations on the Bank's Annual Eudget, oversight of the overall lending policl of the Bank and deliberate
and consider loan applications beyond the credit discretion limits set for management. The committee also reviews and considers
all issues that may materially impact the present and futur€ quality of the Bank's credit risk management function as well as the
quality of the loan portfolio and ensure adequate bad debt provisions are maintained in line v{ith the Central Bank of Kenya
prudential guidelines and lntemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The committee also reviews, approves and moniton;
the management's compliance with applicable statutory pmvisions, Bank policies and guidelines relating to the monitoring of pdce,

liquidity, exchange rate and interest rate risks.

Staff Committee

The committee is mandated to formulate staff policies and pmcedures and ensure an adequately staffed and protessionally

managed human resource. Ihe committee assists the Board in discharging its corporate govemance role by reviewing staffing needs
of the Bank, appoints senior management staff, reviews training needs and undertake disciplinary measures as per the staff policies.



CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KEI,IYA LIMITED ANO SUBSIDIARY

SIATEMENT 0F C0RP0RAIE GoVERNANCE (Continued)

FOR THE IEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Board meeting attendance

During the year under review, the Board held main board and working commlttee meetings. The Board members attendance for 2023 is as follows:

afie Boad Meetlng mmltt6eAudltCommlttee Rl3k & Compllance Commltt6o Cr€dlt ll Flnance Commlttee

Meeungs
requied ro

attend

Meetings

a(ended
96 Meetlngs

required
to attend

MeetlnSt
attended

% Meetlngs
rcqulrcd to

attend

Meetings
attonded

% Meetlngr
requlrcd to

attond

Meeungs
attended

% MoeUngs

requhed to
attend

Meetings
attended

4 100*

4 100% 4 4 100% 4 4 100% 4 4

4

4 100% 4 4 10096 4 4 100% 4 4

4 100* 4 4 10096 4 3 7s*

4

4

4 10096 3 100r 3 3 100* 3 3

4 100% 4 4 100x 4 4

l$ac Muokl 4 4 100% 4 4 100% 4 4 100% 4 4 100%

4 100* 4 4 100* 4 3 75% 4 4 100%

aryta€n btt

okua

4 100% 4 4 100* 4 4 100*

34 100% 3 I 33* 4 3 75* 3 100%

HQn. NjagaBua

10 February10i3) Chalnnan
muel

0tflced
JaneWacukr ,liogu ada
Re0resentint Ca

Natlohallreasur
binet Secretary

Mos€s Cheseto- Altemate to
Manfgi Tn 

'tte.NSSF
Nabila Marru 100'f

Davld 0b!rc 10



CONSOUDATED BANK OF KENYA LIMITED ANO SUBSIDIARY

STAIEMENI oF CoRPoRAIE GoVERNANCE (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The Board membe/s attendance for 2022 is as follows:

Name

saac

(hBJ

&n x,gsn

lblae

e

Staff Commltte€Eoard Meeting AudilCommlttee RIsk & Compliance Commltee Credlt & Flnance Commlttee

MeetlnSs

requllrd to
attend

Meerligs
rcqulrcd to

attend

MaeUnEs
att6nded

% Maeungt
requlrod to

attend

MoqtlnSa

ettended
Meetlngs
attended

% lVeetlngs
rcqulred

to attend

Meetings
etended

x Mgotjngs
rcqulrd to

ettend

M€€tln83
attended

%

1 100% I I 100% 1 1 100%1 100% 1 100% I

4 4 100%4 4 100% 4 2 50*

4 100% 4 44 4 100% 4

Representlng Ca blnet Secretary

PeterMusei . (Iem ended on 10
February 2023) Chalmao

0tficer)
N,!gU acharla

NationalTrea 5llr/
to. mateto

Man Trus(se-NSSF

lrturi

8!e

4 100*

3 75* 3 3 100% 3 2 67S 3 3 100*

4

---ii- 4 4 100% 4 4 100% 4 3 75%

I 4 100* 4 3 75* 4 4

2 2 t00%4 100% 4 4 1001 4 3 7596

2 2

4
j 4 100%
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CONSOLIDA]ED BANK OF KEI,IYA I IMITED AND SUBSIDIARY
STAIEMENT OF C0RP0RAIE GOy:.R.'lANi;E i()ontinued)
FORTHEYEAR ENOED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Board perfomance evaluation

The Chairman conducts evaluations of the perrormance of the Board, individual Directors and Eoard Committees annually. ln addition,
the Board and its Committees undertake an annual evaluation of their performance and report their findings and any resulting
recommendations to the Board. The Board also undertakes an evaluation of the performance of the Chairman. IIe Board discusses the
results of its evaluations and uses the process to constructively improve the effectiveness ofthe Board.

Shareholders
Eelow is the list of the shareholders and their individual holdings

2023
No ofshares
140,000,000

2,225,000
1,094,487

660,000
620,000
590,000

483.000

147,923,000
1.997.000

1 9-92qpoi

2,225,O00
1,094,487

720,000
695,000

660.000
620,000
590,000

483.000

147,923,000
1.997.000

uq, 2Q,0@

8,050,000

3,958,300

3,021,700

2,631,500

2,520,000

2,420,000
2,250,000

2,120,000

1.756.000

28,727,500
7.329.000

3q056,500

22.30./.

11.00%

8.40%

7.30%

7.00%

6.70%
6.20%

5.90%

4.90%

79.10%
20.30%

t 00%

22.30./.

11.00%

8.40%

7.300

7.00%

6.70%
6.20%

5.90%

_ 4.90%

79.70%

20.30%

1@%

0rdinary Shar€s

2022
7o No ofshares

93.4% 140,000,000

Prelerence sha.es
2023

No of shares oA
2022

%
Cabinet Secretarynle National
Treasury
National Social Security Fund

Kenya l{ational Assunnce
(2001)
Kenya l{ational Assurance
Company timited
Kenya Pipeline Company Lirnited
(enya National Eramioation
Council
PublicTrustees
Telkom Kenya Limited
National Hospital lnsurance
Fund

TAPTRUST Retirement Services
Limited

835,513 0.6% 835,513 0.6%

t.5%
o.7%

93.4%

1-50h

o.7%

720.000
695,000

0.5%
0.5%

0.5%
0.5%

0.4%
o.40/o

o.4%

o.4%
o.40k
0.4%

Total of 10 above
0ther shareholders

0.3%

98.7%
1.306

100%

0.3%

98.7%
t.3v"

100%TOTAT SHAREHOTDING

Compliance

The Board provides ove6ight to ensure that managemenl adheres to all applicable laws, regulations, govemance codes, policies,
procedures and systems to monitor and contml compliance across the bank. Additionally, the Sank prepares its financial statements in
accordance with lntemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), requirements of the Eanking Act Cap 488 and the Kenyan
Companies Act 2015.

e Wacuka Njogu Macharia- Director

.................................2024
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARYAND ITS SUBSIDIARIES

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBFR 2023

The directoIs submit their repurt together with the consolidated audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023.

INCOPORATION

The Bank is domiciled in Kenya where it is incorporated as a private company limited by Shares under the Kenyan Companies Act,
2015. The address of the registered otfice is set out on page 1.

DIRECTORAIE

Ihe Diiectors who held otfice during the year and to the date oI this repon are set out on page 1. IIe following changes took place
in the directorship duringthe year.

. Hon. Njagagua Muriuki-(Appointed on 10 February 2o23)-Chairman

. Peter Mus€i-(lerm ended on 10February 2023) -Chairman

. Dr. Kennedy otiso oerm ended on 7 December2023)

. lsaac Mulatya Muoki (term ended on 7 December2023)

. Marykaren Xigen-Sorobit 0erm ended on 7 December2023)

. Mr David Obure (Ierm ended on 7 December2023)

. Mr lbrae Doko (Ierm ended on 31 March 2023)

. Nabila K. Mazrui (Ierm ended on 7 December 2023)

. George Mokua 0erm ended on 7 December2023)

PRINCIPALACIWMES

The principal activities ot the Bank, which is govemed by the Banking Act, are the provision of banking, financial and related
services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Kenya's economic performance strengthened in 2023 despite continued challenges, with real GDP growth accelerating ,rom
4.8% itt 2022 to an estimated 5% in 2023. The improved groMh performance is attributed to a slrong rebound in agriculture
sector in 2023, which had taced persistent and severe drought as well as a moderate growth in the services sector. Ihe recovery
o, agriculture led to improvements in food supply and coupled with monetary policy tightening which helped reduce inflationary
pressures. ln 2023, tourism continued to expand, credit to the private sector improved and manufacturing activity improved from
the anlicipated gmwth in agro-processing sector. The economy faced challenges to sustain its groMh momentum due to
heightened tiscal and extemal vulnerabilities manifested through high public debt, elevated cost of living, exchange rate
pressures, foreign exchange shortages, govemment delals in settling outstanding bills, rising inlerest rates, increased taxes,
global economic uncenainties and tight global financial conditions.

The banking industry remained stable and resilient in 2023 characterized bystrong capital and liquidity buflers. The sector
recorded improved perfomance against a backdrop of a challenging macro-economic envimnment though the ratio of NPLs to
gross loans increased to an average of 15% as at December 2023 compared to 13.3% as at December 2022. Other Priofities in
the sector for the year 2022 included improving digital account opening and digital loan application processes.

Consolidated Bank continues t0 face capital challenges and is keen on addressing this, and has continued to engage the majority
shareholders; The National Treasury and other shareholdec on the issue of capital injection. ln addition, the Eank is implementing
an aggressive five-year strategic plan for the period 2023 to 2027 which is anchored on five strategic pillars of; business growth,
brand positioning, people, asset quality and leveraging on technologyto grow and tum around the Bank.

Ihe Group's loss for the year decreased from KES 435 million in 2022 to KES 398 million in 2023 an improvement of 8%. The
Bank total assets remained flat at KES 15 billion (2022 KES.15.5 and 2023 KES. 1s.2billion). Net advances declined hy 5% to
KES 8.9 billion from (ES 9.3 t illiori ,1,itt. investmcnt Gover,imert securities growing by 1/% to KES 3.8 billion from KES 3.2
billion recorded in 2022.Custonmer deposits decreased by 6% tmm KES 11.3 billion in 2022 to KES 10.7 billion in 2023 due to
the tight liquidity experienced in the market during the year under review. Total operating income grew by 5% to Ksh.1.42 billion
due to groMh in nonjunded income wilh the high cost of funding impacting negatively the Eank's margins. 0perating expenses
reduced by 6% due to cost management measures. Due to the tough macroeconomic environment and the Bank's principles of
prudence in risk management, provisions for bad debts increased by 41%.
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OE KEI.IYA LIMITEO AND SUBSIDIARYAND ITS SUBSIDIARIES
REPoRT 0FTHE 0IRECTORS (Continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

The summary of financial perrormance for the Group is as below;

RESULTS

2023
KES'OOO

2022
KES'000

Loss before taxation
Taxation credit

(398,848)

aa.'@
(435,356)

(18.650r

Loss forthe yeartransfened to accumulated losses

Dividend

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a diyidend fortheyear (2022:. nill

STAIEII ENT AS TO OISCTOSURE TO IHE ItI DEPEI{ D EI{I AUOITOR

(4L5274 sl4,oo0l

With respect to each of the pecons who is a Director at the date of approval ofthis report confirms that:

there is, so far as the Director is aryare, no relevant audit inlormation ofwhich the gank's auditor is unaware; and
the Director has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director so as to be aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the Bank's auditor is aware ofthat inlormation.

lndependent Auditor

The AuditorGeneral is responsible forthe statutory audit ofthe Bank's book of account in accordance with section 14 and section
39(i) of the Public Audit Act, 2004 which empowers the Auditor General t0 nominate other auditor to carry out the audit on his
behalf and subject to the approval by the Central Bank of Kenya in accordance with the requirements of Section 24(1) of the
Banking Act of Kenya.

Grant lhomton, who were appointed by the Auditor General, canied out the audit of the financial statements lor the year ended 31
December2023.

BY ORDER OFIHE EOARD

Pany Secretary
Albert Anjichi

Nairobi

2024
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CONSOLIDAIED BANK OF KENYA I.IM ITED AND SUBSIDIARY
SIATEMENI OF DIRECIORS' RESPONSIEILMES

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 3l DECEM{IFK 2023

The Kenyan Companies Act, 2015, requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year that give a true and fair
view ot the financial position of the Bank as at the end of the financial year and of its prolit or loss for that year. lt also requir€s the
Dilectors to ensure that the Bank maintains proper accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the transactions of the
Bank and disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the financial positi0n of the Bank. the Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the
assets of the company, and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and ermr.

The DirectoB accept responsibility ,or the preparation and presenlation of these financial statements in accordance with the
lntemational Financial Reporting Standards and in the manner required by the Nenyan Companies Act, 2015 and the Banking Act 0f
Kenya. They also accept responsibility foI

i) designing, implementing and maintaining such intemal control as they determine necessary to enable the pres€ntation of financial
statements that are free lmm material misstatement, whetherdue to fraud oreno(

ii) selecting suitable accounting policies and applying them c0nsistently; and making accounting estimates and judgements that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

Iie Directors have considered the matters discussed in note 9 to the financial statements, which indicates that the group incuned a loss
after tax of KES 415 million during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: KES 454 million) and accumulated losses stood at l(ES
4.229 billio.t 12022: KES 3.87 1 bill io n) as ol that d ate.

Ihe decrease of 8% in the operating losses in a dimcult operating macroeconomic envimnment is an indication is an indication of the
Bank's focus in tuming around. The decrease in the losses is attributable t0 increase in opemting income and key sfategic initiatives,
which were implemented to bring down opemting expenses though the Bank's prudence in risk management led to a 41% surge in
provisions for impairment. The Bank maintained the total assets at KES 15 billion with the net interest income increasing by 12% to (ES
810 million from KES 720 million recorded the previous year. Ile Bank took the strategr to invest in more attractive but less rislq
eaming assets such as Govemment securities due to the difficult operating envimnment in the year.

Ihe Bank's regulatory capital ratios as at 31 December 2023 were however below the regulatory minimum with total capital / risk
weighted assets at (4.46%l (2022: (1.27%)) against a minimum of 14.5% and core capital / risk weighted assets at (4.46%) (2022:
(1.27old ) against a minimum of 10.5%.

Ihe Board and management have put in place an aggressive five-year strategic plan for the period 2023 to 2027. The strales/ is
anchored on five strategic pillars; business gro\ryth, brand positioning, people, asset quality and leveraging on technology to grorv
and tum around the Bank.

Raising additional capital to finance groMh and maintain healthy regulatory Etios is of paramount imponance. The Eoard has been in
constant engagement with the National Treasury the majority shareholder and other shareholders to inject additional capital in the bank
to ensure compliance $/ith the regulatory capital ratios. The National Treasury, the majority shareholder '/rith 93.4%, is committed to
continue to support the bank to meet regulatory capital ratios and imptement the 2023-202 7 strategic ptan.

Eased on the foregoing, and having made an assessment of the Group and the Bank's ability to continue as a going concem, the
directors are not aware of any material uncertainties related to events or conditions that may cast doubl on th€ Group and the Bank's
ability to continue as a going concem except as disclosed in note 9 to the financial statements.

The Directors acknowledge that the independent audit ofthe financial statements does not relieve them oftheir responsibilities.

Approved by the board ot directo$ on -. 2024 and siSned on its behalf

ne Wacuka Njogu Macharia Hon. Mu

Director Chairman

9



CONSOLIDAIED BANK OF KENYA LIMITTD AND SUBSIDIARY
DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 Di:CiMBTR 2023

The Board establishes and apprcves formal and transparent remuneration polices to att,act and retain both &ecutive and Non-
Executive 0irectors. The Iemuneration of all Directors is subject to the guidelines issued by the State Corporations Advisory Commitee
(SCAC) on terms and conditions of service Ior State Corporations.

ln accordance with the guidelines provided by the State Corporations Advisory Committee (SCAC), Salaries aod Remuneration
Commission (SRC) as vtell as the National Jreasury and other shareholders' approval duing the Annual General Meetings, the
Directors ale paid a sitting alloyrance o, KES 20,000 r0r every meeting anended. The Directors and the Chairman are also paid a
monthly retainet of XES 50,000 and KES 150,000, respectively. The Directors are not eligible to. membership oI tte pension scheme
and do not participate in any ofthe Bank's bonus schemes.

Contract of Sewice

ln accotdance with the Xenyan Companies Act, 2015 and the Capital Market Regulations of l(enya or! Non-Executive Directors, a third
ofthe Eoard is elecled at every Annual Gene.al Meeting by sha.eholders for a term ofthree yeaE, on rotational basis.

The Chief Erecutive ofiicer has a three-year .enervable contract of seMce wlth Consolidated Bank of Kenya Limited and Subsidiary,
effective 11 octobe.2022 to 10 October 2025.

Changes to Di,ectors' Remuneration

Duling the period, there were no changes in Directo6' remuneration, which is set as per the guidelines provided by the State
Corporation Advisory Comminee and the Salaries, and Remuneration Commission.

Stalement on approval of Directors' Remuneration during the Annual Gene.al Meeting

DuIing the Annual Cenelal Meeting held virtually on 22 lune 2023, the shareiolders app.oved the payment of Directors' fees for the
year ended 31 Decembel 2023 in accordance with the guidelines provided by the State Corporations Advisory Committee and the
Salaries and Remunelalion Commission

The following tables shows a single llgure remuneration for the CEO and Nofl'Executive Directors in respecl ofqualifying services for the year
ended 31 December 2023 togetherwith the comparative figures for 2022. The aggregate Directo6 emoluments are shown in note 17.

FoR rHE yEAR ENDED 3r DEC€MBER 2023 categorv
Gross

Payment5
l(Es'000

Honorarium

Kts'000
Allowances

xES'000
Total

Kts'000

Hon. MuriukiNiagagua -( Appointed on 10
February2023)
SamuelMuturi
,ane Waoka Niogu Ma.iaria - Repres€ntinB
Cabinet S€creta ry Natio na I T.easu ry
Moses Cheselo. Altemate to ManagingTrustee -
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OFFICE OF THC AUDITOR.GENERAL
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HEADQUARTERS

Anniversary Towers
Monrovia Street

P.O. Box 3oo84-oo1oo
NAIROBI

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR.GENERAL ON CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA
LIMITED FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2023

PREAMBLE

I draw your attention to the contents of my report which is in three parts:

A. Report on the Financial Statements that considers whether the financial statements
are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework,
accounting standards and the relevant laws and regulations that have a direct effect
on the financial statements.

B. Report on Lawfulness and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources which
considers compliance with applicable laws, regulations, policies, gazette notices,
circulars, guidelines and manuals and whether public resources are applied in a
prudent, efficient, economic, transparent and accountable manner to ensure
Government achieves value for money and that such funds are applied for the
intended purpose.

C. Report on Effectiveness of lnternal Controls, Risk Management and Governance
which considers how the entity has instituted checks and balances to guide internal
operations. This responds to the effectiveness of the governance slructure, the risk
management environment and the internal controls, developed and implemented
by those charged with governance for orderly, efficient and effective operations of
the entity.

An unmodified opinion does not necessarily mean that an entity has complied with all
relevant laws and regulations and that its internal controls, risk management and
governance systems are properly designed and were working effectively in the
financial year under review.

The three parts of the report are aimed at addressing the statutory roles and
responsibilities of the Auditor-General as provided by Article 229 ot the Constitution,
the Public Finance Management Acl,2O12 and the Public Audit Act, 2015. The three
parts of the report, when read together constitute the report of the Auditor-General.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

The accompanying financial statements of Consolidated Bank of Kenya Limited set out
on pages 16 to 98, which comprise the Group and the Bank statements of financial
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position as at 3'l December, 2023, statements. of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information, have been audited on my behalf by Grant Thornton,
auditors appointed under Section 23 of the Public Audit Act, 2015. The auditors have
duly reported to me the results of their audit and on the basis of their report, I am
satisfied that all the information and explanations which, to the best of my knowledge
and belief, were necessary for the purpose of the audit were obtained.

ln my opinion, the Group and Bank financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Consolidated Bank of Kenya Limited as at
31 December, 2023, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year
then ended, in accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
and comply with the Kenya Companies Act, 2015 and the Banking Act, Cap 488.

Basis for Opinion

The audit was conducted in accordance with lnternational Standards of Supreme Audit
lnstitutions (lSSAls). I am independent of the Consolidated Bank of Kenya Limited
Management in accordance with ISSAI 130 on Code of Ethics. I have fulfilled other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the lSSAls and in accordance with other
ethical requirements applicable to performing audits of financial statements in Kenya.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for my opinion.

Emphasis of Matter

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

I draw your attention in Note I to the financial statements, the Bank continued to
register poor performance in its operations. During the year under review, the Bank
incurred a loss of Kshs.421,328,000 (2022 - Kshs.459,319,000), resulting into an
accumulated loss of Kshs.4,244,187,000 (2022 - Kshs.3,880,310,000) as at 31
December, 2023. As a result, the Group registered a loss of Kshs.4'|5,270,000 (2022
- Kshs.454,006,000) while the accumulated loss increased to Kshs.4,229,607,000
(2022 - Kshs.3,871,788,000) as at 3'l December,2023. Further, as disclosed in Note
9 to the financial statements, the Bank's total capital to risk weighted assets ratio
continued to decline to (4.46%) (2022 - (1.27o/o) against a regulatory minimum capital
ratio of 14.5o/o. fhe Group's current liabilities balance of Kshs.'14,553,753,000
exceeded current assets balance of Kshs.14,193,469,000 by Kshs.360,284,000 and
the Bank's continued operations depend on Government support. These conditions
alongside other matters disclosed in Note 9 to the financial statements cast significant
doubt on the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern.

My opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Report o/the Auditor-Generql on (lonsolidated Bank of Kenya Linitedfor the yeur ended 3l December,2023
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Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgment, are of most
significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current year. These matters
were addressed in the context of the audit of the financial statements as a whole, and
in forming my opinion thereon, and I do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, a description of how the audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

Kev Audit Matter How the Matter was Addressed

lmpairment Allowances on Loans and
Advances at Amortized Cost in the
Group and Bank Financial Statements

We determined that the impairment on
loans and advances to customers to be a
Key Audit Matter due to the high degree of
estimation uncertainty and significant
judgement applied by Management in
determination of Expected Credit Losses
(ECL) as summarised below;

Forward-Looki ng lnformation

IFRS 9 requires the Bank to measure ECLs
on a forward-looking basis reflecting a
range of future economic conditions.
Significant Management judgement is
applied in determining the macroeconomic
information used and the applied
probability weightings.

Significant lncrease in Credit Risk

The criteria selected to identify a significant
increase in credit risk is a key area of
judgement within the Bank's ECL
calculation as these criteria determine
whether a 12-month or lifetime provisions
are recorded.

Model Estimations

lnherently judgmental modelling used to
estimate ECLs, which involves determining
Probabilities of Default ('PD'), Loss Girtn

Assessing the appropriateness of
parameters used in the statistical
models in respect of Probability of
Default (PDs), Loss Given Default
(LGDs), and Exposure at Default
(EADs) by considering local
economic conditions, and;

Evaluating Management's basis
for establishing Stage 3 loss
allowances in terms of the Group
and Bank's policies and in terms of
the requirements of IFRS 9. This
included challenging reasonability
of Management assumptions on
cash flow projections and time to
realization for a sample of the
facilities.

Making use of our internal financial
risk modelling specialists to:

o Assess the Group and Bank's
methodology for determining
the economic scenarios used in
the forward-looking information
and the probability weightings
applied to the scenarios:

o Assess the key economic
variables used in the
determination of ECL, includinq

Report of the Auditor-Cenerql on Consolidoted Bank of Kenya Linited for the year ended 3l December, 2023
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Ke Audit Matter
Default ('LGD'), and Exposures at Default
('EAD'). The PD and LGD models used are
the key drivers of the Banks's ECL results
and are therefore the most significant
judgmental aspect of the Bank's ECL
modelling approach.

How the Matter was Addressed
agreeing a sample of economic
variables to external sources,
as well as the overall
reasonableness of the
economic forecasts by
comparing the Group's and
Bank's forecasts to reputable,
external sources of
macroeconomic forecasts.

Other lnformation

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the Bank information, corporate governance and the report of the Directors
as required by the Kenya Companies Act, 2015. The other information does not include
the financial statements and the auditor's report thereon.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do
not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

REPORT ON LAWFULNESS AND EFFECTIVENESS IN USE OF PUBLIC
RESOURCES

Conclusion

As required by Article 229(6) of the Constitution, based on the audit procedures
performed, except for the matter described in the Basis for Conclusion on Lawfulness
and Effectiveness in Use of Public Resources section of my report, lconfirm that,
nothing else has come to my attention to cause me to believe that public resources
have not been applied lawfully and in an effective way.

Basis for Conclusion

Non-Compliance with Capital Requirements

Review of the financial statements revealed that the Bank did not comply with various
capital requirements set out in the Banking Act and other Central Bank of Kenya
Guidelines as indicated below:

The Bank's core capital stood at a debit balance of Kshs.582,108,000 against
the minimum required capital of Kshs.1,000,000,000. This was a contravention
of Section 18(2) of the Banking Act, 1995 (Revised 2015) which states that, "a
non-operating holding company or any other vehicle of ownership which
controls a group shall, in relation to its business, maintain adequate capital and
adequate forms of liquidity to demonstrate that it is a source of strength for the
institution and shall comply with any regulations issued by the Central Bank on
minimum ratios or capital requirements in any other form. Section 4.1 .3 of Part
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lV of the Guidelines on capital adequacy of the Central Bank's Prudential
Guidelines, 2013 sets the nrrnimum absolute core capital requirement at
Kshs.1,000,000,000 for Banks and Mortgage Finance Companies.

The Bank's total capital/total risk weighted assets ratio stood at (4.46%) as
reflected in Note 9 to the financial statements. This was against the required
ratio of 14.5o/o set out in Section 4.1 .2 of Part lV of the Guidelines on capital
adequacy of the Central Bank's Prudential Guidelines, 2013.

The Bank's core capital to total risk weighted assets ratio stood at (4.460/o) as
reflected in Note 9 to the financial statements. This was against the required
ratio of 10.57o set out in Section 4.1.2 of Part lV of the Guidelines on capital
adequacy of the Central Bank's Prudential Guidelines, 2013.

The Bank's core capital to total deposits ratio stood at (4.90.%) as reflected in
Note 9 to the financial statements. This was against the required ratio of 8% set
out in Section 4.1 .1 ol Part lV of the Guidelines on capital adequacy of the
Central Bank's Prudential Guidelines, 2013.

The Bank's liquidity ratio stood at 13% as reflected in Note 10.8.2 to the financial
statements. This was against the required ralio ol 2Oo/o set out in Section 4.1 of
Part lV of the Guidelines on Liquidity Management of the Central Bank's
Prudential Guidelines, 201 3.

ln the circumstances, Management was in breach of the law.

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 4000. The standard requires that I

comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance
about whether the activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the
financial statements are in compliance, in all material respects, with the authorities that
govern them. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my conclusion.

REPORT ON EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL CONTROLS, RISK MANAGEMENT
AND GOVERNANCE

Conclusion

As required by Section 7(1Xa) of the Public Audit Act, 2015, based on the audit
procedures performed, except for the matters described in the Basis for Conclusion on
Effectiveness of lnternal Controls, Risk Management and Governance section of my
report, I confirm that, nothing else has come to my attention to cause me to believe
that internal controls, risk management and overall governance were not effective.

Basis for Conclusion

1. Outdated Collateral Valuation Reports

As reported previously, review of the collateral register maintained by the Bank
revealed that a number of loans collaterals had not been valued for more than five

Report oflhe Audilor-General on Consolidated Bank ofKenyo Linitedlor the year ended 3l December,2023
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years against the Bank's credit policy. This may force the Bank to increase provisions
since the outstanding loan facilities may not be adequately covered by the pledged
securities.

ln circumstances, there is a potential credit risk exposure which may lead to an
increase in non-performing loans.

2. Failure to Fill Key Positions in the Bank

During the year under review, some of the key senior management positions had not
been substantively filled and those performing the roles were in an acting capacity.
The positions included Head of Risk and Compliance and Head of Finance.
Management explained that the positions could not be substantively filled in the past 3
years due to a recruitment freeze placed by the National Treasury in 2019.

Lack of substantive office holders may derail the performance of the Bank and may
lead to inappropriate decisions being made due to lack of appropriate authority and/or
experience. This may result to noncompliance or losses.

3. Weaknesses in lnformation Communication and Technology (lCT) Controls

Review and evaluation of the information systems relating to the operations of the Bank
(the core banking systems), information systems used for the purpose of internal
controls over financial reporting and other information systems revealed the following
weaknesses:

The mainstream support for the underlying database for the core banking
system ended in 2015 while the extended support ended in 2020. Further, the
mainstream support for the underlying operating system ended in 2021 while
the extended support, which the Bank has not procured ends in December,
2024. As a result, the Bank was no longer being supported by the vendor
including getting security updates and patches.

I There was no process at the Bank to ensure that activities of privileged users
were monitored at a network level, application level and operating system level
in order to ensure that instances of unauthorized access/activity were promptly
identified.

The core banking system was noted to randomly stop charging interests on loan
accounts which forced a manual resolution that may be prone to human errors.
Further, the loan classification and aging was done manually on the core
banking system exposing the Bank to risks of non-compliance with the
Prudential Guidelines as classification of loan accounts may be done
incorrectly. ln addition, there are risks of misstatement of interest income on the
financial statements.

tv A walkthrough of the systems revealed that the core banking system did not
have a functionality to distinguish between manually posted journals and
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automated journal entries thus exposing the Bank to risks of unauthorized
journal entiies that could go undetected leading tc'' misstatements on the
financials.

Review of tariffs and fees and commissions configured on the system revealed
instances where there were variances between the two. For example,
commission on salary processing automated was set at Kshs.420 on the system
yet the tariff guide indicates a fee of Kshs.320. Commission on cheque book
requests is set at Kshs.15 on the system yet the tariff guide states that it should
be free.

There was no internal lT audit and internal Vulnerability Assessment and
Penetration Testing (VAPT) conducted for the period under review. This is a
non-compliance to the Guidance note on Cybersecurity issued by Cenhal Bank
of Kenya in 2017 which states that, all institutions should incorporate qualified
lnformation and Communication Technology (lCT) Auditors within the internal
audit team who should then ensure that the audit scope includes and is not
limited to continuously review and report on cyber risks and controls of the ICT
systems within the institutions and other related third-party connections, assess
both the design and effectiveness of the cybersecurity framework implemented,
conduct regular independent threat and vulnerability assessment tests, report
to the Board the findings of the assessments and conduct comprehensive
penetration tests.

There were no access rights reviews of permissions assigned to users on the
core banking system. Further, there were no segregation of duties matrix that
had been designed by Management to outline incompatible permissions. The
lack of an internal mechanism for identifying user permissions could lead to
users with excess privileges going undetected.

vt.

v .

ln the circumstances, the effectiveness of the Bank's core banking systems, ICT
controls, other information systems and risk management relating to confidentiality,
integrity and availability of information, could not be conflrmed.

The audit was conducted in accordance with ISSAI 2315 and ISSAI 2330. The
standards require that I plan and perform the audit to obtain assurance about whether
effective processes and systems of internal control, risk management and overall
governance were operating effectively, in all material respects. I believe that the audit
evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
conclusion.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

As required by Kenya Companies Act, 2015, I report based on my audit, that:

i. I have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of my
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purpose of the audit;
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ln my opinion, adequate accounting records have been kept by the Bank, so far
as appears from the examination of those records; and,

iii. The Bank's financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records
and returns.

Responsibilities of Management and the Board of Directors

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial
statements in accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards and for
maintaining effective internal control as Management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control, risk management and governance.

ln preparing the financial statements, Management is responsible for assessing the
Bank's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Management
is aware of the intention to liquidate the Bank or cease operations.

Management is also responsible for the submission of the financial statements to the
Auditor-General in accordance with the provisions of Section 47 of the Public Audit
Act, 2015.

ln addition to the responsibility for the preparation and presentation of the financial
statements described above, Management is also responsible for ensuring that the
activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements
are in compliance with the authorities which govern them, and that public resources
are applied in an effective way.

The Board of Directors are responsible for overseeing the Bank's financial reporting
process, reviewing the effectiveness of how Management monitors compliance with
relevant legislative and regulatory requirements, ensuring that effective processes and
systems are in place to address key roles and responsibilities in relation to overall
governance and risk management, and ensuring the adequacy and effectiveness of
the control environment.

Auditor-General's Responsibilities for the Audit

The audit objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion in accordance with the
provisions of Section 48 of the Public Audit Act, 2015 and submit the audit report in
compliance with Article 229(7) ot the Constitution. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
lSSAls will always detect a material misstatement and weakness when it exists.
Misstatements can arise frorn..fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
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or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

ln addition to the audit of the financial statements, a compliance audit is planned and
performed to express a conclusion about whether, in all material respects, the
activities, financial transactions and information reflected in the financial statements
are in compliance with the authorities that govern them and that public resources are
applied in an effective way, in accordance with the provisions of Article 229(6) of the
Constitution and submit the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) of the
Constitution.

Further, in planning and performing the audit of the financial statements and audit of
compliance, I consider internal control in order to give an assurance on the
effectiveness of internal controls, risk management and overall governance processes
and systems in accordance with the provisions of Section 7(1)(a) of the Public Audit
Act, 2015 and subrnit the audit report in compliance with Article 229(7) of the
Constitution. My consideration of the internal control would not necessarily disclose all
matters in the internal control that might be material weaknesses under the lSSAls. A
material weakness is a condition in which the design or operation of one or more of the
internal control components does not reduce to a relatively low level the risk that
misstatements caused by error or fraud in amounts that would be material in relation
to the financial statements being audited may occur and not be detected within a timely
period by employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control may not prevent or detect
misstatements and instances of non-compliance. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the
policies and procedures may deteriorate.

As part of an audit conducted in accordance with lSSAls, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. I also:

ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by Management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of Management's use of the going concern basis
of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the RanK"-,s,ability to continue as a going concern. lf l.conclude that a material

a

a

a
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uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in the .auditor's report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of my audit report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information and
business activities of the Bank to express an opinion on the financial statements.

Perform such other procedures as I consider necessary in the circumstances.

I communicate with Management regarding, among other mafters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that are identified during the audit.,

I also provide Management with a statement that I have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Management, I determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period
are therefore the key audit matters. These matters are described in my auditor's report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, I determine that a matter should not be communicated
in my report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

a

FCPA , cBs
AUDITOR-GENERAL

Nairobi

27 March,2024
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719,585

249,t70
23,8M

331.234

(1,458,149)
(311,808)

xl1

(445,983)

(13.336r

(459.319)

(459319l

Kts

(3.06)

1.397.341 1.323.873

(408,153)

19(a) (13.175)

|d.21.3281

27

35

11

25
22lal

20

lt



CONSOTIOATED BANK OF l(ENYA LIMITED AND SIJBSIDIARYAND SUESIDIARIES
GROUP STATEI.IENT 3F FINANCIAI. POSITION

AS AT 31 DECTMBER 2023

ASSEIS l,lotes

31 Decemb€(

2023
KES'000

31 December

2022
KES'000

Cash and balancesrvith Central Bankof Kenya
Balances duelrom ban king institutio ns
Financial ass€ts at amortised cost
Loans and advances to customers (Net)

Other assets
Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Taxation recoveIable

Property and equipment
Right of Use Assets
lntangible assets
Leasehold land

IOTAL ASSM

27
19(c)

8,354
1,685

8,354
1,050

28(a)
28(b)
29la)

30

15220314 15JI4815

21
22(al

23
24
26

901,554
203,461

3,769,458
8,943,138

365,819

726,195
188,9s0
105,911

5.789

332,378
3,118,544

10,665,362
437.469

3,719,530
435,474

.l4,229,607l.

733,678
7.486

1,261,494
110,911

3,226,727
9,394,242

428,877

7 49,472
221,,438
14s,991

5.959

26t,208
2,340,000

11,355,818
515.658

3,719,530
445,540

(3,871,788)
781,063

L4E6

UABI1JnES AI{D S}IAREHOI.O€RS' FUNDS
UABITMES

Deposits and balances due to banking institutions
Balances due to Central Bank ol Kenya
Customer deposits
Other liabilities

T0T l, uABtunEs

SHAREHOI.DERS' R'tIDS

Sharc capital
Revaluation suOlus
Accumulated losses
Statutory reserye

Fairvalue reserye

TOTAI. SHAREHOIDERS' FI'iIOS

22(b)
22(c)

31
32

33(b)
34
35
36
37

14,553.753 14.172.6a4

066.561 1.081.831

rOTAL I.IABIIMES ATID

SHAREHOI,.OERS' R'tIDS uZzS;Ul tL-551lEU

The financial ents on pages 16 to 95 were a pproved and aulhorised for issue by the Soard of oirecto.s

on 024 and y/ere signed on its behalt by:

Chai.ma r - Jane Wacuka Niogu Machaiaki

Chief ive Officer muel Muturi

11',|

Ag. mpany Secretary -Albefl Anjichi



CONSOLIDAIED BATIK OF XFNYA I IMITED AND SUBSINIARY
BANK StATEMEt'tt ,,, rlNAi,/ClAl P0SiIl0N
AS AI31 DECEMBER 2023

UABILMES ltID SHAREHOI.DERS' FUNOS

UABI[MES

31 December

2023
KES',000

31 December

2022
KES',000ASSETS

Cash and balanceswith Certral Bank of Kenya
Ealances due from banking institutions
Financialassets at amortised cost
Loans and adyances to custome.s (net)

other assets
Equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Taxalion recoverable

Property and equipment
Right of Use Assets

lntangibte assets
Leasehold land

IOIAI. ASSEIS

l,lot€s

21
22lal

24

26

27
19(c)

901,554
203,461

3,759,019
8,943,138

365,702
8,354

1,685

725,947
188,950
105,913

5.789

332,378
3,118,544

10,665,362
3,778

437.469

1,261,494
110,911

3,226,727
9,394,242

428,7 83
8,354

1,050

7 48,0t2
22L,438
145,554

5.959

261,208
2,340,000

11,355,818
6,531

515.658

3,719,530
445,540

(3,880,310)
781,063

7.486

28(b)
28(b)
29(b)

30

T5zIDJU 1n552,524

Depositsand balances due to bankjng institutions
Balances due to Central Bank of Kenya
Customer deposits
Due to subsidiary
Other liabilities

TOTAL UABIIMES

SIIAREHOI.DERS' R'NDS

Share capital
Revaluation surplus
Accumulated losses
Slatutory reseNe
Fair value reserve

TOIAI. SHAREHOI'I)ERS' R't{DS

22(b)
22(cl

31
43
32

14.557.531 14.479.2t5

33(b)
34
35
36
37

3,719,530
435,47 4

ll4,244,1871
733,678

7.446

TOTAL UABITMES AI{D

SHAREHOI,DERS' R,t,IDS

651.981 1.073.309

$tagElz lsEiz.s24

6 to 95 were approved and authorised for issu€ by the Board of Directors

and were signed on its behalf by:

The financial ents on pages 1

0n

chatrma n - ctor - Jane Wacuka tljogu Macharia

Chief Elecutive Otficer - Samuel Muturi A Company Sec.etary -Albe.t Anjichi



I CONSOLIDATED BAN( OF KENYA LIMITED ANO SUBSIDIARYANO ITS SUESIDIARIES
GROUP SIATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

Note

At 1, )anuary 2022

Loss for the year

0ther,)orrrprehensive income

Share

capltal

KES',000

3,719,530

3.Zr9l3!

3,?19,530

Revaluation

resorvg

KES',000

455,606

(14,380)

4,374

445310

445,540

Accumulated

loss€s

xEs'000

Stahnory

res€fle
KES',000

636,882

744.181

28L063

781,063

Fakvaluo

t€serye

KES'000

7,486

7-486

7,486

Total

KES',000

1,535,83i
(454,006

Transie. cf excess depreciation
I Defene,l lax on excess depreciation

I 
Transte, to statutory reserye

At31Da(ember2022

35

35

36

(3,283,667)
(4s4,006)

14,380
(4,314)

(144.181)

BJZLTIE)

(3,871,788)

147s,270)

At 1 Jandary 2023
Uoss forthe year

0ther conlprehensive income
I

Transfer of excess depreciation 35 (14,380) 14,380
Defened :ax on excess depreciation 35 - 4,314 (4,314)
Transfer to statutory reseNe 36 47.3g5 (47.3gS)

At 31 oecember 2023 3;LL9-ill0 435AIA U229-60n n:16-ZB

The farr value gain on investment pr0perty of KES 435,474,000 included in retained eamings is non distributable until the investment property is disposed off

L@L83J

1,081,831
(415,2 70)

?^486 006-561



CONSOUDATED SANK OF KEI.IYA UMMD AND SUBSIDIARYAND IIS SUBSIOIARIES
I BANK STATEMENT OF oHANGES IN EQUIIY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Note

Al7 laiuary 2022
Loss forthe year

0ther comprehensive income

Share

capltal

KES'OOO

3,719,530

3.2r.9-530

3,719,530

455,606

(14,380)

4,374

445310

445,540

(3,286,876)
(4s9,319)

14,380
(4,314)

r144.181)

Gt80^3101

(3,880,310)
(427,3281

Statxtory

IeServe

KES'000

636,88

144.181

78rc6i

781,063

Revalualon

msefle

KES',000

Amumulated

lossos

KES',000

Fakvalue

rgse e
KES',000

Total

KES',000

Transfei cf excess depreciation

Deferr€d tax on excess depreciation,
Transter :o statutory reserve

Al 31 1,6,.a6667 2922

At 1 JarL ary 2023
Loss tor the year

0ther c.lrnprehensive income

1E

35

36

7,481 1,532,628
(4s9,319)

t 486

7,486

1-073:t0-9

1,073,309

\42t,328)

7-486 6511181

Transrer lf ercess depreciation 35 (14,380) 14,380
Defened tax on excess depreciation 35 4,314 (4,314)
Transfe. :o statutory reserve 36 42.385 (4i.3g5)

At310Fcember2023 3Jlgljtr0 !Er*4zl taiaaJ&r raiL6z!

The farrvalue gain on investment propefty of KES 435,474,000 included in retained eamlngs is non distributable untllthe investment property is dispos€d ot
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CONSOLIDATED BAN( OF KENYA LIMITED AflD SUESIDIARYAND IIS SUESIDIARIES

GROUP STAIEM iII] OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THEYEAR ENDEO 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023
xEs'000

2022
KEs',o(x)

CASH FLOWS GEiIERAIE) FROM OPERAIIONS

Cashflows (used in)generated from operations
Tar paid

Net cashffows (used in)operatjng activiti€s

C SH FLOYVS FROlyl INVESni{G ACnVmES

Purchase of property and equipment
Pmceeds on sale ofproperty and equipmer[
Purchase of intandble assets

Net cash (used in) inyestjng activities

CASH FLOITB fROM FII{AT{ONG ACIMNES

Repayment of interest portlon on lease liability

Net cash (used in)fnancing activities

MOVEMEIII IiI CASI{ AI{D CASH

EQUIVAI.f I{IS DURII{G IHE YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVAI..Ei{TS AT 1 JANUARY

CASH ANO CASH EQUIVALENTS AT31 DECEI\4BER

tlote

38(a)
19(c)

28(a)
16

29

28(b)

38(b)

(994,898)
t17.495t

(18,625)
131

(32.168)

(50,662)

(30.5671

(30,567)

(1,093,622)

(1,706,064)

eJ99.0!0)

(1,356,471)
(19.698)

(7,454)
555

(50.796)

(s7,695)

(32.468)

(32,468)

(1,466332)

(239,732)

u106064p

(1.012.393) (1.376.169)



CONSOTIDATED BAIIK OF KENYA LIMTIEO ANO SUESIDIARYAND tIS SUBSIDIARIES

BANK STAIEME T OF CASH FLOWS

FORIHEYEAR EI{DED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023
KES',od)

2022
xEs'000

CASH FLOIYS FROM OPIRAIIIIG ACIMIIES

Cash flows (used ln) generated from operations
Tax paid

Net cash floxls (used in) ope€ting actMties

cAsH FLOWS ROM mESnNG ACntmES

Purchase of property and equipme
Prc@eds on ssh ol property and equlpmem
Purchase of intangble ass€ts

et cash us€d in inyesting actiyities

ctsfl Flotts Ro Fr{ t{ot{c AcnvmEli

Repayment ot lnler€st podon on lease llablltty

Net c6i us€d in ffnandng activi0es

OV E{r rfl Clslt Ar{D ClSl{
EQU|VAI.E{IS DURtt{G mEtE R

c sH At{D cAsH EQUlVtr-E[rS AT 1 JArirUARy

CASH AND CASH EQUIVAT.B{IS AI3I DECEMEER

ote

38(a)
19(c)

28
l6
29

28(b)

38(b)

(998,119)
t14.2741

(1.012.393)

(18,62s)
131

(32.168r

(s0,662)

(30.56n

(30,s6I

(1,(x)3,622)

(1,706,064)

zltD-680

(1,361,784)
(14.385|

r1.376.1691

(7,454)
5s5

60.?961

(s7,69s)

132.468r

(32,468)

(1,466332)

(239,732)

(LzffiJE4r

23



CONSOTIDATED EANK OF XEI'IYA LIMITED AND SUESIDIARY
IIOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2

Repo ing entity

Consolidated Eank of l(enya [imitcd and Subsidiary 0he "8ank") together with its subsidiaries provides retail and corporate
banking services and insurance agency services in (€nya. Consolidated Bank of Xenya Limited is the ultimate pa.ent of the
group.

The address of its registered office is as follows:
Consolidated Bank House, Koinange Street
P 0 Bor 51133
Nairobi- 00200.

Easis ofp,eparation

The coosolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in acco.da0ce with the historical cost basis except for
equity instruments measur€d at fair value through other comprehensive income. For l(enyan Companies Acf, 2015 repoding
pu0oses, the balance sheet is represented by the statement of financial position and the profil and loss account by the
statement of ptofit or loss and other comprehensive income in these llnancial statements. The financial statements are
plesented in Kenya Shillings (KES) and all values are shown in Thousands Xenya Shillings (KES'000) ercept where otheflise
indicated.

Statement ot compliance

The group financial statements have been prepared ia accordance with lnternational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as
issued by the lnternational Accounting Standards Board (IASB), the Kenyan Compalies Ac,l 2015 and the Banking Act Cap 488.
The pleparation ol financial statements in coalormity rvith IFRS requires use of cedain critical accounting estimales. lt also
Iequires managemenl lo exercise its judgement io the process of applying bank policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complerity or where assumplions and estimates are siBnificanl are disclosed in note 8.

Presematon of financlal statements

The Bank presents its statement of financial position in order of liquidity based on the Bank's intention and perceived ability to
recovet/settle the majority of assets/liabilities of the cor,esponding financial statement line item. An analysis of the erpected
cash flows of tinancial assels and liabilities and contraclual maturities as at the date of repo(ing is preseoted io note 10.8.2.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are generally repofted gross in the consolidated statement of financial position except
when IFRS netting criteria are met.

Positions that are managed on a senle-to.market basis are transactiom that are settled in cash betore the close ot the business
day and thetefore the balances arc no longer recognised on the statement of financial position as an asset or a liability. The
carrying amounts represent the called but not yet settled balances. P.oducts that the Eank manages on a Settle-to-market basis
include: erchange traded futures and options and over.the-counter inlerest rate and for€ign currency swaps cleared through the
bank.

Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

I'lery and amended Standards and ioierprctations

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2023, bn do not have an impact on the financial
statements of the Group. The Group has not early adopted any other standards, inteerctations or amendmeflts that have been
issued but are notyet etfective.

The following amendments became effective during the period:

l{ewstandardsor amendments Etfective (or annual period

beginning or after

3.

4

5

5.1

Arnendmentsto IFRS 17

Disclosure ofAccouding Policies (Amendmentsto tAS 1 and lfRS Practice Statement 2)
Definition ofAccounting Estimates (Amendments to IAS 8)

Disclosures of climate-related information to enhance transparency benchmarked to TCFD

Framework
oefered tax related to assets and liabilities arising from a single transadion - Amendm€nts to
tAs 12

I January 2023
I tanuaty 2023
I lanuary 2023
1 tantary 2023

1 tanuary 2023
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COT{SOI"IDATED EAiII( OF I(ENYA LIMIIED AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES IO IHE FITIAI'ICIAT SIATEMENTS
FORTHEYEAR ENOED 31 DECEMEER 2023

5. Ctlng€s ln accourdng polld€s and dbdosulcs (colltnueo

5.1 l{fl and arnended Sta ads and llttelDrBtat on (contnu€O

SE,n bt* btEd nnotyaawte

nlc standa.ds and lnterpretatiolE that are lssu€d, but not }t,l efiectivo, up to tne date of issuanc€ of the Company's financld
statem€nts are lided below.

Ntr standards or amendments Efiedlw Ior annual pedod
beginning or afrer

Classmcatio[ of Liabillti€s as Cunc{lt or llon-cunerl(Anleldmglt to IAS 1)

Leas€ Liablllty ln a Sale and Le6€0ad(tuEndm€flt to IFRS 16)

tlon-c1rrert Llabllides with Cor"oafts (Amendmeats to tAS 1)

Amendmert to IFRS 16 - L€s€s on sale Ird l€as€bact
Amerdm€rt to IAS 1 - t{on-flrierlt lhbiltti€s witt clttnaflts
&nendment to IAS 7 and IFRS 7 - Supplier fin8nce

L tanua?! 2024
I )aouaq 2021
L January2U24

1)anuary2t2l
L January 2024
1 January 2U24

l{one of tlle stafldads and intofpretatiorrs lHed abwe arc expoctod to havo a signmcart impad on tllo crcup's flnandal
siatemenb {4|en they become etrective.
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KEI'IYA LIMITED AND SUESIDIARY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORT}IEYEAR ENDED 3l DECEMSER 2023

6 Easis o{ co^solidation

The consolidated financial stat€ments comprise the financial statements of the Bank as at 31 December 2023.
Consolidated Eank consolidates a subsidiary $/hen it controls it. Control is achieved when the Bank is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns lrom its involvement with the investee and has the ability to atfect those returns through its power overthe
investee. When assessing whether it has power over an investee and thererore controls the variability of its returns, the Bank
consideIs all relevant fads and circumstances, including; the purpose and design of the investe€, the relevant activities and
how decisions about those activities are made and whether the Eank can dired those activities, contractual arangements
such as call rights, put rights and liquidation rights, whether the Bank is exposed, or has rights, to vaiable returns from its
involvement with the investee, and has the powerto atfect the variability of such returns.

When necessary, adiustments are made lo the financial statem€nts of subsidiaries to b,ing their accounting policies in line
wilh the Bank's accounting policies. All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expens€s and cash flows relating to
transactions between members of the Eank are eliminated in full on consolidation. Disclosures for investment in
subsidiaries, structured entities, securitisations and asset management activities are provided i0 note 40.

lnveslments in subsidiary companies are stated at cost less impairmeflt loss where applicable. The dormant subsidialies
listed in note 39 have no assets and liabilities and are at nilvalue.

7 Summary of significant accounting policies

lntercst inclme and exp€nse7.1

lnterest income is recorded using the eftective interest rale (ElR) method for all financial instruments measured at amortised
cost. lnterest expense is also calculated usinE the EIR rnethod for all financial liabilities held at amortised cost. The EIR is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the erpected life of the financial instrument or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount ofthe financial asset.

The EIR (and therefore, the amortised cosl of the asset) is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition, tees and costs that are an integral pad ofthe ElR. Thc Bank recognises interest income using a rate of return that
replesents the best estimate of a constant rate of return over the expecled life of the loan. Hence, it recognises the effect of
potentially different interest rates charged at va ous stages, and other characteristics of the producl life cycle (including
prepayments, penalty interest and charges).

lf erpedations regarding the cash flows on the financial asset are revised for reasons other than credit risk, the adjustment is
booked as a positive or negative adjustmentto the carrying amount orthe asset in the Statemert offinancial position with afl
inclease or reduclion in interest incom€. The adjustment is subsequently amonised through lnterest and similar incomc in
the income statemenl.

7.2

The Bank calculates interest income by applying the EIR to the gross carrying amount of financial assets other tha0 credit-
impaired assets. When a financial asset becomes credit-impaired and is, therefore, regarded as'Stage 3', the Bank
calculates interest income by applyiflg the effective interest rate to the net amortised cost of the tinancial asset. lf the
linancial assets cures and is no longer credit'impai,ed, the Bank reverts to calculating interest income on a gross basis.
Previously unrecognised interest revenue of a cured credit impaired linancial asset are recognised as a reversal ol afl
impairment loss-

The average effeclive interest on linancial assets held at amortised cost and loans and advances lo customers are disclosed
undernotes 23 and 24 respectively.

Fees and commissions income and otier rees and commissions erpense

The Bank ealns fee and commission income trom a diveGe range of rinancial services it provides to its customers. Fee and
commission income is recognised at an amount lhat reflects the consideration to which the Eank expects to be entitled in
exchange for providing the services. The performance obligations, as well as the timing of their satisfaction, are identified,
and determined, at the inception ofthe contract.

When the Bank provides a servic€ to its customers, coflsideration is recovered immediately upon satisfaction ol a service
provided at a point in lime or at the end of the contract period lor a service provided over time
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7.3

7.3.1

CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA TIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO IHE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDEO 31 DECEMBER 2023

7 Sunrmary ofsignificant accountin I ;)olrcies (conDnued)

7.2 Fees and commissions income ard otlrer fees and commissions erpense (contiflued)

Se ices provided where the Eank's performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time are recognised once control of the
services is transferred to the customer. This is typically on completion of the underlyi0g transaction or seryice or, for fees or
components of fees that are linked to a certain performanc€, after lulfilling the conespo0ding perlormanc€ criteria. These
include fees and commissions arising from negotiali0g or participating in the negotiati0n of a transaction fo, a third party, such
as the arrangement/participation or negotiation of the acquisition of shares or other secu ties, or the purchase or sale of
businesses, brokerage and underwriting fees The Eank typically has a sinSle pedormance obligation with respect to these
services, which is to successfully complete the transaclion speciried in th€ contract.

P,ope.ty, Equipmed, lntaogible assets and Right of use Assets (teas€s)

Propeftyand equipmenl

Property aod equipment are stated at cost (or as professionally re'vatued from time to time where applicable), ercluding costs
ot day to-day sedicinS, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses respectively. Cost comprises
erpenditure iritially incurred to bring the asset to its location and condition ready for its intended use and directly attributable
to the acquisition of the asset. The Eank's policy is to regularly revalue propeiy and equipment at least every five years to
ensure that the carrying amount is not materially different from its fai( value.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will florv to the Group and the cost can be reliably measured.
Jhe carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised- All other repairs aod mainteoance are recognised in profit or loss
during the financial year in which they are incurred.

Any increase arisin8 on the revaluation is recognised in olher comprehensive income and accumulated in the revaluation
surplus. Decreases that otfset previous increases of the same assel are recognised in other comprehensive income and
charged against lhe revaluation surplus; all other decreases are charged to profrt or loss. As disclosed in note 28, the group
Ievalued its Land and buildings in oecember 2020 by an independenl Valuer - Claytown Valuels Limited.

Addition and disposal

The addition and disposal or decommissioniflg of property and equipment and intangible assets is done on the date of lhe
acquisition and the date of the disposal resp€dively. The assets are removed from thc statement of financial position and the
register on th€ disposal or when it is withdrawn from use and no fulure economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The
gain or loss which is difference between the proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in the profil and loss.

Right of use

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated on a straiSht'line basis at annual rates estimated to write off the cost of each asset or the revaiued
amounts, to its residual values over ils estimated useful life as [ollows:

Fixtures, finings, equipment & ATMs
Leasehold improvements
Computers
Motor vehicles
Buildings

5 years
8 years or lease period if shoier

Is
15

3
4
4

yea
yea
oye

7 .3.2

arsorland lease period ifshorter

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.

The depreciation charge to profit and loss is based on the carrying amounts of the property and equipment- The excess of this
charge over that based on the historical cost of the property and equipment is released each year from the revaluation surplus
to retained earnings.

lntaogible ass€ts - computersoftwa.e cosb

Costs incurred on computer sottware are initially accounted for at cost and subsequently at cost less any accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Acquired computer sotlvrare licences are capitalised on the basis of the
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software. Software is amortised on a straight'line basis and the
amortisation expenses are recognised in profit or loss over its estimaled useful life, from the date it is available for use. The
estimat€d useful life oI sollware forthe cu(ent afld comparative period is 5 years. The amonisation method, useful life and the
residual value are reviewed at each financial ycar-end and adjusted, i[ appropriate.

Changes in the expected useful life or the erpected panern of consumption of future economic benefits €mbodied in the asset
are accounted for by changing the amortisation method or period, as appropriate, and treated as chaflges in accounting
estimates. The ,mortisation expense on intangible assets rvith finite lives is recognized in profit or loss in the expense category
consistent with the function of lha irita,igible asset.The carrying ariount ano drrortisation are disclosed in noic 29.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no luture economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains
or losses alising from derecognition ol an intangible asset, measured as the diffe.ence between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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7.3.3

7 .3.4

7.3.5

CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA LIMITED ANO SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENOED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Al the commencement date of the lease, the Bank recognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of leas€
paymenls to be made over the lease term. Ihe lease payments include fixed payments (less a(y lease incentives receivable),
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably ceftain to be erercised by
the Bank and payments o, penalties lor terminating the lease, ifthe lease term reflects exercising the option to terminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depeod on an index or a rate are recognised as erpenses in the pedod in which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs. Subsequent remeasurement of lease liability are treated as adjustments to the
dght ol use ass€ts. Any reduction in the car.ying amount are recognised in th€ P&1.

Bankas a lessor

Leases in which the Bank does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards i[cidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. Rental income arisiog is accounted for on a strai8ht'line basis over the lease terms and is
incllded in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. lnitial direcl costs incurred in negotiating
and arrangingan operatinglease are addedtothe carryingamount ofthe leased assetand recognised overthe lease term on
the same basis as re0tal income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Estimating the inc.emeltal bonoy{ing rate

The Bank cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate
('lBR') to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the .ate of interest that the Eank would have to pay to borrow over a similar
teIm, and vrith a similar security, the funds necessaryto obtain an asset ola similarvalue to the right,of-use asset in a similar
economic environment. The IBR therelore refl€cts what the Bank'would have to pay', which requires estimation when no
obseryable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or when they need to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease, The Bank estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as
malket interest rates) when available and is required to make cenain enlity-specific adiustments (such as the subsidiary's
stand.alone credit rating, or to .eflcct the terms and conditions of the lease).

lm0airment of non-fi nancial assets

At the lepoding date, the Baok reviews the carrying amount ol its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.

ll objective evidence on impairment losses exists, the recoverable amount ofthe asset is estimated i0 orderto determine the
extent of the impailment loss. The carrying amount of the asset is redlced through the use oI an allowance accouflt and the
amount ol the loss is recognised in the profit or loss. ln cases where the asset is carried at revalued amount, the impairme0t
loss recognised through, the profit and loss. ln determiningthe recoverable amount,the Sank considersthe higher ofthc fair
value ofthe asset less coststo dispose, and value in use. ln estimatinE value in use, the Eank is cognisant of the estimated
future cash flows discounted to the present value using a p.e{ax discount rate that is reflectiv, of the current market
assessment of time value of money and the risks specific lo the asset itself.

lntangible assets with indefinite useful life are tested for impairmeflt annually, and when there is indication that the asset
may be ampaired.

Where imparrlnenl loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-tenerating unit) is increased to the
rcvised estimate of lts recoverable amount, but so that the incr€ased caryiog amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had oo impakmenl loss been recognised, unless such asset is carried at revalued amount,
in which case the reversal ofthe impairment loss is treated as revaluation increase.

lilrMMARY 0F SIGNlECaNTACCoU nNG POUiiES (conti0ued)

Leas€s (Policy applicable afrer 1 Ja n ua,y 2 0 19)

The Sank assesses at contract inception rvhether a contracl is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract c0nveys the right to
co0trolth€ use of an identified asset for a period oftime in erchange for consideration.

lhc Eank as lessee

The Eanl applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except fo, short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Bank recogaises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right.of-use assets representing the right
to use the underlying assets.

Right-of-us€ assets

The Sank recognises right'of-use assets at the conmencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is
available lot use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of Iease liabilities.Ihe cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of leas€ liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incuned, and lease payments made at or before the commeocement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease tern (1-5 yea.s).

Lease liatilities
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7.4

7.4.1

The financial statements of the Eank are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Eank
operates ('the fuflclional currency'). The financial statements are presented in (enya shillings, which is the Bank's functional
and presentation currency. Ercept as indicated, financial information presented in Kenya shillings has been rounded to the
nearest thousand (KES'000).

7.4.2 Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions that are transactions de0ominated, or that requires settlement, in a roreign cuflency are
translated into the functional cu(ency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting
date, monetary items denominated in loreign currencies are retranslated at the rales prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
it€ms carlied at tair value that are d€nominated in foreign curreocies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost io a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Sonrmary of significant dccountinB polictes (Cc nttnued)

Forcign cunencies

Functional and pesentation curencl

Forei8r exchange gains and losses resutting from the settlement of such traosactions and from the translation at year end
exchange rates ol monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised through prolit or loss. All
foreign erchange differences arising on non-trading activities are taken to other operating income/expense in the income
statelnent, with the exceptioo of the e{tective portion ot the differences on foreign currency borowings that are accounted for
as an effective hedge against a net investment in a foreigo entity. These ditferences are recognised in 0Cl until the disposal ol
the net investment, at which time, they are recognised in the income statem€nt. Tax charges and credits anributable to
erchange differences onthose monetaryitems are also recorded in 0Cl.

For€ign exchange contracts

Foreign exchanEe contracts include open spot contracts aod foreiSn exchange forrvard contracts. These instruments are valued
by either observable roleign erchange rates and obsewable or calculated lorwald points. These torwards and spot contracts
are in foleiSn exchaoge deals carried out in the interbank markets. These are held for risk management purposes and therefore
include hedges lhat are economic hedges, but do not meet the hedge accounting requirements. Most ofthe trading portfolio is
within the Eank's iovestment banking division flreasury Department) and is treated as trading risk for risk management
purposes.

Talation

Curenttax
Curtent income tar assets and liabilities are measured al the amounts €rpected to be recovered from or paid to the taration
authorities. The tax lates and tar laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the
Ieporting date. Crrrent income tar relatiog to ilems recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss.
Cu(ent income tax ilems are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaclion either in profit or loss, other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

7.5.2 Delered income tax

oefe(ed income tar is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. Defefied tax liabilities are
recognised for all tarable temporary differences, except:

(i) where the de{erred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of Soodwill or of aI asset or liability in a transactiofl that is
not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, atfecls neither the accounting profit nor tarable profit or
loss:and

(ii) in respect of taxable temporary difterences associated with investments in subsidiaraes, associates and interests in joint
ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary diflerences can be controlled afld il is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

7.4.3

7.5

7.5.1
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Summary of significant accounting policres iuontinueO

Taration (Continued)

Defe.red income tar (continueo

Defelred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carryfo ard of uflused tax credits and
unused tax losses, to the ertent that it is probabl€ that tarable profit will be available againsl which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tar credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:

(i) whele the deterled tax ass€t relating to the deductible temporary dilference arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction ttat is not a business combination and, at the time ofthe transaction, affects fleither
the accounting protit nor tarable p.ofit or lossi and

(iii) in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in suhsidiaries, associates and interests
in joint ventures, deferred tar assets are recognised only to the extent tiat it is probable that the temporary
diffelences will reverse in the foreseeable ruture and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reponing date and reduced to the exteflt that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable proltt will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Un.ecognised defe.red tax assels are reassessed at each repoiing date and are recognised lo the extent that it has
become probable that tuture taxable profrtwillallow the deferred tax asset to be recoveled.

Defered tar assets and liabilities are measured at the tar rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is
Iealised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tar laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted al the
end of reporting period. Defered income tax relatingto items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside prolil
or loss. Deferred tax items are ,ecognised io correlation to the undedying transaction either in plofit or loss, othet
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

D€ferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable right erists to set off current tax assets
against cutrent tax liabilities and the deferred taxes ,elate to the same taxable entity and lhe same taxation authority. The
Finance Act 2015 varied the period to carry torwa.d the tax losses from 5 years to 10 years. The group has not recognized
deferred tar asset/Liability due to the loss making position.

Value added tax
Revenues, erpenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tar except where the value add€d tax
incurred on a purchase of assets or seryices is not recoverable from the Kenya Revenue Authority (XRA), in which case the
value added tax is ,ecogrised as part of the cost ol acquisition of the assel or as part ot the erpense item as applicable:
and receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of value added tax included.

The net amount of value added tax recove.able from, or payable to tar autho ties is ircluded as pad of receivables or
payables in the statement of financial position.

financial insliuments

Date of initjal rccognition

Financial assets and liabilities, with the erception of loans and advances to customers and balances due to customers, are
initialty lecognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Eank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. This includes regulal way trades: purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place. toaos and advances to customers are
aecognised when funds are disbursed to the customeIs'accounts. The Eank recognises balances due to customels when
funds are transferred to the 8aflk.

7 .6.2 lnitial measuEment olfinancial insttuments

The classilication of financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business model
for managing the instruments, as described ia notes 7.6.4 to 7.6.9.

The classification ol financial instruments at initial recognition depends on their contractual terms and the business modet
foI managing the instruments. [inancial inslruments are initially measured at their fair value excepl in the case of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at FVPL, transaction costs are added to, or subtracted from, this amount.

7.6

7.6.1
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Summary ol si8nifi cant accouIting policies (ContinueO

tinancial instruments (continued)

Day 1 prcfit orloss

When the transaclion pice of the instrument differs from the fair value at origination and the fair value is based on a
valuation technique using only inputs observable in market transactions, the Bank recognises the ditlerence between the
transaction price and fair value in net trading income. ln those cases where fair value is based on models for which some of
the inputs are not observable, the difference between the transaclion price and the fair value is deterred and is only
recognised in profit or loss when the inputs become observable, or when the instrument is derecognised.

Classifi cation and measuIement

The Bank classifies all o( its linancial assets based on the business model for managing the assets and the asset's
contractual terms, measured at either:
. Amortised cost, as explaioed in note 7.6.5
. FVoC|, as explained in note 7.6.8

Financial liabilities, olher than loan commitments and financial guarantees, are measured at amonised cost or at FVPL

when they are held fortrading.

7.6.5 Due frcm banks, loans and advances to customeE, financial lnv€sEnents at amo is€d cost

The Bank measures ,/e lrom bank, loaos aod advances to a.alomers aod othet l'inaocial inyestnerls at amodised cost
only iI boti ofthe following conditions are met:

The liflancial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows.

The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest (SPPI) on lhe principal amount outstandi(9.

7.6.3

7.6.4

7.6.6

7.6.7

An analysis of the gross carrying amount, maximum exposure to credit risk based on the bank's i0ternal credit grading
system and year end classification and the corresponding ECLs for the loans and advances to customers and balances due
from other banking institutiofls is shown in note 10.6-

Susiness model assessment

Ihe Bank determines its business model at the levellhat best rellects how it nanages groups ol financial assets to achieve
its business objective:
. The risks that affect the performance olth€ busioess model (and th€ financial assets held within that business model)

and, in particular, the way thos€ dsks are managed.
. HoYr managers ofthe business are compensated (for example, whetherthe compensation is based on the fair valuc of

the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected).

The expecled frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Bank's assessment. The business
model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenaios withoul taking 'worst case' or 'stress cas€'scenados into
account. lf cash flows after initial lecognition are realised in a way thal is different fiom the Bank's original expectations,
the Bank does not cha(ge the classificalion ol lhe remaining financial assets held in that business model, but incorporates
such information when assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

Solelypaymenb of pdncipaland intercst test

As a second step of its classification process the Bank assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to identify
whetherthey meet the SPPI test. 'Principal' for the purpose olthis test is delined asthe fair value ofthe financial asset at
initial recognition and may change over the lile of the financial asset (for example, il there are repayments of principal or
amortisation of the premium/discount). The most significant elements of interest within a lending arangement are
typically the consideration for the time value of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Bank applies
iudgement and considers relevant factors such as the currency in which the financial asset is denominateC, and the period
fcr which the ilterest raio is iet.
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7

7.6

7.6.8

7.6.9

Summary of signifi cant accounting policles {Continued)

financial instruments (cor inueo

Equity insuumenG at FVOCI

The bank holds Kakuzi PLC quoted equity shares and has elecled to classify this as equity instrumems at FV0C|. Gains and losses
onthese equity instruments are recognised through other comprehensive income. Oividends are recagnised in profit or loss as other
operating income when the dght of the paymenl has been eslablished. Equity ins:truments at FVoCI are not subjecl to an
impaiffient assessm€nt.

The Bank presents non-reclclable items such as the movemefit in fair value of equity inslruments at fair value through othel
comprehensive income (FVoC|)within the 'Fair value resefte' Such movements could also be presented within 'Retained earnings',
butwe believe showingthemon a separale finaocial statement line provides greatert.ansparencl.

However, when such movemefts in fair valu€ become ",ealised" upon derecognition ol the equity imtrumenls, the coresponding
values are reclassified to retained eamings.

Classlfi cation and me6ullment

Debt and equity instlumeds are dasified as either fioancial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
co ntractual a rangement.

i) Equityinstrunenb
An equity instrument is any contraci that evidencres a residual inte,est in the assets of an entity afrer deduding all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued bythe Bank are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direc,t issue costs.

ii) Othet ftnancial liabililes
O(her fi nancial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net oftransaction costs.

Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortis€d cost using the erfeclive interest method, with ideresl erp€nse
Iecognised on an etfeclit€ yield basis. Tle effective interest melhod is a method of calculating the amortised ctsl of a financial
liability and of allocating irteresl erpense over the relevar{ period. The effective irterest rate is the rate that exactly discourts
estimated fdure cash payments through the expected lif€ of the financial liability, or (where appropriate)a sho(er period, to the net
cirrying amount on initial recognition.

tinancialass€b and fnancial liabiliths at falr value thmugh p.ofit or loss

tinancial assets and financial liabilities in this category are those that are not held for trading and have been eilher designated by
management upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at lair value under IFRS 9. Managern€rt only
designates an inSrumer at FVPI upon initial recognition when one of the lollowi[8 criteria are met. Such designation is
dete(mined on an instrumeft -by-irtstrument basis:

. fte designation eliminates, olsignificantly reduces, the inconsislent treatment that would otherv/ise arise from measuringthe
assets or liabilities or recognisinggaim or losses on them on a different basis or

. The liabilities ale pan of a gtoup of finaocial liabilities, which are managed and their performance evaluated on a fai, value
basis, in accordance with a documemed risk managemetll or investment strategl/or

. The lia bilities ctmai ning one or more embedded derivatives, u nless they do not signillcaitly modify the cash flows that would
otherwise be required by the cofltracl, or it is clear with little or no analFis wfien a similar inslrument is first considered that
separation of the embedded derirative(s) is prohibited

lmpa irment of financia I assets

Owrview ofthe expecled c-rEdit loss - ECL principle

The adoption of IFRS t has lundamentally changed the Baok's loan loss impairment method by replacing IAS 39's incurred loss
approach with a loMardlooking ECL approact!. From 1 .ranuary 2018, the Bank has been recording the allowance for erpected
credit losses for all loans and other debtfinancial assets not held at FVPL, togetherwith loan commitments and financialguarantee
and letters of cledit contlacts, in this seclion all referred lo as'financial instrumems'. Equity instruments are not subiect to
impairment under IFRS 9.

The ECI- allorvance is based on the credit losses expected to arise over the life ol the asset (the lifetime expected credat loss or
LTECI), unless there has been no significant increase in credit risk since o.igination, in wtich case, the allowance is based on the
12 months' erpecled c,cdit loss il2mECL). The Bank's polidcs for determrning if there has been a signilicdnt increase in credit risk
are set out in note 10.6.

7.7

7.7.1
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7 Summary of significant accounting policres (Continueo

7.7 lmpairment of Financial assets (continued)

7.7.2 E$ected Cr€dit Losses (ECLs)

The Bank has established a policy to perlorm an assessment, at the end of each reponing period, of whether a financial
instlumeflt's credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition, by consideaiflg th€ change in the risk of default
occurdng overthe remaining life of the financial instrument.

Based on the above process, the Bank Sroups its rinancial assets into Stage 1, Stage 2, Stage 3 as described below:

Stage l: These are linancial instrumenls thal are perfoming in accordance with contractual terms and are expected to
continue to do so since there are no signs or deterioration in credit risk or circumstaoces of the borrower from initial
recognition. The bank recognises impairment allowance based on 12 months ECL.

Stage 2: These are financial instruments that have exhibited potential weaknesses which may if not cofiected weaken the
asset. The financial instrumeflts have shown signilicant increase in credit risk and hence the bank recognises impairment
allowance on the lifetime ECL.

Stage 3: Thes€ financial instruments that are credit impaired. The bank considers financial instruments credit impaired
when the borrower is 90 days past due on contractual payments. other qualitative considerations include existence of
events and circumstances that indicates thatthe borrower is ufllikelyto pay.

Calculation of ECI-

The key components and the mechanics behind the computation ol the ECL are oullined below

Probability oloefault (PD): The probability of default is an estimate ofthe likelihood of defautt over a given time horizon. A
default may only happen at a cedain time over the assessed period, ifthe lacility has not been p.eviously derecognised and
is still in the portfolio. The bank models its PDs at sector level using survival analysis over a defined period.

&posure at Default (EAD): Exposure at Defaull is an estimate of the erposure at a futlre default date, taking into account
expected changes in the exposure after the reportin8 date, including repayments of principal and interest, whether
scheduled by contra€1 or otherwise, expected drawdowns on committed facilities, and accrued interest from missed
payments.

Loss Given Delault (LGD): The Loss Given Default is an estimate of the loss arising in the case where a defaull occurs at a
given time. lt is based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due and those that the lenderwould expect to
receive, includingfrom the realisation ofany collateral. lt is usually erpressed as a percentage ofthe EAD.

Ihe PD a0d [eD investment in governmeot secuities ald bonds are considered negligible, approximating 0%. These are
risk free instruments and thele is no historical loss siluation.

Undrawn Loan commilments guaranlees and letteIs of credit
When estimating LTECLS for undrawn loan commitments, the Sank estimates the expected po(ion of the loan commitment
that will be dlawn down ove, its expected lile. Details of the gross carrying exposure and the corresponding ECL are
disclosed in note 10.6

7.7.3 Fotwad looking inrormation

The bank has included a foflard looking macro-economic overlay in its ECL model. The bank relies ofl the following economic
indicators to develop the folward looking macroeconomic overlay. The bank adopts the followiflg data sets for analysis of
macroeconomic over lay;

Histori cal industry and Bank's non-performing loans
Historical macroeconomic statistics. The adopted macroeconomic factors includei
. Gross Domestic Producl - GDP
. lnflation - consumer price index
. Etports
. Lending rates
. Exchange ratcs - eflective

Forecast macaoeconomic data
Tlis is then reglessed against Banks Non perlorming loans in order to determine a relationship with the Macro economic
vaiables.
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7 Summaryorsignificantaccountingpolictes(contjnued)

1.7 lmpairment ol Financial asseb (clntinueo

7.7.3 FoMard looking iolormation (codinued)

To eliminate biasness and ensure there is prcbability rveighing, the bank adopts base, worst and best-case ,orecasts adjustment
fadols to obtain a probability weighted PD. The weights are determined based on coefficient of determination (R2). R2 provides
the Basewtile an even split ot 1-R2 provides theweights for best and worst-case scenarios-

Collateralvaluation

To mitiSate its credit risks on fnancial assets, the Sank seeks to us€ collateral, where possible. The collateral comes in various
forms, such as cash, secudties, lettels of credit/ guarante€s, real eslate, receivables, ioventories, other non-financial assets and
credit eohanc€m€nts such 6 nening a8reenr€rts. The tair value of collateral afiects the calculation of ECLS. The fair value of
collateralvalues is disdosed in note 10.6.

7 .7 .4 Der€cognition of financial 6€ts

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a pad ot a financial asset or part of a group o, simil financial assets) is de.ecognised
whefl tie dgtts to receive cash flows ftom the financial asset have erpired. The Baok also derecognises the financial asset if it
has bothtranslerred the financial asset and the transle. qualifi€s tor derecognition.

tinancial assets whose original contractual terms have been modified, includi(g those loans subjed to lorbearance strate8ies,
are modified instruments. Modificltions mayindude changestothe tenor, cash florts and or iderest rates among other factors.

Where derecognition ot financial assets is appropriale, the newly recognised rg6idual loans are assessed to determine whether
the assetsshould be classifed as purchas€d or originated credit impaired assets (POCI).

Where deleclgnition is not appropdate, the gross carrying amoofit ot the applicable instrumefits is recalculated as the present
ralue ofthe renegotiated or modified contractual cash floyJs discounted at the odginal effeciir,e interest rate (or credit-adjusted
effeclive interest tate fol PoCl linancial assets). The difference bet{een the recalculated values and the pre-modified gross
calrying values of the indrumeds are recorded as a modification gain or loss in the income statemefit to the extert that an
impaiment loss has not alreadybeen recorded.

Gains and losses arisinB from moditications for credit ,easons are recorded as pan of credit impairment. Modification gains and
losses arising for non-credit reasons are recognised either as pad ofcredit impairmenl or within income depending on whether
there has be€n a change in the c.edit risk on the financial asset subs€quent to th€ modification. Modificatioo 6ains aod losses
arising ofl financial liabilitiesare recognised within income.

DeEcognition ot financial ass€ts

Financial assets are derecognised when lhe dghts to receive cash llows ftorn the financial assets have exoired orwhere the Group
has transfelted substantially through sale all dsks and rewards ol owne.ship. lfsubslantially allthe dslis and rewards have been
neither retained nol tmnsferred and the Group has retained control, the assets continue to be recognised to the e(ent of the
Group's cortinuing involvemem.

Where financial assets have been modified, the modifiedterrns are assessed 0n a qualitative and quantitative basisto determine
whethel a fundamental change in the nature of the inslrument has occu(ed, such as whether the derecognition of the pre
eisting instrument and the recognition of a netv instrumed is appropriate.

0n derecognition of a financial asset, the differenc€ between the carrling amount olthe asset (or the carrying amount allocated
to the poiion of the asset derecognised) and the sum ofthe corEideration received (including any new asset obtained less any
new liability assu rn€d) ard anycumulative gain orloss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in
the income slatementto the extent thal an impairmem loss has not already been recorded.

Write off

Financial ass€ts aIe written oft either paftally or in their entirety only yrhefl the Eank has stopped pursuing the recovery i.e. after
exhausling all lecovery etforts. lf th€ amourt to be wrinen off is greater than the accumulaled loss allolr,ance, the difference is
charged tothe profit and loss account. Anysubsequent recovedes are recognised as income through the profit and loss account.
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7 Summary ofsignificant accounting policies (contioued)

7.7 lmpai.ment of Financial assets (continued)

7.7.6 Revolving c1edit facililies

The Bank's product offering includes a vad€ty of corporae and retailoverdrafr and revolving loan facilities, in which the Eank has
the dgm to cancel and/or reduce the facilities with one day's notic€. The Bank does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the
co.tractual notice period, but, inst€ad calculates ECL over a period that reflects the Sank's expeclations of the customer
behaviour, its likelihood of default and the Bank's firtue risk mitiSation procedures, which could include reducing or cancelliog
the facilities. Eased on past expeience and the Bank's expeclations, the pedod over wiich the Bank calculates ECLS ,or these
producls, is five leals for coryorate and seven years for retail products. The iderest rate used to discount the ECI- for overdrafts is
ba6ed on the awrage effective ifiterest rate that is epected to be charged over the expected period of e$osure to lhe facil es.

This estimation considersthat marryfacilities are repaid in fulleach month and arecoosequently notcharged ifltered.

7.8 financlal liabilities and equlty ins[uments issued by the Bank

a) Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities, olher than loan commitments and financial guaranlees, are measured al amortised cost or at
FVPL when they are held fortrading.

b) Derecognition ol flnanclal liabilitjes

A rinancial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or canc€lled or expires.
Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender oo substantially difre.ent terms, or
the terms of an eristing liability are substantially modified, such an erchan8e or modification is treated as a

derecognition ofthe original liability and the recognition of a nerv liability. The diflerence betwe€n the carrying value
ofthe original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit orloss.

c) Of6etting

financial assets and liabilities are offset and stated at net amount in the slatement of financial positio0 wheo th€re
is a legally enforceable right to set off, and there is an intention to settle on a n€t basis or r€alise th€ asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

7.9 Statutory rcsefle

IFRS 9 requires the Bank to record an allowance for ECLS for all loans and othe, debt financial assets not held at FVTPL

together with loan commitments and financial guarantee contracls. The allowance is based on the ECLs associated with
the probability of detauh in the next twelve months unless there has been a signiltcan! increase in credit risk since
origination or the financial asset is credit-impaired. However, Central Bank of Kenya prudential guidelines require the Bank
to set aside amounts for impairment losses on loans and advances in addition to those losses that have been recognised
under IFRS 9. Any such amounts set aside represent appropriations of retained earnings and not expenses in determining
protit or loss.Ihese amounts are dealt with in the statutory reserve.

7.l0 Cash and cas[ equivalenb

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, unrestricled batances held with the Central Eank of Kenya and highly
liquid financial assets with otiginal maturities of less than three months, which are subject to insignificant risk of changes
in their fair value, and are used by the Bank in lhe management of its shortlerm commitments. Cash and cash equivalents
are carried at amortised cost in the statement o[ financial position.
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7 summary ofsrgnificant dccounting polises (conlioued)

7.11 Cortirgentliabiliues

Letters of credit, acceptances, glarantees and perormance bonds are generally written by the Bank to support
pedormance bya customer to third panies. The Bankwill only be required to meet these obligations in the event ofthe
customer's defautt. These obligations are accounted for as otf-balance sheet transactions and disclosed as contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets or liabilities affected in ruture periods. ln calculating ECL the three-stage impairment
apploach is extended to apply to covel the off balance sheet items. The bank considers the nominal contractual values of
financial guarantees and letters of credit net of collateral in determining the loss given default LGDs. The nominal values
for the undrawn loan commitments and overdrafts is determined using a credit cooversion factor calculated using the
momhry average utilization overthe history ofthe available data. The nominalvalues ofthese instruments togethe. with the
corresponding ECL are disclosed in note 10.6.3.4.

I .12 Employee beneltt casts

The Bank operates a defined contribution retirernent benefit scheme for all its employees on permaneot and pensionable
terms. The scheme is administered by an independent investment management company and is funded by costributions
from boti the Bank and employees. Employees on short term contracts are enlitled are entitled to gratuity which is paid at
the end the contract.

The Eank also contributes to the statutory National Social Security Fund. This is a delined contribution scheme registered
under the National Social Secudty Fund Act. The obligations under the scheme are limited to speciric contibutions
legislated from time to time.

The Bank's contributions in respect of retirement benefirt costs are charged to the profrt and loss in the year to which they
relate.

Employee entitlement to leave not taken is charged to prolit or loss as it accrues.

7.13 Determinationoffairvalue

ln older to show how fair valles have been derived, financial instruments are classified based on a hierarchy of valuation
techniques, as summarized below:

level I financial iostruments: Those where the inputs used in the valuation are unadjusted quoted prices from
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Sank has access to at the
measurenent date. The 8aflk considers markets as active only if there are
sufficient trading activities with regards to the volume and liquidity ofthe identical
assets or liabilities and when there are biDding and €rercisable price quotes
available on the balance sheet date.

level2 financial instruments: IIos€ v/here the inputs that a.e used for valuation and are significant, are derived
lrom directly or indirectly observable market data available over the entire period of
the instrument's life. Such inputs include quoted pdces for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, quoted prices lor identical instruments in inactive
markets and observable inputs other than quoted prices such as interest rates and
yield curves, implied volatilities, aod credit spreads. ln addition, adjustments may
be required for the condition or location ofthe asset or the extent to which it relates
to items that are c0mparable to the valued instrument. Hotvever, if such
adjustments are based on unobseryable inputs which are significant to the entire
measurement, the Eank nill classify the instruments as Level 3.

Level3 financial instluments: Those that include one or more unobseryable input that is significant to the
measurement as whole.
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7 Summary olsignificanl accounung policies (Contjnueo

7.13 Determinauon of fair value (Continueo

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in ao orderly transaction in the
principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under cu.rent market cooditions (i.e., an erit price),
re8ardless ofwheth€r that p.ice is directly observable ol estimated using a valuation technique.

ln order to shov{ how lair values have been dedved, financial instruments are classified based on a hierarchy of valuation

techniques, as explained above.

The Eank's rair value methodology and the governance over its models includes a number of controls and other procedures
to ensure appropriale safeguards are in place to ensure its quality and adequacy. All new product initiatives (including their
valuation methodologies) are subject to approvals by various functions of the Bank including the risk and flnance functions.
The responsibility ot ongoing measurement resides with the business and product lifle divisions.

once submitted, fair value estimates are also reviewed and challenged by the Risk and Finaflce tunctions. Fair value
estimates are validated by;

. Benchmarking prices against obseoable narket prices or other independent sources

. Re-performingmodelcalculations

. Evaluating and validating input parameters

Model calibrations are challenged on a quarterly basis or when significant events in the relevant markels occur.

When.elyillg on third-party sources (e.9., broker quotes, or other micro or macro-economic inputs), the Risk and Finance

fualctions are also responsible for;

. Veriring and challenging the approved list of providers

. lJnderstanding the valuation methodologies and sources of inputs and vedfyin8 their suitability for IFRS reporting
requirements

FoI assets and liabilities lhat are recognized in lhe financial statements on a r€curring basis, th€ group determines whether
tlansreIs have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end ol each reporting pe od.

Extelnal valuers are involved for valuation o, signiricant assets such as propedies. The Eank evaluates the levelling at each
reporting period on an instrument'by-instrument basis and reclassifies instruments when necessary, based on the facts at
the end ofthe reporting period.

Cdtical ludgements a nd key sou rces of estimation u ncedainty

The prepalation of the Bank's consolidaled financial statements requires managemert to make judgements, estimates aod
assumptions that affect the reported amotnt of revenues, erpenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying
disclosures, as well as the disclosure ot contingent liabilities. Uncenainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that require a matedal adjustment to the carrying amount ol assets or liabilities affected in future
peliods. ln the process of applying the Bank's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements and
assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation unce(ainty at the reporting date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year. Ihe estimates and associated assumptions are based on histodcal experience and other factors that are considered
to be televant including expeciations of future events that are b€lieved to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Items rvith the most sigflificant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements with substantial
management judgement and/or estimates are collated below with respect to judgcments/€stimates involved.

8
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8. I lnrEim€nt loss€s on f nancial Lrslflmonts

The measurement ot lmpaiiment losses both under IFRS 9 acaoss all categorl€s 0f ffnancial assels ln scope requirrs
ludgom€fi, in partlcular, th€ estimaUon of tho amoud and timing of luture cash llovs and collateral values wlr6r
detormining impalrmont lossos and th€ assessm€nt ol a sllnmcalrt increas€ in crodit rlsh llresc ostimatos are ddven by a
numberoffacto6, changes ln which can r€6ult in diflerent levela olallowanc"s.

lle management discuss8s with th€ Finance and Crcdlt Comnlne€ the ECL modol and mattets rsgaiding signlficad
increase in cr€dit rlsk (SICR) and the lmpact on ,i0anclal statemonts.
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8.1 lmpaimeot losses on financial instrumeflts (clntinued)

The Eank's ECI- calculations

8.2

8.2

Calculalions are outputs of complex models with a number of underlying assumptions regarding the choice of variable
inputs and theil interdependencies. Elements of tie ECL models that are coosidered accounting judgements and
estimates include:

. The Bank's interoalcredit grading model, tvhich assigns PDs to the individualgrades

. The Bank's criteria for assessing illhere has been a significant increase in credit risk and so allowances for financial
assets should be measured on a LTECL basis and the qualitative assessmert

. The se gme ntation of fi nancial assets when thek EC t is assessed o n a collective basis

. Development of ECL models, includingthe various fo,mulas and the choice of inputs

. Determination of associations betweeo macroeconomic scenarios and, economic inputs, such as uoemployment
levels and collateral values, and the effect on PDs. EADS and LGDs

. Selection of foMard-looking macroeconomic scenarios and their probability weightiogs, to derive the ecolomic
inputs into the ECL models.lt has been the Eank's policy to regularly .eview its models in the contexl of actual loss
experience and adjust when necessary.

Going concem assessment

Having made an assessment of the Group and the Bank's ability to continue as a going concern, lhe directors are not
awale of any material unceftainties related to events or conditions tfiat may cast doubt on the Group and the gaok's
abilityto continue as a going concern except as disclosed ill note 9 to the financialstatements.

Prcperty, equignent and intangble asseG

Clitical estimates ale also involved in the determination of fair values of propedy and equipment including the
depreciation ,ates and ,esidual values lot propefty, equipment and lntangible assets.
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The Eank is subjected to numelous laxes and levies by various govemment and quasi- government regulatory bodies. As a
IUle olthumb, the Sank recog[ises liabilities forthe anticipated tar /levies payable with utmosl care and diligence. However,
significant judgement is usually Iequi,ed in the ioterpretation and applicability of those taxes /levies. Should it come to the
attention of management, in one way or the other, that the initially reco.ded liability was e(oneous, such differences will
impact on the income and liabilities in the pedod in which such ditterences are determined.

8.5 Estimating tie Inctemental bono{ing

8.6

The Bank cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, tierelore, il uses its incremental borrowing .ate ('l8R')
to measule lease liabilities. The l8R is the rate o, int€rest that the Bank would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset oI a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR thelelore leflects what the Bank'would have to pay', which requires estimation when no obseryable rates
are available or when they need to be adiusted to reflect the terms and conditio0s ofthe lease.

Effecdve lnteiest Rate (ElR) metiod

8.5

8.7

0. Cdticaljudgement rnd key sources o, es$mation unrertairtrr- (continued)

8.4 ContingentLiabilities

The Bank operates in a regulatory and legal environment that, by nature, has a heigtrtened element of Iitigation risk inherent
to its operations. As a result, it is involved in various litigation proceedings in Kenya arising in the ordinary course of the
Bank's business.

When the Sank can reliably measure the outflow of economic benefits in relation to a specilic case and considers such
outflons to be plobable, the Eank records a provision against the case. Where the probability of outflow is considered to be
Iemote, or probable, but a leliable estimate cannot be made, a contingent liability is disclosed. However, when the Bank is of
the opinion that disclosing these estimates on a case-by-case basis would prejudice thei, outcome, theo the Sank does not
include detailed, case-specific disclosutes in its ,inancial statements. Given th€ subiectivity afld uncertainty of determining
the probability and amount of losses, the Eank takes into account a oumber of factors iocluding legaladvice, the slage ofthe
matter and historical evidence from similar incidents. Significant iudgement is required to conclude on tiese estimates. The
details ofthe cases and resultant contingenl liability are disclosed in note 41.

TaEtion

The Bank's EIR method, recognises inlerest income using a rate of rcturn that represents the best estimate of a constant rate of
return over the expected behavioral life of loans and deposits and recognises the effect of potentially different interest rates
charged at various stages and other characteristics of the product life cycle (including prepayments and penalty interest and
charges). This estimalion, by nature, requires an element of judgement .egarding the erpected behavior and life-cycle of the
instruments, as well expected changes to the Eank's base rate and other ree income/erpense that are integral parts ol the
instrument.

overdrafls and otier revohing taciliti6

The Eank's ploduct otfering includes a variety of corporate afld retail overdraft facilities, in which the Sank has the right to
cancel andlo. Ieduce the facilities with sufficient notice. The Bank does not limit its exposure to credit losses to the
c0ntractual notice period, but, instead calculates ECL over an estimated time frame that reflects its expectations of customer
behaviour, the likelihood of default and its future risk mitigation procedures, which could ioclude ,educing or cancelling the
facilities.

The onSoing assessment of whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for revolving faciliti€s is similar to other
lending producls. This is based on shifts in the customer's internal credit 8rade, but gr€ater cmphasis is also given to
qualitative factors such as changes in usage.

The calculation of ECL, including the estimation of the expected p€riod of erposure and discount ,ate is made, on an individuat
basis.

40



CONSOLIOATED EANI( OF KENYA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES IO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THEYEAR EI'IDID 31 DECEMBER 2N'?

9 Goangcorcem

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group incurred a net loss of KtS 415 million (2022: KES 454 million) and the
Bank incurred a net loss of KES 421 n.,illior.12022: KES 459). The accumulated losses as at 31 oecember 2023 were lcs
4 229 billion for the Group l.2022 KEs 3.872 bifiion) and KEs 4.244 bifiion for the Bank (2022: 3.880 biflion).

The bank regulatory capital ratios as at 31 December 2O23 were also belos/ the regulatory minimum as illustraled below:

Prudential Capital Ratio

Core Capital to Deposits

Core capital to Risk weighted assets

Total Capital to Risk weigXlted assets

2023
(4.90%)

(4.46%)

l{4.46%)

2022 Minimum Capitat Ratio

l.t.42%) 8.00%
(1.27'Al 10.s0%
(1.27o4l. 14.s0%

These conditions indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group and the Bank,s ability
to cofltinue as a going concern.

Total operating income grew by 5% lrom KES 1.349 billion frcm KES 1.423 billion in 2022 and 2023 respectively due to
growth in interest income from Govemmeflt securities and non'runded income with the rising cost of funding impacting
negatively the Bank's margins .Total 0perating expenses reduced by 6% due to cost management measures. Due to the tough
macloeconomic eavitonmenl and the Eank's principles of prudence in risk management, provisions for bad debts increased by
41%.

The bank's regulatory capital ratios as at 31 December 2023 were however below the regulatory minimum with total capital /
risk weighted assets at (4.46%) (2022. (1.27%l agaiost a minimum oI 14.5% and core capitat / risk weighted assets at
(4.46%) 12022.ll.27%) aBainst a minimum of lO.5%.

The Board and managemer|t have put in place an aggressive five-year strategic plao tor the peiod 2023to 2027.fhe strategy
is ancho.ed on five strategic pillals; business 8roMh, brand positioning, people, asset quality and leveraging on technology i;
grow and turn around the 8ank.

Raising additiooal capital to finance growth and maintain healthy regulatory ratios is of paramount importance. The Board has
been in constant engaSement with the l{ational Treasury the majority shareholder and other shareholders to inject additional
capital in the bank to ensure compliance with the regulatory capital ratios. The National Treasury, the majo.ity shareholder with
93.4%, is committed to continue to support the bank to meet regulatory capital ratios and implement the 2023-2027 st.ategic
plan.

Based on the foregoing Management and the goard has assessed the Group and the Bank's ability to continue as a going
conce.n and is satistied that the Group and the Bank have the requisite resources to continue in business for the Io.eseeable
futule. The,elore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the going concern basis. This basis of preparation of
these financial slatements presumes that the Group and tfie Eank will realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the
ordinary course ot business.
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i0. Rist manageme,., obiectives and policies

10.1 Risk

10_2

10.3

The Bank defines risk as the possibility that the outcome of an action or event could bring about adverse impacts on the
iostitution's capital or earnings. Such outcom€s could either result ifl direct loss of earnings/capital or may result in imposition
of constrailts on bank's ability to meet its business objectives. Whilst risk is inherent in the Bank's activities, it is managed
through an integrated .isk management tramework, including ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, and
subject to risk limils and other controls. This process of risk managemeflt is critical to the Bank's cofltinuing profitability and
each individual rvithin lhe Eank is accountable for the risl exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Eank is exposed
to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, operational risk, strategic risk, reputational and regulatory & compliance risks.

Risk management struct!re

The Board of DirectoE has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Bank's risk managemelt
Iramework. The board has established a sk management committee compdsing otthree Ion-&ecutives Directors to assist in
the discharge ofthis responsibility. The board has also established the Bank Asset and Liability (Atco), Credit and Operational
Risk committees, which are responsible for dev€loping and monito ng risk management policies in their specified areas.
These committees compdse executive members and repod regularly to the board of Directors on their activities.

The Board provides writtefl principles for overall risk management as well as written policies cove ng specific risk areas. ]he
Bank's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the .isks faced by the 8ank, to set appropriate ,isk
limits and conkols, and to monitor risks and adhe.enc€ to limits. RisI management policies and systems are reviewed
regulady to rellect changes in market conditions, products and besl market practices. The Bank, through its lraining and
manag€ment standads and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control environmenl, in which all
employees understand their roles and obligations.

The Soard Audit Comminee is ,esponsible fo. monitoring compliance with the Eank's risk maoagement polici€s and
procedures, and ,or ,eviewing the adequacy of the risk managemeot kamework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. This
committee is assisted in these functions by the lnlernal Audit Fuoclion. The lnternal Audit Funclion undertakes reviews of risl
management controls and procedures, the resultsolrvhich are repoted to the comminee.

Risk mitigation and risk culture

As pad of its overall risk management, the gank uses derivatives and other instruments to manage erposures resulting from
changes in interest rates, foreign cureflcies, equity risks, credit risks, and exposures arising lrom forecast t.ansactions. ln
accordance with lhe Bank's policy, its .isk profile is assessed betore entering into hedging transactions which are authorised
by the Assets Liability Committee IALCO) of the bank. The eflectiveness of all the hedge relationships is monitored by the
Treasury funclion on a daily basis and ALCo on a monthly basis. lt is the Bank's policy that in situations of inetfectiveoess, it
will enter inlo a nevr hedge relationship to mitiSate risk on a cootinuous basis. The Bank actively uses collateral to reduce its
credit risks.

10.4 Risk measurcment and rcpo.ting systems

The Sank's risks are measured using a method that reflects both the erpected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances and
unerpected losses, whicl are afl estimate of the ultimate actual loss based on statistical models. The models make use of
probabilities derived from historical experience, adjusted to reflect the econonic environment. Tte Baok also ruos worst-case
scenarios that would arise in the event that extreme events which are unlikelyto occur do, in fact, occr.rr.

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Bank. These limits reflect the
business strate$/ and market environment of the Eank as well as the level of risk that the Eank is willing to accept, r{ilh
additional emphasis on selected industries. ln addition, th€ Bank's policy is to measure and monitor the overall risk-bearing
capacity in relation to the aggregate risl exposure across all risk types and aclivities.

lnformation compiled from all of the busin€sses is processed ifl order to analyse, control and identify risks on a timely basis.
This information is presented and explain€d to the Board of 0irectors, the Board Risk Committee, and the Erecutive Committee
(E)(C0M). The repon includes aggregate credit exposur€, credit metric torecasts, hold limit exceptionsliquidity ratios and risk
profile changes. 0n a monthly basis, detailed reporting of industry, customer and geographic risks takes place. Senior
manag€ment assesses the appropriateness of the allowance for credit losses on a monthly basis. The Eoard Risk Comminee
receives a comprehensive risk report once a quader r{hich is designed to provide all the necessary information to assess and
conclude on the risks of the Bank
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I0. Risl Ma[agemc.,: obiectives and policles (cutinudo ]

10-5 Ercessive iisk concentration

10.6

Concentratiofls arise when a number of counterparties are engaged ifl similar business activities, or activities in the same
geographical region, or have similar economic features that would cause their abilityto meet contractual obligations to be
similarly afiecled by changes in economic, political or other conditions. Concentrations indicate lhe relative sensitivity of
the Bank's perrormance to developments affecting a particular industry or geographical location.

ln order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Bank's policies and procedures include specific guidelines to locus
on maintaining a diversified ponfolio. ldentified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed accordingly.
Seleclive hedging is used within the Bankto manage risk concentralions at both the relationship and industry lev€ls.

The most criticaltyp€ of risks to which the Bank is erposed to are financial risks ryhich include:

a) Credit risk
b) Liquidity risk
c) Market risks

Credit risk

Credit dsl is the .isk of linancial loss to the Eank il a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations. Credit risk adses principally lrom the Sank's loans and advances to cuslomers a0d other Banks
and investment securities but can also adse from c.edit enhaflcement provided such as financial guarantees, letters of
cr€dit and acceptances. Ihe Bank is also erposed to other credit risks arising from its trading activities including
derivatives.

10.6.1

The gank enters into dedvative transadions in forwards and spot contingents in the foreign exchange deals ca.ried out the
interbank marlets. Ihe derivatives are recorded at fair value. oerivatives held for risk maoagement purposes include
hedEes that are economic hedges, but do not meet the hedge accounting requiremeflts. Most of the trading portfolio rs

within the Bank's investmenl banking division (treasury)and is treated as trading riskfor risk management purposes.

Credit risk is the single largest risk forthe Bank's business and manag€ment carefully manages its exposure to credit risk.
For dsk management repofting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk erposure.

For risk management purposes, credit sk arising on trading securities is managed independently, but reponed as a

component of ma*et risk exposure.

Management oI credit risk

The Board of Directors has delegated responsibility for the oveFight of credit risk to its C,edil and Finance Committee
comprising four non-erecutive directors. The implementation of the credit risk policies and monitoring ol the credit
ponfolio to ensure that risks are managed wilhin acceptable standards is the responsibility of the credit comminee
comprising executive management.

The comminee assisted by the cr€dit d€partment is responsible for the management of the Baok's credit risk including:

Formulating credit policies in consultation wilh business units, covering collateral requirements, credit assessment,
risk grading and repo(ing, documentary and legal procedures, and compliance with regulatory and statutory
requirements.
Establishing the autho(isation structure for the approval and renewal of credit lacilities. Authorisation Iimits are
delegated to the head of credit and the credit committee while larger facilities require approval by the Board of
Directors.
timiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, Seographies and industries for loans and advances.
Reviewing compliance of business units with agreed erposure limits, including those for selected industries, country
isk and product types. Regular reports are provided to Bank credit committee on the credit quality of local portfolios
and appropriate corrective action is taken.
Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to branches to pronote best practice throughout the Eank in the
management of credit risk.
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10. Risk Managc.nent obiectives and policies (continuld )

10.6.2 Creditdsimeasurement

ln measuring credit risk of loans and advances lo customers, the Bank takes into account the rollowing factols

The probability of default; this is the possibility of the customer failure to pay over the stipulated period in the
contlact
Erposure at defautt: curlerlt exposure on the bo(ower and the likely ruture development from which the Sank
derives the exposure at default

Estimated recovery ratio should default occur;this is the amount that can be recovered through sale of collateral

The Baok assesses the probability of detault of individual borroweIs using irtemal ratiflg methods tailored to the various
categories of the borrower. l0 assessing the credit quality ol the customer the Sank takes into account the customers
financial position, past experience and other industry specific factors. Ite credit risk measurements are embedded in the
Eank's daily operational management and closely aligned to the Central Bank of Xenya loan classilications.

Risk limit control and mitigation policies

Tte Eank structures the level of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on amounts of risk accepted in .elation to ooe
borower or a group of borrowers. Such risks are monilored on a revolving basis and are subject to annual or more
frequent review.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the ability of borrowers and potential borrowers to meet
interest and capital repayment obligalioos and bychanging limits where approp.iate.

Tle Sank takes security for funds advances and implemenG guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of
collate,al. To minimise credit loss the Bank will seek additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment
indicators are identified for the relevant individual loans and advances. Collateral held for othe.linancial assets other
than loans and advances depends on the nature ofthe instrument.

The primary purpose of acceptances, lettels of credil and guarantees is to ensure luods are available to a cuslomer as
required. Guarantees and slandby letters of credii carry the same risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of
credit which are rvritten undertakings by the Eank on behalf o, a customer authorising a thi.d party to draw drafts on the
Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions are collateralised by the underlying goods to which
they relate and th€relore carry less isk than a direct loan.

Commitments to extend credit.epresent unused portions of autho.isation to extend credit in the form of loans,
guatanlees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitmefts to extend credit, the 8a0k is potentially
exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount of loss is less than the
total unused commitmenls as most commitments to extend credit are contingeot upon customeIs maifllaining specific
credit standads.

Credit risk arising from derivative financial instruments is, at any time, limited to those v{ith positive fair values
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10 Risk managemcnt obiectiyes and pollcies (contnued)

10.6.3 lmpaimentassessment

The Bank considers a financial instrument defaulted and therefore Stage 3 (credit-impaired) for ECL calculations in all
cases whefl the borrowe, becomes 90 days past due on its contractual payments. The Eank considers treasury and
interbank balances defaulted and takes immediate action when the required intraday payments are not settled bythe close
of business as outlined in the individual agreements.

As a pan of a qualitative assessment ofwhethe, a customer is in delault, the Bank also considels a variety ot instances that
may indicate unlikeliness to pay. When such events occur, the Bank carefully consideE rr/iether the event should result in
treating the customer as defaulted and therelore assessed as Stage 3 for ECL calculations or v/hether Stage 2 is
appropdate. Such events include:

A material deciease i[ the boflowels turnover, the loss of a major customer or cessation of significant part of
operation
A material decrease in the undedying collateral value v/here the .ecovery orthe loan is expected from the sale of the
collateral
The d€btor (or any legal entity within the debtor's group)liling for bankruptcy application/protection
The bo(ower is deceased

It is the Bank's policyto considerer a linancial instrument as'cured'and therefore re-classified out orStage 3 when none ol
the default criteria have beeo present ror at least sir consecutive morths. The decision rvhether to classity an asset as
Stage 2 or Stage 1 once cured depends on lhe updated credit 8rade, at the time ol the cure, and whether this indicates
there has been a significant increase in credit risk compared to initial recognition.

10.6.3.1 Loans and advancas

For loans and advances to various segments including ,etail and SME the borrovvers are assessed based on the historical,
current and foIward-looking information including the following:

Histodcal financial information together with forecasts and budgets prepared by the client. This tinancial
inrormation includes .ealised and erpected resutts, solvenc-y ratios, liquidity ratios and any other relevant ratios to
measure the client's financial performance. Some ol these indicators are captured in covenants with the clients
and are, therefore, measured with gre ate r attentio.t.

Any publicly available information oo the clients from enernal panies. This includes external rating grades issued
by raling agencies, independent analFt reports, publicly kaded bond or CDS pdces or press releases and articles.
Any macro-economic or geopolitical inlormation, e.8., GDP grcwth relevant tor the specific industry and
geographical segments where the client operates.

Any other objectively supportable information on the quality and abilities of the client's management relevant for
the company's performance.
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10. Risk management obiectives and policies (continued)

10.6 Crcdit risk (Continued)

Marimum erposureto credit risk before collateral held

Credit Exposures

0n - balance sheet items
Cash and balances with th€ CBK
Gove.nment securities
Balances due from banking institutions
loans and advances to customers
Undeared itemsand othe. assets

otf-balance sheet items
Acceptances and leners of credit
Guarantees
Undrawn formalstand-by facilities, credit lines and other
commitments to lend

2023

KES'000

2022

Kts'000 %

636,730
3,759,019

203,461
8,943,138

194.793

4%

23%
1%

54%

L%

6%

20%
196

57%
lt

988,196
3,226,727

110,911
9,394,242

211.350

[u3zr4! 84S 13.931*426 8rl%

27 ,87 7

1,026,97 4

1.708.2ss 11% 1.767.182 10%

0%

5%

0%

6%

28,939
868,949

2.763.106 17% 2.665.070 16%

At3l December $foaa4r 1oo lqrgq{go reo

T[e above represents the wo6t-case scenado of credit erposure for 31 December 2023 and 2022, without takng into
account any collate.al held or other credit enhancements anached. For on-balance sheet assets, the eposures, s;t out
above are based or gross carrying amount as rcpo.ted o0lhe slatement of financial position.

Loans and advances to customers compdse 54% (2022: 57%) ol the total maximum exposure. The lair value of collateral
held in respect ol assets subiecl to c,edit risk as at 31 Decembers 2023 was 26,008,099,828 (2022: XES
27,734,722,0001.

While collateral is an impodant mitiSant to credit risk, the Bank's policy is to establish that loans are wilhin the capacity of
the customer to repay, as the primary way out. Ihe Sank holds collateral against loans and advances lo custom€rs in the
form ot mortgage interests over prope(y, other registered securities over assets, and guarant€es. Estimates o( Iair value
are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time o, borrowing, and generally a.e not updated except when a loan is
individually assessed as impaired. Collateral generally is not held over loans and advances to Banks, ercept when
securities are held as pan of reveEe repurchase aod securities borrowing aclivity.

The Eank is confident lhat its policies and procedures provide sufficient saleguards against erposure o0 credit risk as
shovin on the table overleaf.
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10. RISX MANAGEMiT,IT 0BTECTIVES AtlD P0LICIES (Ccnr'I'ieuJ

10.6 Crcditrisk(Continued)

The table below shows the ECL charges on llnancial instruments for th e yeat 2023 rccotded in the income statement

Credit loss erpense Stage 1

collective
Stage 2

collective
Stage 3 Total

indMdual individual
Cash and balances rvith Central
BankofKenya
Financial investments at
amortised cosl
Ealancls due from banking
institutions
loans and adyances to orslomels 417.761

4!Jq1

439.684

439&{

Stage 3 TolEl

Totallmpaiment loss ?1J2:!

Ile table below shows the ECL charges on financial instruments lor theyeat 2022 rccorded in the income statement

Credit loss erpense Stage I
mllective

Stage 2
collecliveindividual individual

Cash and balanceswith Central
Eankof Xenya

Financial iiyestments at amonised
cost
Ealances due from banking
lnstltutions
[oans and advances to customeB 16.508

!q!@

295.300

2J5.3Aa

311.808

11!"808Totallmpaiment toss

Apad from the loans and advances to customeas allothercredit erposures are neither past due norimpaired.

Loans and advaoces to customers

[oaas and receivables neither past due nor impaired

The Eank classifies loans and advances underthis category for those exposures that are up to date and in line with contractual
agreements. Ihese exposures will normally be maintained within approved product programs and with no signs of impai,merlt
or distress. These exposures a.e cateSorised internally as grade 1, that is, normal accounts i[ line with CBK prudential
guidelines and a provision of 1 % is made and appropriated from revenue reseryes to statrtory reseryes.

Loans where the contlactual interest or principal payments are past due but the Eank believes thal impairment is not
appropriate on the basis ol the level of security/collateral available and/or the stage of collection of amounts owed to the
Bank are classified as past due but not impaired. These exposures are graded internally as category 2 that is v,/atch accounts in
the Eaok's intemal credit risk grading system, in line with CB( Euidelines.

Loans with renegotiated terms

Loans with renegotiated terms are loans that have been restructured due to deterioration in the borrower's financial position
and where the Eank has made concessions that it would not otherwise consider. Performing loans whose terms have been
renegotiated aIe no longer treated as past due but are reclassified as pertorming loans. ln subsequent years, the renegotiated
terms applyin determiningvrhetherthe asset isconsidered past due.
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10. RISK MANAG EMENT 0Bl ECTIVES AN D Potlc,r:. ijo[tin red)

10.6 CGdit dsl (Continued)

Write-off policy

When a loan is uncollectible it is t{.itten otf against the related provisions for loan impairment. Such loans are written off
after allthe necessary recovery procedures have been completed and the amount ot loan has been determined.

The Bank adopted the rebuttable presumption approach by bucketing performing loans as rollows; 0-30 Days - Stage 1, 30-
90 Days past due - stage 2, >90 daF past due - siage 3 loans. Allfinancial assets are rated as normal on originalion. PDs
a.e modelled bysegment based on a suMval aoalysis bytracking points ofdefaults slnce origination to repodng date.

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the bank's lnternal credit rating
system and year end stage classification. The amounts p.esented are gross ol impairnen! allowances. Afl analysis of the
changes in the gross carrying amoul( and the correspondlng ECI- allowaflce in relation to loans and advances to customets
as at 31 December2023 was as follows:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
KES'.000 KES'000 KES'000

7,078,427 879,488 2,844,810

Total
KES'000

fi,402,725Gross carryingamount as at 1 Janua.y 2023
Nel[ ass€ls orignated or purchased (excluding

write orf)

Assets derecognised or repaid
Transferto stage 1

Transferto stage 2
Transfer to stage 3
Changes to contraciual due to modifications
not resutting in derecognition
Amountsw.inen off
Foreign exchange adjustrnent

As at 31 December2023

(74,709) (74,709)

o8o7.4u 317-441 3.!169J20 1q85!p]3

693,650
(601,442)
293,417
(270,00s)
(326,63s)

24,367

12t8,1271
(282,308)
282,668
(368,64?)

81,179
(60,271)
(11,109)
(12,662)
695,282

80s,796
(879,840)
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10. Risk management obiectives and policies (conunued)

10.6 Crcdit Risk (continued)

An analysis of the changes in the gross carrying amount and the co,responding ECL allowance in relation to loans and
advances to cuslomers as at 31 December 2022 is as follows:

Stage 1 Stage2 Stage3 Total
KES'000 xEs'000 KEs'000 KES,000

6,680,936 464,685 2,712,0-t3 9,857,694Gross carrying amount as at I larnaty 2022
New assets originated or purchased (excluding
write ofr)

Assets derecognised or reDaid

Transler to stage 1

Transler to stage 2
Transrer to stage 3
Changes to contractual due to modifications
not resulting in derecognition
Anountswritten off
Foreign erchange adjustrnent

As at 31 December 2022

ECLfor loans and advances

311,355

(37,971) (37,971)

7-otL427 879i88 a_844eu ,Bsa2J25

Stage 1

xEs '000
Stage 2

KES'000
Stage 3

KES'000

3,048,831
(2,386,932)

160,492
(323,278!.
(101,622)

534,633
(89,507)
(143,868)

323,278
(209,733)

151,424

1275,441
(16,624)

3,734,888
(2,7s1,886)

Total
KES'000

ECI allowance as at I January
2023 as perlFRS 9
Ner{ assets odginated or purchased
Ass€ts derecognised or repaid
(ercludingwrite ofo
Transfer to stage 1

Transferto stage 2
T,ansfer to stage 3
impactof yearend ECI- of
exp 05 ures transfe (e d between
stages duringtheyear
Unwind of disc{unt
Chang€s lo codractual cash nows
due to modilications not resuhing
to derecognition
Recoveries
Amountsw.itten off
Foreign erchange adjustment
As at 31 December2023 (note 25)

6,373
1,633

(3,896)

67,036
6,453

(3,066)

15,475
490

1,974

1,919
(2,003)
(9,398)

365,570
45,295
(31,r0s)

27,542

(14,190)

:
_393.!U

448,081
52,241

(32,197)

8,293
(373)

r4,248

(14,190)
:

47 6.102I45TI 8-457
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10. RbI managanent obrcctlyes and po[cles (condnu€O

10.6 CodrtRbt(co nu€d)

ECLfoi loans and adYances

Stage 1
(ES '000

Slage2
xEs'00,0

Stage 3
xEs'000

Total
KES'0,00

ECL allowance as at 1Janu8ry
2022 as pe( IFRS 9
Nff assets odgnated or purchased
Assets derecogr{sed or repaid
(excluding write ol0
Transler to stage I
Traftster to slage 2
TrarE er to stage 3
im pacl of year end ECL of
exposures tra nsterEd between
stages dudng th€ yeal
lJnwind oldiscount
Changes to coriradual cash iovls
dueto modmcatlons not resutting
to derecognilion
Recovedes
Amounts wdtten off
Fordgn erchange adjust nent
As at 31 Decemb€r 2022 (note 25)

89,336
11,607

(31,2221

3,573
(4,571)
(1,687)

13,986
3,981

(2,5521

300,081
77,966

(1)

2,625

(15,101)

:
365t10

403,403
93,555

(33,77s)

(2,838)
(6,767)
(2,625)

(15,10r)

![48J81

(3,573)
4,571
(938)

6iru36 l5tl75
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10, Risk managemcnt oblectiyes and poticies (continued)

10.6 CrEditrisk(ConUnued)

10,6.3.2 Financial iwestments at amorti?ed cost

Gross carying amount asal1la lary 2022
New assets purchased
Assets derecognised or matured
Stage 1

Stage 2
Stage 3
Changes due to modilications not derecognised
Amountswritten off
foreign erchange adjustment

The table below summarizes tie credit quality, the maximum exposures to credit risk based on the bank's interflal credit rist
rating system and year end stage classification. The amounts pres€nted are gross of impai.ment allowance. Details of the
bank intetnal grading s)5tem and policies on whelher ECL allowances are calculated oI an individual or collective basis are
erplained in note 10.6.3.3.

An analysis ofthe changes in the gross carrying amount and the coresponding ECI- as at 31 December 2023 was as foltows

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Totat XES
rcs'000 KEs'000 KEs,000 ,000

2,881,811 2,881,811
u5,442 il5,442(300,s26) (300,526)

At3l December2o22 3t26.127 : : 3l26f,jn
An analysis ofthe changes ln the Sross carrying anounl and the co,respondiog ECL as at 31 December 2022 is as fo ows

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Totat KES
rcs,000 KEs,000 KEs,000 ,000

Gross carryingamount as at 1january2023 3,226,127 3,226,127
New ass€ts purchas€d 890,907 890,907
Assets derecognised or matured (358,615) (358,615)
Stage 1

Stage 2
Stage 3
Changes dueto modifications not derecognised
Amounts vritten otf
Foreign erchange adjustment

At 31 December 2023 3,?_S9AU . : 3,?59J1!

ECI on Financial investment at amortized cost as at 31 Oecember 2023 and as 31 oecember 2022 rounds offto zero heoce no
tabular presentation. This also applies to ECL or government secudties.
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10, REk manaeement otlie:ayca rnd poihieE (cr}3tlnuco

10.6 Ct€lfit rttt (Cordnued)

10.6.3.3 Dues liom otll€r banldng lns0trtolB

The table below shors the credi quality and the maximlm exposur€ to credlt rhk based or the bank and Group's hternal
cr€dit ratlng system and yea. end classillcation.

An analysis orthe changes in the Sross calying amount and the coresponding ECL allorances ls as folloss:

Stage 1 Stage 2
rcs'om xEs'000

Stage 3
xES'0,00

G mss Canying amount 7 tanuary 2022
Net moverneot forthe yeal
Ass€ts derecognEed or repaid (Eduding wdte ofG)
Transler stage 1

Transfer stage 2
Tra6fer stage 3
Changes to contradual cashllorvs due to m,odlfcalion
not resutting to de,ecognition
Amount written off
ForeiSn cunency adiustneIIt

As at 31 D€cernb€r 2022

400,988
(289,97

lLUl!.

Total
rcs'om

400,988
(289,97n

ltLotl
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10, RisI management obiLuuyes and poricies ((rnunucd,

10.6 Credit dsk (Continued)

10.6.3.3 Dues ftom otier banklng institutions (conlinued)

Gross Carrying amount l lanuary 2023
Net movemenl forthe year
Assets derecognised or repaid (kcluding wite ofh)
Transfer stage I
Transfer stage 2
Transfer stage 3
Changes to contractual cashffows due to modification
not resuhing to derecognition
Amountw.itten off
Foreign curency adjustment

As at 31 December 2023

Corresponding ECL for dues from banking institutions

ECI allowance as at 1J aruary2022
Net movement ror the yeat
Assets derecognised or repaid (Elcludingwrite oth)
Transfer stage 1

Transferstage 2
Tiansfer slage 3
lmpact on year end ECL of exposures translered between
stages dudngthe year

Changesto contractual cash flows dueto modification not
.esurung to derecognition
Recove,ies
Amountrvdnen off
Forei gn cu.rency adjustrne.t

Asat31December2022

ECL allowance as at 1Ja[uary2023
Net movemenl for the year
Assets derecognised or repaid (Excludingwdte oth)
Transfer stage 1

T.ansfer stage 2
T.ansferstage 3
lmpact on year end ECL oferposures transfered between
stages during the year
Changes to cootmc{ual cash llows duelo modificalion not
resultingto derecognition
Recoveries

Arnount written off
Foreign currency adiustment

Stage I
rcs '000

Stage 2

KES'000
Stage 3

rcs'000
Total

KES '000

111,011
92,552

2 t5S?

Stage I
KES '000

Stage 2
KES'000

Stage 3
KES'OO2

Total
KES ',000

111,011
92,552

2q3.5!3

201
(101)

20t
(10u

r00 100

Stage 1

KES '000
Stage 2

KES '000
Stage 3

KES '002
Total

KES '000

100 100
22

As at 31 December 2023 102 l02
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FO R THE YEAR EI'IDED 3 1 OECEM BER 2023

r0

10.7

Risk manag-fllent oblectives and p.'licres (..rntinued)

Concentmtion ol dsk

Details of signiicant concentlations of the Bank's assets, liabilities and olf-balance sheet items by industry groups are as
detailed below:

(i) Advances to customers- gross

Manulacluring

Wholesale and retail
Transport and communication
AgricultuIal
Eusiness services
Real estate
Other

(ii) Customer deposits

Central and local Govemment
Non-fi nancial public enterprises
Co-operative societies
lnsurance companies
Private enlerpris€s and indiMduals
Non-profit institutions

(iii) Offbalance sheel items
(letters of credit and guarantees)

Manufacturiog
Wholesale and retail
Transport and communication
Business services
Buildingand Construction
Other

2023
rcs'000

2022
xEs'000

54,392
5,218,957

472,219
13,719

172,329
2,132,058
2.590.299

2
20
24

28
17

1_00

%

1tr653.9tt l@ 10102J30

29,283
5,255,011

s20,759
23,694

152,557
2,988,668
1,832,758

816,667
1,;03

419,805
23,632

10,083,809
10.202

49
4

49
5

970,014
1.559

1,383,565
41,504

8,244,519
24.201

9

13

7; 89

:

r00

7

;

10.665^362

700
705,982
22,622
28,300

293,419

3,828

laa ll35sa18

2

28
0

2,150
762,7 46

8,469
118,383

85
1

13

16.140

L054-{51 100 QgI_L8E 1Q0

10.8 l-iquidtty risk

Liquidity Iisk is the risk that the Group and Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations ,rom ils financial
liabiliiies when they lall due as a lesrlt ot cuslomer deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements fiom contractual
commitments or other cash outflows.

Managemem ol liquidity dsk

The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCo) is responsible tor the overall manaSement and monitoring of the Eank's
liquidity risk.

The Eank's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will alwaF have sutltcient liquidity to
meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, rvithout incurring unacceptable losses or
risking damage to the Sank's reputation.

56



CONSOLIDA]ED EANK OF XENYA I-IMITED AND SUBSIDIARY
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10 Risk management objectives and ,olicie: (continued)

10.8 Liquidity dsk (continued)

10.8.1 Management of liquidity risk (continueo

Liquidity risk is addressed through the following measurcs

The treasury department monitors liquidity ratios on a daily basis against internal and regulatory requirements

Day to day runding is managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. These
include ,eplenishment offunds astheymature or are borrowed bycustomeE.
The Sank invests in sho'tterm liquid instruments which can easily be sold inthe marketwhen the need arises.

The Bank enters into lending contracts subjeci to availability of funds.

The Bank has an aggressive strate6, aimed at increasing the customer deposit base.

The Sank borrows from the market through interbank transactions with other Eanks and tie Central Bank of Kenya
for short term liquidity requirements.

lnvestments in property and equipment are properly budgeted for and done when the Sank has sulfcient cash
flows.

The daily liquidty position is monitored, and regula, liquidity stress tesling is conducled under a va ety ot scenados
covering both nolmal and mo(e severe ma*et conditions. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and
approval by the board. Daily.eports coverinE the liquidity position ofthe Bank are r€gularly submitted to Asset and Liability
Committee.

10.8.2 kposure to llquldlty dsk

The key measu.e used by the Eanl for managing liquidity .isk is the ratio of net liquid assets to deposits from customers.
Fo. this purpose net liquid assets are conside.ed as including cash and cash equivalents and investment grade debt
securities for vrhich there is an adive and liquid ma.ket less any deposits ,rom 8anks, debt securities issued, other
borrowin8s and commitments maturing within the oext month. Ihe Central Bank of Kenya minimum liquidity ratio is 20%.
oetails of the leported Eank ratio ot net liquid assets to deposits and customers al the reponing date and during the
reporting period were as follows:

2023 2022

At 31 December

Average for the period

Maximum for the period

Minimum fo. the period

13%

15%

2toh

12%

t8%
22%

30%

16%
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t 0. Risk managemefit objectives and policies (continueo

10.8 tlquidity.isk(continued)

10.82 Uquldity dsk based on undiscounted cish llows

The table below analyses th€ cash flows payable by the Bank under non.derivatiye 6nancaal liabilities by remainlng conkactual maturities and non
derivative financialassets by erp€cted maturity dates as at the date ofthe statement of liflancla I position -

AT 31 December2023

RIANCtAtASSEIS
Cash and balanccs witi the C8(
Ealances due from banking
instit tions
Other ass€ts
Govemmentseqrrities
loans and a(fuances lo customers

Total fioancial assets

RNANCIAL UAEITMES
Salanc€ duc to CentralEank of
f\enya
oeposits and balanc€s due to
banking institutions
Customer deposits
Other Uabilities

AT31 December2023

Total

AT3l December2022

upto
1 month
KES'000

1-3
months
l(Es'000

4-12
months

KES',000

1.5
Yea6 XES'000

over5Years
xEs'000

2,259,019
3.560227

1,500,000
2.179.499

Iotal
(ES'm0

901,554 901.554

2.403.452

3dt${21

3,118.544

315.614

us-6u

203.563
375,858

203,563
375,858

3,759,019
8.943.138

300,000
11,237,373
437.469

r,026,974
21,A77

484.346

{c4J4-6

4,177,660 1,2t7,22t 4,17 L

5AD"2l6 3^679^4$ 141!3Jlt2

3,118,5,r4

300,000
s,838,321
431j69

Total f inancial liabilities

etliquiditygap

AT 31 December2022

9.694334

(luggAI
4J_l7iSA

E&6?gj)

t217227

oil2-ei5

t&
5dtLatS

61.551

414431

Ls@3rs6

€.ts&$g9lL{E

Iotarfinancial assets {3!2JCt U82i4 429tM d.32o,l8l fuArLill UJlfJil
Totar rinanciar liabirities gZltLU L64Ia4! gil&lz . : l4AJUgj
Net liquidity gap (4-808_92-[ (:L46qj{!) 6a3l€ 4,320J91 5^424j67 (L!LSO7J

The above table shots the undiscounted cash llors oo the Eank s financial assets and fina ncial lia bilities and unrecognised loan commatmentson
the basls of thelrearlaest possible cootractual matudly.Ihe Banl's erpected cash flows on tiese ilrstrumenB vary signilicantly from this analysis.
For example. demand deposits from custome6 are expected to maintain a stable or increasing balaoceiand unrecognised loan commitments are
oot all e&ected to be drawn down immediately- The table below shows matuity analysts lor lhe toans and commitments (ofi,balance sheet
commllments).

Upto
I month
KES',000

1-3
months

KES'000

4-12
monthS

KES'000

1-5
Yea6

KES',000

Total
KES',000

Guarantees
Acceptances and letters ofqedit
ljndrawn fomal stand-byfacilities, creditlines and other
commitnentsto lend

236.62r

84.064

3Zg6!t

125,089
12,535

1s-989

!!a6rl

173,779
27,817

552,786 63,788

64.134

26qt9!

: 209.749

0i,78! L?04600

23,146
2,319

92!0

]4.?1E

Guarantees
Acceptances and letters ol credit
Undrawn fonnal stand-by lacilities, credit tines and other
commitnents to lend

299,518
30,0r3

119.094

419,225

554,111
55,525

221.436

83r"012

1,001,864
100,392

4QQ,36l

t50&625Total
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10 Risk management objectives ano policies (continued)

10.9 Matket risks

10.9.1

10.9.2 Exposurc to intercst rate risk

Ihe principal risk to which non-trading ponfolios are exposed is the risk of loss fiom tluctuations in the tuture cash flows or fair
values ot inte.est-bealing financial instruments because of a chaoge in market interest rates. The AI-CO is the monitoriog body
lol compliance with these limits and is assisted by Treasury Department in its day-to-day monitoring activities. Other ass,ts are
settled no more than 12 months afterthe reportiflg date. Allthe balances are interest bearing.

Jhe table below summa.ises the Bank's exposures to interest ,ate risks. lncluded in the table are the Sank's assets and liabilities
at carrying amounts, cate8oised by the earlier of the cofltraclual repricing o. maturity dates. Ihe Bank does not bear an interest
rate dsk ofl off balance sheet items because lhe inte.est,ates are fired.

Malket risk is the risk that fair value or tuture cash flows of a financial instrumenl will tloctuate because of changes in market
plices. Market lisk arise flom open positions in interest rates, currency and equity products, all ot which are exposed to geoeral
and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or pdces such as interest rates, equity
plices, foreign exchange ,ates and credit spreads. The objeclive o, market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposureswithin acceptable parameters, r{hile optimisingthe relurn on risk.

The Bank separates exposutes to market risk into either trading or non'trading portfolios. Trading potfolios include those
positioj|s arising flom market-making transactions where the Bank acts as priocipal witi clients or with the market. Non-trading
poftfolios mainly arise from tie interest.ate management of the entity's retail and comme.cial Eanking assets and liabilities.

Management of maftet dsls

Ovelall responsibility of managing market risk rests with the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCo). The Treasury depadment is
,esponsible for the development oI detailed risk management policies (subject to reviery and apprcval by ALCo) and for the day-
to'day ,eview ol their implementation. Th€ Board ol Directors sets Iimits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that
may be undertaken rvhich is monitored daily.

AS AI31 December2023

Total financial assets

Up to
I month
KES'000

t3
mooths
l(ts 000

4-t2
months

KES 000

r.5
'eals KES',000

Non ifit€rest
bearing

KES 000
Totat

KES',000

FINANCIALASSEIS
Cash and balanceswith the CBK
Salances due lrom other banking
institutions
Govemment secu ties
Loans and advances to customers

203.563

2.403.452

?.0Q1.01s

3,759,019

5,739.726

9.4t&?4s

901,554

203,s63
3,759,019

8.943.r38

8 8A7,214

315.6r4

3150U

1,553,709

3.913.631

5.467.340

(L111"726)

,l84,346

{}4.i4j

901,554

q01.s54

3.385.046

3.385.046

(2.{UJsa

FINAt{CrAt UABTLmES
Balance due to CentralBank ol
Kenya

Depositsand balances due to
baakin( institutions
Customerdeposits

1.564,835

300,000
2.256.923

4. r21.768

1.119.798

1.119.798

(63L452)

3.837

3.837

9.49{908

3,118,544

300,000
10.679.235

-l,{-Be.fJ Z9

(290,515.1

Total financial liabilities

lnterest rate sensativity 8ap 0*514243]
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10. Risk management objeciives and policies (continueo

10.9 Mad(et dsl$ (continued)

Management of ma.ket risks

lntercst ratelequity p.ice mlatlity

Volatility measures the expected future variability of a market pdce. h is generally quoted as a percentage; a higher number
lepresents a mo.e volatile instrument, for rvhich larger swings in price (or interest ,ate) are epected. Volatility is a key input
in optioo-based models afld is used to estimate the future prices for the undedying instrument (e.g., equity or interest rate).
Volatllity varies per instrurnenl aod in time aod therefore, it is not viable to make reliable and meaningful general statements
about volatility levels.

Certain volatilities, generallythose relating to longer-term matudties are uoobservable and are estimated bythe Bank

Seositiurty aoal6is oo iotetesl ales

An increase of 10 percentage point in interest rates tor the period would have increased/ (decreased) profit or loss after tax
by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, io padicular toreign currency rates, remain
constant. This analysis is performed on the same basis for 2022.

loans and advances
2023 2022

KES',000 KES',000

lnwstrnents at amortised cost
2023 2022

KES',000 KES',000

lnl€resl income
lnteresl expense

84,124
(39.001)

77,759
(36.653)

26,279
(22.0191

21,27 4
(18.937)

Net change in interest +A122 4"100 4-2@ ?,3_il

A decrease of 1 pe.certage point in interest ,ates for the period yrould have had an equal but opposite efted on the profit or loss
arld equity, on the basisthat all other variables remain constam.

Recovery rates

Recovery rates reflect the estimated loss that the Sank will suffer given epected defaults. The recovery rate is given as a
percentage aod reflects the opposite of loss severity (i.e., 100% recovery reflects 0% loss severity).

ln line with genelal market convention, loss severity is applied to asset-backed securilies while recovery rate is more ofl€n
used as pricing input for corporate or government iostruments. Higher loss sevefly levels / lower recovery rates indicate
lower erpected cash florvs upon the defauh oa the instruments. Recovery rates for complex, less liquid instauments are
usually unobservable and are estimated based on historical data. Cu(ently, the Bank has no such investments.

Curencr,isk

The bank takes on exposu.e to the effects of fluctuations in the p.evailing loreign currency erchange rales on its financial
position and cash flows. The board sels limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total for both overnight aod intra,
day positions which are monitored daily.
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10. Rlsk manag0mont ob.iectly€sand pollclss (con nued)

10.9 Ma*et dsls (contnued)

currency.

AS AT 31 December 2023

FINANCIALASSEIS

Cashand balanceswith Central Bank of Kenya
Balsncesdue from 8a n king institutions
Loans and advances to customers

Totalfinancial assets

FINANCIAL UABILMES
Customer deposlts

Deposits and balances due to banking hstitutions

Total fi nancial llabillties

USD

KES',000
GBP

KES'000
EURO

(ES',000
OIHERS

KES'000
TOTAL

KES'000

79,804
110,604
26,590

216.998

216,890

216.890

19!

94.814

303.710

402.034

(98.324t

38.223

1,656
5,036

6.692

3,7s0

3.750

2.942

5.982

6.591

(609)

32,611
64,331

1,765

1.765

1.765

1.006

1.006

115,836
179,97 t
26,590

322.397

284,075

284.07 5

38.322

94-817

332.020

424.298

{103.676)

38.234

NETON BAI.ANCE SHEEI POSMON

NEIOFF EALANCE SHEET POSMON

AT 31 December 2022
Totalffnancialassets

Total financlal llabilltles

NETON BAIANCE SHEEI POSMON

NETOFF BAI.ANCE SHEEI POSMON

96.942

63,435

63.435

33.s07

3

21.322

15.673

5.649

lt
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10 Risk management ohjcc,rv€:, an.; policies (rontinued)

10.9 Mai(et dsks (continued)

Ma.ket risks - sensitivity analysis

A principal pad ofthe Bank's management of market risk is to monitor the sensitivity of projected net inlerest income
undervarying interest rate scenarios (simulation modelling) and the sensitivily offuture earnings and capitalto varying
foreign erchange rates. Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of tosses that could arise in extreme
cooditions. Consolidated Bank aims, through its management ol market dsk, to mitigate the impact of prospeclive
interest rate movements and foreign exchange fluctuations which could reduce future earnlngs and capital.

For simulation modelling, the Bank uses a combination of sceflarios relevar( to local businesses and local markets
These scenaios are used to illustrate the ellecl onlhe Eank's earnings and capital.

lnterest rate risks - increase/decrease of 10% in net interest margin

Jie lnterest .ate risks sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions

Changes in the market iflterest rates affect the interest income or expenses of variable interest financial
instruments.

Changes in Market interest rates only atfect ioterest income or expenses in relation to financial instruments with
fixed interest rates ifthese are recognized attheirfairvalue.
The interesi rate changes will have a significant effeci on interest sensitiye assets and liabilities and hence
simulation modelling is applied to Net inte,est margins.

The interest rates ot all maturities mov€ bythe same amount and, therelore, do not reflect the potefltial impact on
net interest income of some rates changing whale othels remain unchanged.
The projections make other assumptions including that all posilions run to matuity.

The analFis below sets out the impact on future net inlerest income of an incremental l0% parallel fall or rise in all
yield curves as at 31 December 2023.

Assuming no management actions, a series of such appreciation would increase net iflterest income for 2023 by XES

80,785,000 (2022: KES 71,959,000), while a seies of such Ialls would decrease net iflterest income for 2023 by KES
80,785,000 (2022: KES 71,959,000).

Also a series ot such ises would increase the adjusted core capital to RWA and Adiusted total capital to RWA by 0.7 %

12022:0.6%l and 0.7% \2022:0.6%) respedively, while a series ol such falls would d€crease the adjusted core
capital to RWA and Adjusted total capital to RWAby 0.7% 12022: O.6o6l and 0.7% 12022,0.6%) respectively.

ForeiSn exchange risks - appreciation/depreciation ol KES against other currencies by 10%

The Foreign Erchan8e Risks sensitivity analysis is based on the ,ollowing assumptions

Foreign erchange exposures represent net currency positions of all currencies oiher than Xenya shillings.
The Currency Risk sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption that all currency positions are highly eflective
The Base currency in which the Bank's business is transacted is Kenya shillings.

The table below sets out the impact o0 luture earnings of an incremental 10% parallel fall or rise in all foreign
currencies as at 31 December 2023-
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10. Risk maoagement ob.iectrye< and polrcies (continued)

10.9 Ma*et dsks (continued)

Market risks - s€nsitivity anatlsis (continueo

Assuming no management actions, a series of such rise and fallwould impacl the future earnings and capital as
illustrated in the table belorv:

loss before taxation
Adjusted Core Capital
Adjusled Total Capital
Risk Weighted Assets (RWA)

Adiusted Core Capitalto RWA

Adjusted tolal Capital to RWA

Loss before taxation
Ad.iusted Core Capital
AdjustedTotal Capital
Risk Weighted Assets (RWA)

Adjusted Core Capitalto RWA

Adjusted total Capital to RWA

Amount

31 Dmember2022
(ES',000

(327,368)
(443,8121

443,8721
11,763,66s

(3.77%l

13.17%)

Scenario 1

10% appreciation

rcs'000

(363,398)
(88,821)
(88,821)

12,U7,736
(0.70%)

(0.70%)

Scenario 2

10% Depreciation

KES',000

(488,938)
(605,442)
(605,442)

11,763,665
(s.1s%)
(s.15%)

Scenario 2

10% Depreciation

KES',000

(s07,315)

1232,738!.
l.232,7381

12,647,736
(1.847.)
(1.84%)

Amount

31 December 2023
xEs'000

Scenario I
10% appreciation

rcs,000

(408,1s3)
(524,6s7)

(524,657)

11,763,665

14.46%l
(4.46%)

(43s,3s6)
(160,780)
(160,780)

12,641,736
(1.27%l
(1.27%l

10.10 Other.isks

Non-fi nancial risk management disclosures

10- 10.1 Strategic dsk

Stlategic risk is the curr€nt aod prospective impacl on earnings or capital aising from adve.se business decisions,
improper inplementation of decisions, or lack of responsiveness to industry changes. This risk is a function of the
compatibility of orgaoization's strategic goals, the business strategies developed to achieve those goals, the
resources deployed against these goals, and the quality of implementation_

The Bank laces several strategic aisks from its environment which include:

. Macro-economicchanges.

. Competition from the financial industryand organisations providingsimilarservices.

. Technologicalchanges.

. Key legislative and regulatory changes.

. Majorpoliticalevents.

. Human capitalorsocial/demographic trends afld changes.

. lnadequatecapitalisatioo

The Eoard o, Directors is uttimately responsible for the overall Seneration and implementation of the Bank's
strategy for purposes of enhancing shareholders'value. lt has however delegated the implementation aspects to
the Chief Executive Ofiicer and the Senior Managemenl team. The Board ol Directors, wilh support of the Chief
Erecutive otficer Senior Management. develops and implements a new strategic cycle every 5 years to cater for the
next Srowth phase ofth€ Bank.
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10.10.2

10.10.3

l0 Rlsk management ol,rJ,)i:rc: .lnl policies (co,:tnueO

10.10 Otherdsks(continued)

Non-llnanclal risk management disclosu.es (continued)

10.10.1 Strategicrisk(continued)

The Chiel tuecutive officer suppo.ted by the (Executive Committee) EXCOM is responsible for the execution of the
approved strategic objectives on a day to day basis and actively monitors business performance against these
objectives thlough periodic reviews. The business carries out business pedormance reviews periodically but at a

minimum on a monthly basis against pre-determined milestones and key performance indicators. The reviews are
repo(ed to the Soard o, Directors ror information and advice, or action where significant deviations occur. These
reports iflclude id€ntifyingthe key risksfaced bythe Eankand howthey are being managed.

Each business head is responsible for ensudng that strategic initiatives are aligned to the overall strategy orthe Bank
and supponed by the relevant and appropriate operating policies and programs that direct behaviour. They are also
Iesponsible for monitoling, managing aod reporting oo the effectiveness and risks o, their business' strategic
objectives, and the ptogtess they have made towards achieving these. They oversee the di,ection and trends of
signiricant cutrent and emerging risk related to their business units and that mitigating actions are taken where
aPProPriate.

The Chief ftecutive officer co-ordinates an annual strategic planning process intended to align individual business
strategies to overall enterprise level st,ategies as approved by the Board ol Direclom. They include a comprehensive
review and evaluation of the business strategies, competitive posilioning, financial perrormaoce, initiatives of
strateSic er€cutions, and key business risks.

Ihe Bank's financial and non-financial performance, including its key risks, is reported to the Board of Direclors on a

bimonthly basis for review and aclion, where necessary.

lloo-fi oancial risk management disclosures:

Operationalrisk

0pelational Risk is "the risk that the Bank will incur direct or indirecl loss due to an event or action causing the failure
of technology, processes, infrastructure, personnel, and other risks having an ope.ational impact". The impact of
these risks can result in siSnificant finaocial loss, reputational harm or regulatory censure and penalties.

The major operationalrisks faced bythe Bank include

People and related issuessuch as slaffretention, rraud, amongst othe6.
Systems and processes changes related to the drive to meet our clients' needs

The Eoard ol Directo6 takes the lead in establishing the "tone at the top' which promotes a strong isk management
culture. The Bank has also put in place a corporate cutture that is guid€d by strong risk maoagement and that
suppois and provides appropriate standards and incentives for professional and responsible behaviour.
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f 0 Risk management ohre,.ivq. ar o policies (collarnueo

10.10.2 l{on-fioancial dsk management disclosures (continueo

10.10.3 operalionaldsk(continued)

All members of statf are responsible for the managemenl aod mitigation of operational risks. Ihis is reflected in the
continuous control environment, risk arvareness and management style. Specific roles o esponsibilities are assigned for
leading and managing the internal conttol environment through the following people:

Board and CE0;

Audit Committee;

lnternal Audit Depanment;

Board Risk Management Committee;

Risk Management Comminee;

Risk & Cornpliance Depadment:

Business Ope,ational Risk runctions in corporate, Retail and SME i
lnformation Technology (fD Steering Comminee; and

Business Heads and 0perations Head.

lnternalArditisresponsibleforassessingcompliancewithoperationalriskpolicya0dforreportingsignificantissuesto
the Soard Audit Committee and the Board of Directors.

The Bank seeks to minimise actual or potential losses arising from operational Risk failures. These include
inadequately defined procedures or policies, systems failure, internal control flaws or breaches, insufficiently skilled
statf, unmanageable events orcustomeractions. To achievethis, the Sankensures:

Robust operational risk policy and procedures that reflects industry practice are put in place and operationalized-
These include toolkits to help identify, assess, control, manage and report on key 0perational Risks. Ioolkits in the
0perational Risk Procedures manual include inter alia:

i) F amework for the Bank, businesses, and support functions to identify their major operational risks and
mitigation plans;

ii) Xey control standards:

iii) lndicators to identify Operational Risk; and

iv) lncident and issues tracki0g mechanisms to identify causal factors and operational losses

All statf in business and suppolt functions, are aware ottheir responsibilities for Operational Risk Management.
Potential operational Risk impact of Bank aclivities and producls are considercd at their outset with a view to
mioimising these as far as possible.

Ihere are structuled processes to repoi control failures to designated individuals and escalate material issues to
Risk Management Committee, Executive Committee (EXCoM) and Board Risk Managemenl Committee as
approDriate.

Employees are given Operational Risktrainiog appropriate to their roles.

Employee and Bank assets are adequately protected.

Workable Susiness Continuity Plans are established (including Disaster Recovery and Crisis Management
procedures) to minimise the impact of unplanned events ofl business operations and custome, seftice.
Ihe financial impad o[ operational losses is mitigated through the utilisation of insurance or other risk transfer
mechanisms wheae appropriate.
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10 Risk management obie:lives -rd Jrolicies icontin(ed)

10.10.2 l{on-financial dsk management disclosures (c!nUnued)

10.10.3 0perational risk (contjnued)

10.10.4 Compliancc (policy/legallregulato19 risk

Compliance risk is the curent or prospective risk to earnings and capital arising from violations or non-compliance wilh
laws, rules, regulations, agreements, prescribed practices, or ethical standards, as well as trom the possibiliE of
incorect interprelation oI effective laws or regulations.

The Bank is commined to ensuring lhat its business activities are conducted io accordance with applicable laws and
regulations, internal rules, policies aod procedures, and ethical standards ('compliance laws, .ules and standards').
The Bank has established appropriate policies, procedures and controls that will ensure effective compliance with
laws, regulations and codes relevantto its businesses, customerc and staff.

Business unit h€ads have the responsibility and accountability ol managing regulatory and legal risks relating to their
units on a day to day basis with assistance / advice and oversight from Legal and Compliance Department. The Risk
and Compliance Department ideniifies and monitors th€ key dsks and is responsible fo. ensuring that the day to day
business controls comply with applicable legislation and are in line with best practice. lnternal and external legal
counsel worl closely with business units to identify areas of eristing and potential .egulatory/legal risks and actively
manage them to reduce the Bank's exposures.

Senio. Management and the Board Risk Management Comminee receive the Risk Management Depanment's opinions
/ reports on the strength of the Banks Compliance Risk Framework to enable them to determine whether it is unde.
contlol aod where not, ttacks significant corrective actions to finality. Additionally, sigriricant exposures under "for or
against' litigalion are reviewed periodically.

10.10.5 Reputationaldsk

Reputational lisk is the potential that negative stakeholder impressions or perceptions, whether true or not, regarding
the Bank's business practices, actions or inactions, will or may cause a decline in customer base, liquidity, and overall
brand value. lt is a lesultaflt effect of all other risks highlighted in this report and ther€fore cannot be managed in
isolation. Therefore, when allthe olher risk are managed well, this risk is substantially minimised.

Ihe Bank's reputation is an invaluable and fragile asset that is broad and far reaching and includes image, goodwill and
bland equity. Reputational risk management supports value creation and seeks to dealeffectively with potential luture
events that create uncertainty.

t ltimate responsibility for this risk rests with the Board of Directors ard Senior Management who eramine the Bank's
reputational risk as parl of their regular mandate. They are assisted in this aspect by the Corporate Communications
Depanment. Iheir purpose is to ensure that all products, sedices, and activities meet the Bank's reputational risk
objectives in line with the Eoard of Director's approved appetite. The Bank's reputational risk strategy however
cascades into the other Bank's policies procedures each level of management is responsible for the appropriateness ot
policies, processes and controls within its purview.

Seniot Management and the goard of Directors receive periodic repots on the assessment of the Bank's reputational
isk exposures that arise from its business activities so as to fonn a view on associated risk and implement corrective
actions-
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10. Risk managcment ohie.. t've-< did 0clicie-s fco4tinfled)

10.1 1 Financial assets at tair yalue lircugh otier comprchensiw income

The following table ptovides an analysis of rinancial ilstruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at
fairvalue, grouped into levels 1to 3 based onthe degreeto whichth€ lairvalue is obseryable.

. Level 1: fair value thlough ocl measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) i0 active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

. Level 2t lai value measurcments are those derived from inputs other lhan quoted pices included within level 1

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as pdces)or indirectly (i.e. de ved lrom prices).. l-evel 3: fair value measu(ements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liabilitythat are not based on observable market data (uflobservable inputs/.

Financial assets at FWoCI:

Note

Level

1

rcs'000

8.354

Level Level

KES'000 KES'000

36

32 Total

KES'OOO

q!f,4

31 December 2023

Quoted investments

31 December2022

Quoted investmenG

Fairvalu€
hierarchy

3t/ 12/23
KES 000

3r/ L2/22
KES'000

Quoted bid prices

Quoted investments 8,354 8.354 tevet I

There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 in the period (2022: none)

10.12 Pdce .isk sensitiyity

The Eank is exposed to price risk on quoted investment securities.

Effect of increase on Equity

&154

Valuation SiSnificant
technique(s)and unobseflabl€
key lnputs inputs

Relationship of
unobserYable
Iflputs to lairvalue

lmpacton equity
2023

KES',o00
2022

KES'000

9354

The above was valued at quoted bid prices in an active market (Nairobi Securities Exchange). Except as detailed above, the
Dilectors consider that the ca,rying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the statement of
financial position approrimate thei. fair values. This note provides inlormation about how the Sank determines fair values ol
various financial assets aod financial liabilities. Fair value of the Baflk's financial ass€ts and financial liabilities are
measured at fail value on a iecurrent basis. The follovring table Sives intormation about how the fair values of these financial
assets and financial liabililies are dete,mined (ifl, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used):

Flnancialassets Fairvalue as at

N/A N/A

The table below summarizes the impact on increase in the market price on the Group's equity investments net of tar. The
analysis assumes that the ma*et prices had increased by 5% with all other variables held constaot afld all the Bank's
equityinstruments moved accordingtothe historical correlati0n with the price:
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CONSOLIOATED BANK OF XENYA LIMITED ANO SUBSIDIARY

NOTES ]O THE FINATiCIAL SIATEMENIS

FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 DFCEMEER 2023

11 Capital managemen' ,r:o'.!..) .r'.J Di'rk)

Regulatory capital

The Banks objectives when managing capital are

To saleguard the Banks'ability to conli[ue as a going concern so that it can continue to p.ovide returns for the
shareholders and benefits for the other stakeholders.

To maintain a stronS capitalbase to supportthe curred and ruture developmeflt needs ofthe business.
To comply with the capital requirements set by the Central Eank of Kenya.

Capital adequacy and use of re8ulatory capital a.e monitored by management employing technrques based on the
guidelines developed by the Cent,al Bank of Kenya for supervisory purposes. Th€ required information is filed with the
Central Bank of Kenya on a monthly basis.

TIe Central Eank o, Kenya requires each Bankto:

a) Hold the minim um level of regulatory capital ol KES 1 billion.
b) Maintain a ratio oftotal regulatory capital; to isk weighted assets plus ,isk wei8hted otf balance assets at above the

required mioimum of 10.5%;
c) Maintain a core capitalof not lessthan 8% oftolaldeposil assets; and
d) Maintain total capital of not less than 14.5% ofriskweighted assets plus risk $/eighted otf balance sheet items.

As rufther disclosed in note 9, the Bank had not complied with capital to risk weighted assets of not less than 14.5% and the
Iier 1 capital to risk weighted assets o, not less than 10.5% in 2023. ln 2022 the Bank had not complied with capitalto risk
weighted assels ol not less than 14.5% and the Tier 1 capitalto risk w€ighted assets of not less thao 10.5%

The Bank's regulatory capital is analysed into ttvo tiers:

Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, non-cumulative irredeemable non'convertible preference sha.es,
disclosed reserves such as share premiums, retained earnings, and 50% un"audited after tar profit less investment in
subsidiaries conducling banking business, investments in equity of other institutions, idangible assets (excludiog
computer software ) and goodwill.

TieI 2 capital, which includes 25% .evaluation surplus which have received prior CBK approval, subordinated debt,
hybrid capital instruments or any other capital instruments approved by CBX.
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COI{SOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA LIMITED AND SUBSIOIARY
I{OTES IO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

11. CAPttAl- MAI'IAGEMr r , (Lorffn"e0

Tie Ban k's regulatory capiial position at 31 Dece,nber 2023 and 3l December 2022 was as follows

'ller l capital

0.dinary share capital

Non'cumulative iiredeemable shares

Share capital

Accumulated loss€s

Total

Iier 2 capital

Revaluation reserves (25%)

General loan loss provision-statutory rese.ve
(Maximun ol 1.25% of RWA)

Tolal

Total regulatory capital

Risk-weighted assets

Capitalratios

Total regulatory capitalexpressed as a percentage ol
total dsk-weighted assets (CBX minim!m 14.5%)
Totaltier I capital expressed as a percentage of
risk-weighted assets (CBK minimum 10.5%)

12. ltfltREST|NCoME (cmup and Bank)

lnterest on loans and adyances

lnlerest on Eank placements

lnterest on investments at amo sed cost

13. IIiIIEREST qPtLSE (cmup and Bank)

lnterest on customer deposits
lnterest on inter-bank borrowings
lnterest on Central Bank ol Kenya Repos
lnterest on leases

2023
KES',000

2022
l(ES'000

2,998,400

721.130

3,719,530

62M.1871

(524.6571

(524.657)

(524.657)

11t63.0€A

(4.45%)

G^4Qsl

2,998,400
721. r 30

3,719,530
(3.880.310r

(!60.780)

(160.780)

(10qru

ra0a9Ja5

.1.27%l

04ft.)

2023
gank

t,20t,772
5,242

383.644

2023

Group

1,201,7 72

5,242

384.803

2022

Bank

1,110,837

4,248

310.579

2022

Group

1,110,837

4,248

310.579

L590-458 IEq!EU 11125-064 1J2g_@

557,169
10,339

184,729
30.567

lga@

523.625
1,U4

148,342
32.468

ZQE.,279
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OF I(ENYA LIMI]EO ANO SUESIDIARY
t{OTES TO THE FIflANCIAI" STAIEMENTS
FORIHEYEAR EI{DED 31 DECEMBER 2023

14. FEE At{D CoMM|SS|O |NC...ME

L€dg€r related fees and commissions

Credit related ,ees and commissions
Transaction related lees

15-

Gai]B on forcign erdEnget(rding
l-o6ses on for€iEln erchange trading

16. OI moPERAIT c INCOME (cmupand Banto

Refitalincome
Remedial reclYedes
Recoveries on loans and advances
Gain on disposal of property and equipment
DiYidend income
Sund.y income

2023
xEs'000

2022
tGs'000

225.190 2fi.224 2!$JlQ U48il
rcREGl{ gClUll{GE IWtDltlG lt{@tlE(Gmup and Banl0

Foreign erchang€ net income includes gains and losseslrom spot aod forIard contracts and t.aGlated toreign
currency assets and llabilitles.

2023
Bank

(ES',o00

33,026

125,108
67.056

2023
Group

l(Es'000
33,026

12s,108
92.086

2022
Bank

xEs'000
:J:t,595

168,794
/t6.781

2022

Group

xEs'000
33,595

168,794
12-455

51,820
e7.9361

23i84

65,690
11,729

252,030
556

1.229

132,943
t80.891r

52.052

67,638
3,668

181,070
85

521
59.263

372245 3iI1234
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CONSOLIDAIED BANK OF XENYA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY
I{OTES TO IHE FINANCIAL STATEMENIS
FORTHEYEAR ENDED 3l DECEMBER 2023

17. 0PERAING ExPtirsis

Staffcosts (note 18)
Directors' emoluments - Fees

- Other
0ther Eoard erpenses
Depreciation, Current year (oote 28)
Amortisation olintangjble assets (note 29)
Amotisation ofoperating lease (note 30)
Contribution to Kenya Deposit lnsurance Corporation
Auditors' remuneration
Credit loss expense on letters of credit and guarantees
Other operating expenses.

18. SrAFF CoSTS

Salaries and wages
Training, recruitment and staflwelfare costs
Pension contributions
Medical expeoses
Staffinsurance
Gratuity provision (note 32(a))
NSSF contribstions
Affordable Housing lery

19 Ii{COME TAX (c.oup and Bank)

a) Taration charge

2023
Bank

KES',000

2022
Bank

KES'000

2023
Group

Kts'000

2022
Group

KES'000

' Retates to ar other operating expenses not captured (nder the orhe,ffiH# .0"*1*o 1,-458-14!! lJtlloo

701,875
27,360
25,269

1,051
73,130
28,259

170
21,539
4,712

383

482-06A

569,718
25,167
35,342
49,069

5,768
8,894
3,337
4-580

708,610
27,790
25,269

1,051
74,316
28,698

170
21,539

5,118
383

489.748

714,646
29,233

5,455
2,072

75,510
41,472

170
19,996
5,597

206
557.792

719,194
29,7 76

6,440
2,072

7 6,732
48,O72

170
19,996
6,003

206
563.945

Cunent tar based on thetaxabte profit lor the y eat at31./r (2022:30%l
Pior year over provision- curenttaxation
De recognition ofprioryear defered tax

Reconciliation ofexpecled tax based 0n accounting loss
to tax charge

b) toss beforetaxation

Tax calculated at a tat rate ol30% (202f:30%)
Iax eftect of erpenses not deduciible for tax purposes.
Non-tarable income
Prior year over provision - currenttaxation
Cunefit year's defered tax not rccognised
Prioryear defefied tar de recognition

70r.8rjl 108-Ql! II1t040 llgJeJ

2023
KES KES

13,175
465

13,336
6,482

l3-O!10

574,833
25,264
35,610
49.927

5,967
8.894
3,476
4.639

593,145
29,068
39,474
46,00s
4,324
2,017

513

597,350
29,200
39,70'r
46,482
4,361
2,O45

049

19-d18

94,5p_8-31

(133,795)

6,482

rguS

(a9a2i9)

(7s,681)

1I],640

465

' Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes relates to expeoses incured not for business or generation of
revenue e.g. donations.
The bank has not lecognised deferred tax assets of KES 77 nilliort l2O22: KES 77 million) due to uncenainty of future
earnings and profits against which the deferred tar assets can be offset. Tax losses can be car.ied forward fo, a period
of rine years after they are first incured.
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CONSOLIDATED EANK OF (ENYA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINAI{CIAI STAIEM€NTS

FOR THE YEAR TNDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

19. lfl@ME IAX (Cor,::r:1,!Jr

c) Taxation recoverable/(Payable)

At 1 ,anuary

Chaqe for the year

Pdor year (ove0lunder provision

Tar paid dudngtheyear

Cash in hand

Balanceswith Cenkal Bank of Kenya:
- Cash ratio reserve
- Other balances (available for use bythe Bank)

2023
KES'000

2022
KES'000

1,050

(13,17s)

(465)

14.274

264,824

6,483

(13,336)

(6,482)

14.385

213,298

417 ,260
s10.936

At 31 December L685 1050

20. IOSS PER SHARE (Bank)

Loss per share is calculated by dividing the net loss attdbutable to shareholders by the number of ordinary siares
in issue duriog the year.

21-

2023 2023 2022 2022
KES'000 KES'000 rcs'000 l(Es'000

Group Group Bank Group Bank

Loss for the year (415,274.1 1421 .328t 6AL006I (@qgl

Number ol ordinary shares (number
in thousands) f4Sglo : __, t4lL92A !19-930 _J49928
Loss per share

Easic and diruted (KEs) t?.l7] (ael (ila3) 0=@)

Therc were no potentially dilutive shares outstandin8 as at 31 oecember 2023 and 31 Decembet 2022,
respectively. Diluted earnings per share are theretore the same as basic ea.nings per share.

CASH At{O BAIAiICES Wml CINIRAL BAIIK OF XEi{YA (croup and gank}

2023 2022
tcs'000 KEs'000

453,179
182-951

9!1-554 L20.1,1194

Cash in hand and balances with Central Bank of Kenya are non-interest bearing. The cash ratio reserye is based on
the value ol customer deposits as adjusted by the Central Sank of Xenya requirements. As at 31 December 2023
the cash .atio reserve requirement was 4.25% (2022:4.25%) of all customer deposits held by the Bank. These
funds are not available to finance the Bank's day to day operations.
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OF XENYA LIMITED AND SUESIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

22. DEPOSITS AI{D BATAI|CF^' :UE ::ROM BAT{XING II{STruIONS

a) Ealances due from banking institutions
maturingwithin 90 daF:

As at 1 January

(Decrease)lncrease in allowance for
impairment

Allowance for impairmenl as at 31
December

Netcarryingvalue

b) oeposits due to local banks

2023
Bank

KES'OOO

2022
Bank

KES',000

Ealances with correspondent banks
Ealances with local baflks

165.899
37.664

165,899

3?,004

103,513
7.498

2023
Group

KES'000

2022
Group

KES'000

103,513
7.498

111.011

201
t 101)

100

lilPX

?q1.?!9

L34!,oOQ

203.563 203.563

100 100

z

KES'OOO

Group

3,769.4s8

384,083
1,875,375
1.510.00Q

111.011

201
{1011

102 1n2 100

203,401 2!3,461 
'-'-0,911

3_3_aui IU.37q 20L2.0!

2i!1q000c) Borrowingfrom Central Bank of Kenya 111&5rU 3rul51l4

Deposits with/from local bank5 as at 31 December 2023 represent overnight leoding.

The borrowings from Central Eank of Kenya as at 31 December 2023 were a REPo:
- Ienure: The period of the borrowings was 3 months from l5 october 2023 to lS lao]uary 2024-1,021,840,000, 3 months

frcm 4 December 2023 to 4 March 2024-651,035,000, 3 months from 4 0ecember 2023 to 4 March 2023-902,674,000
and 1 week from 28 December 2023 to 3 January 2024-542,995,000 (2022: The pe od of the borrowings was 2 months
from 16 November 2022 lo 16 January 2023-900,000.000, 3 months from 5 December 2022 lo 6 March 2023-
650,000,000, 3 months from 8 December 2022 to 7 March 2023-7 90,000,000)

' lnterest rate: the borrowing attracted an interest rate of between 0% and 14.5% (2022: interest rate ot between
9.104%,9.551% and 9.69%).

- Security: pledge of the Bank is only a portion of the Treasury Bonds whose fair value was KES.3,661,000,000 (2022:
Security: pledge of the Eank is only a podion of the Ireasury Bonds whose fai. value was XES-2,925,000,000 ).

23. RI{AI{CIALASSETS AT AMORNSED COST

2023 2023 2022 2022

GOVERNMEI{T SICURITIES
Kenya Government Treasury bonds - at amortised cost

The maturity profile of government securities is as
follows:

Less than 1 year
3 years to 5 years

over 5 years

3,7_s9J?19 q269,418 1,226J21. 3.22AJ27

KES',000

Bank

3.759'019

rcs'000
Sank

3.226.727

105,225
1,147 ,112
1971.3-9Q

K€S'OOO

Group

3-226.727

383,644
1,875,375
l-s!Q'00Q

105,225
1,147,112
l-sI439Q

1,i19919 L769JIE 3226.74 3.,2?6-727.

The Yreighted avelage effective intelest rate on treasury bonds was 12% (2022: 11%). As at 31 oecember 2O23 treasury bonds
with a tair value of KES 3,560,000,000 (2022: (ES 2,925,000,000) had been pledged to secure bo(owings from Centrat
Sank of Kenya.
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CONS0LIDATED EANK OF KENYA Lll\,llTEo AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENOED 31 DECEMEER 2023

24 LoAl{S At{D ADVAT'ICES r0 CUSIOMERS (Gmup and Bank}

a) Comme.cialloans

Overdrafts

Mortgages
Asset finance loans
Staffloans

Gross loans and advanc€s
Less:

lnteres:t in suspense
lmpairmert losses on loans and advancesto customeE (note 25)

Maturing:
Within 1 year

Betweenland3years
After 3 yeac

25

Loans and advances to customers

The concentration o, advances to customers is covered under note 10.7

SPECIED CREDITLoSSES otl LOAl{S AND ADVAiICES (Gmup and Bank)

At l January
IFRS 9 Adjustment
lncrease in erpected credit loss
Write otfs
Reversals of expected credit loss

At 31 December

Collectively assessed impairment
lndividually ass€ssed impairment

2023
xEs'000

2022
KES',000

10,653,973 10,802,730

5,483,929

858,458

3,228,292
736,313
346.981

(1.078.849)
(631.986)

5,469,100

896,823

3,177,337
796,398
4$-A?2

(960.409)
(448.079)

311,809
(15,101)

(252.0301

44&081

82.s10
365.571

,g&081

I'let loans and advances to customers 894iL1lt8 9394.242

The weighted average effeclive interest rate on loans and receivables as at 31 December 2023 was 13.9 %

(2022 | 13.7%).

lncluded in gross loans and advances to customeE of KES 9,575,123,000 (2022: XES 9,842,321,000) are
non-perfo,ming loans amounting to KES 2,392,203,000(2022: KES 1,884,392,000 ). These are included in
the statement of financial position net of specific provisions of KES 5 41,219,697 (2022 1KES 365,562,882).

b) Analysis of gross loans and advances to customers by maturity

2,403,452
3,102,545
5.147.976

2,715,479
2,323,566
5.763.685

10,05;t9r1 10.8AZnA

448,081 403,403

439,684
(74,709)

t181.070)

a3 L986

90,756
54t230

03L9&0
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CONSOLIDATEO BANK OF KEI{YA LIMIIED AND SUESIDIARY
NOIES TO IHE FINANCIAL STAIEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

26. OIHER ASSETS

other ass€ts and other receivables that have fixed ordeteminable payments and that are not quoted in an active market
are measured at amortised cost less any impairment loss.

2023 2023 2022 2022
KES'000 KES'000 KES',000 KES'000

Group Bank croup Bank

Clearing account
Prepayments
Rent receivable
Deposits for serYices

Others'

$,2r9
55,210
20,321
13,199
263.870

13,219
55,210
20,321
13,199
263.753

9,025
47,751
24,097
13,439

334.565

9,025
47,659
24,097
13,439

334.563

365^819 365Jl)2

' lncluded in otheG are Mpesa ,PoS and Kenswitch balances.

27. EQUIIY INSIRUME{TS ATFAIR VALUEIHROUGH oIHER COMPREHENSwE TNCOME (cmup
and Banlo

At beginning ofthe year at January 1

Gain in martetvalue ot investment

At end of the year at December 31

428.&n

8,354

tl28J8:l

8,354

2023
KES'000

2022
KES'000

83At

Ihe investment consists of 21,699 sha.€s of Kakuzi Limited which are in the name ofthe 8ank.

ln accordance with IFRS 13, the fairvalue ranking of the investment is at level 1.

Tax has not been recognised in respect of the gain in market value of investment at this time as defened tar has not b€en
recognised as disclosed in note 19 (b).

8l-tt
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poNSoLIDAIED BANK 0F KEIIYA LtMmD AND SUBStDtARy
NOTES IO THE FINANCIAL STATEMEMIS
FORTHE iEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

28 (a).GROUP PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

c0sT/vALuATt0N
At L January 2022
Additions
Transferfrom WIP

Disposal
Surplus on revaluation
Elimination on revaluation

At 31 December 2022

At l January 2023
Additions
Disposal
Write off

At31December2023

Comprising
At cost

At valuation 2023

Land and

buildings
KES',000

732,500

732.500

732,500

732.500

_7,32-500

732.500

Leasehold

improvements

KES'OOO

428.224

428,224

Motorvehicles
KES'000

Fixtures, fittings,
equipment &

ATMs

KES,000

380,010
3,636

383,580
829

(1s,631)

368.778

Computers
KES'000

154,836
3,818

Total

KES'000

428,224 26,526

(2,6e9) (66) (4,394)

383.s80 757.025 1.725.156

7,722,096
7,454

(1,629

23.827

23,827 157,025
17,796

(416)

(9,685)

1,725,156
18,625

(416)
(25,316)

428.224 23.821 764.720 1.718.049

985549

_1325)0

1.718.049

428.224 23.827 368.778 764.720

428.224 23.827 368.778 t64.120
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COI{SOUOAIED BANK OF I(EI{YA TI MD AND SUBSIDTARY
NoTES T0 rHE FtNANC|AL STATEMET,TIS (CoNT|NUED)
FORTHE}tAR ENDED 3l DECEMBER 2023

28(a).GR0UPPRoPERTYA D EQUtPMEI{T(Conflnued)

ACCUMUTATED DEPRECIATION

At L )anuary 2022
I narge forthe year
Eriminatlon on revaluation
Reclassification

Ar 31 December2022

AL 1 January 2023
Jrrarge tortheyear
Reclassificatlon

'Ante off
Elrmination on disposal

At 31 December2023

t{Ff BOOK VALUE

At 31 December2023

At 31December2022

Land and

buildings
KES'000

17,063
17,063

34.126

34,126
16,938

51.064

6811136

698121

Leasehold

lmpmvements
KES',000

421,195
3,031

424,227
1,338

(3,7621

6A27

3t9l

Motor
vehicles

KES,000

20,598
1,513

Flrtures, fittlngs,
equipment& ATMs

KES'000

334,094
16,052

(66)

350.080

350,080
14,381
3,636

(15,631)

16.itu

33^500

Computers
KES'000

142,883
6,586

935,834
44,24s

726J9E

749-412

Tota I

xEs'000

" (2,699)

424 .227 t9 .412

(1,630) (4,39s)

147.839 975.684

421.803 20.925 352.466 145.596 991.8s4

79,412
1,513

147,839
7,658

154
(s,685)

(370)

79J24

9186

975,684
41,828

28
(25,316)

(370)

2t02

!lru5

77



CONSOLIDAIEo BAIIK OF KEI{YA LIMIIID AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO Ti{E FINANCIAL SIAIEM ENTS (CONTINUED)

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

28(b). BANK PROPERTYAI{D EQUIPMS{I

I

c0sT/vAruATt0N
Att )anuary 2022

Additions
Transfer from lvlP
0isposal

At 31 December 2022

At 1 January 2023

Additions

Tra nsfer tol(frc m) subsidiary
Write off
Disposal

At 31 December 2023

Compdsing
At cost

Atvaluatlon 2023

Leas€hold

impmvsments
KES,000

Motorvehicles
KES'000

Land and

buildings
KES'000

732,500 422,839

Fixturss,

fittings,
equipment &

ATMs

KES'000

(66)

382.824

382,824

829
191

(1s,590)

Computers
KES,000

(1,630)

156.935

156,93s

Total

KES'000

26,526 379,254 754,747 1,715,866

- 3,636 3,818 7,454

732.500

732,500

422.839

422,839

(2,6e9)

23.827

23,827

(4,395)

1.718.925

1,718,925

18,625
(18)

(25,186)
(416)

17,796
(209)

(9,s96)
(416)

732.500 422.839 23.827 368.254 164.510 1.711.930

4nfi9 ?3.327 368.24t rctl510 929-43t)

-_232-t00_7i2-500
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CONSOLIDAIED BANK OF KENYA TIMITED AND SUBSIOIARY

NOTES TO II{E FINANCIAL STATEMEI.ITS (CONTINUED)

F0R THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

28lb). EANKPRoPERIYANDEQUIPMET'IT(Continued)

ACCUMULATED OEPRECIATION

Ai I lanu,ary 2022
Charge for the year

t I 
'nination 

on disposal

\r 31December2022

,,l 1 January 2023
,ll .r rge for the year

lirrnination on disposal
') 

, 3rsfer tol(from) subsidiary
I-iec la ssiflc a tio n

\V 
'te 

otf

Leasehold

improvements
KES',000

Motor vehicles
KES'000

Land and

buildings
KES',000

Fixtures,

fittings,
equipment&

AIMs
KES'000

333,794
15,963

(66)

349,691
14,301

136
3,636

(15,590)

Computers
xEs'000

t42,795
6,586

(1,630)

L47 ,7 57
7,629
(370)
(180)

154
(9,s96)

Total
KES'OOO

17,063
17,063

34.12 6

34,126
16,938

19,412
1,513

932,28s
43,022
(4,394)

9 70,913
40,642

(370)
(43)
(28)

(25,186)

418,035
1,898

419.933

419,9 33
261

20,598
1,513

(2,699)

19.4t2 349.691 747 .751 970.913

13,762

Ar 31December2023 51.064 416.432 20,925 352.77 4 145.388 985.983

l'rt-I800( VALUE

At310ecember2023 681^4:!6 6-407 2S!2 16080 fi)n nL9A7

At 31 December 2022 698l?1 2.906 4-415 3lll33 9JB4 Z8A12

credited to the revaluation reseNes.

tnese assets rvould have been KES 159,381,664 (2022: KES163,659,162).

n0 purchases. other categories of assets are canied at cost less accumulated depreciation.
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CONSOLIDAIED BANKOF KEl,lYA UM[IED AND SUBSIDIARY
NOIES TO THE FINANCIAT STAIEMENTS

FORTHE

YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 202J

28 (c). GROUPA D 8At{K RIGHT 0F USE OF ASSEIS

cosl^Ar_uAn0N
X L )anuary 2022
Additions

At 31 December 2022

At 1January2023

At 3l D€cembor 2023

Compdsing
At cost

Atvaluation 2023
ACCUMUTATEO DEPRECIANON
At I laruary 2022
Charge lor the y€a r

Elimination on rwaluation

At 31 Decsmber2022

At l January 2023
ChaGe br the year

Elimination on dispcal

At 31tlec€mber 2023

NET BOOK VALUE

At 31 December 2023

Right ot use of assets (rental space)
KES'000

379,578

379.578

379,578

379.578

379.578

125,652
32^488

158.140

158,140
32,488

190.628

188t50

22L438At 31December2022
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CONSOTIDAIED BANK OF KEIIYA UMIIED AND SUBSIDIARY
NOIES TO IHE FINAT{CIAL SIAIEMEMS
rcR IHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

28 O). GRoUP Al{D BAI{K RIGHT 0F USE oFASSEIS (Con0nuod}

Set out below are the carrying amount of leas€ liability (induded in $e liabilitios under note 32) and the movement
duringthe p€riod

2023 2022

As at l January

Acct€tion of interEst

Payments

As at 3l Decembel

At l ranuary

Depreciadon ciaEe

At 31 December

253,409

30,567
(53.112t

230.864

27 t,207
32,468

(50.2661

253.1109

lf the land and bulldings w€rs statod on tic histoJical cost basb, their carying amounts rrould be as bltows:

2023
KES',000

2022
KES'000

103,992
(4.5211

9!JZ1

108,513

c4.5211

l0tp92
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CONSOLIDAIED EANK OF KEI{YA UM]IED AND SUBSIDIARY

NOIES TO THE FINANCIAI. STATEMEMS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2022

29. GROUP II{TAI{GIBI,I ASSEIS

cosr/vAt-uATtoN

Al I January 2022
Additions
Transferfmm WP
Disposals

At 31 December 2022

At 1.,anuary 2023
Additions
Transfer from WIP

Write-off

Computer Softwa re

KES,000
Work in Pmgress

KES'000
Total

KES'000

797.475

743,015
4,037
2.519

149.571

749,571
31,849
10,055

9,675
46,758
(2.519t

53.914

53,914
319

(10,055)
(43,s78)

e00

752,690
50,795

803.485

803,485
32,168

(43,578)

792.O75

609,422
44.072

657.494

657,494
28,698

(28)

686.164

105911

1115991

At 31 December 2023

ACCUMUTAIED AMORTISATION

Nl lanuary 2022
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2022

At l January 2023
Charge forthe year

Reclassification

609,422
48.072

657.494

657,494
28,698

e8)

At 31 December 2023 686.164 :

NET BOOK VATUE

At 31December2023 105;311 @
At 31 December2o2z 92ojf 5i114

Wo* in proSlress relates to a digital banking module, which was at various stages ofcompletion.
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA LIMI'IED AND SUBSIDIARY

NOIES IO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENOED 31 DECEMEER 2023

9. BAI{K IT{IANG IB I"E ASSI I S

c0sT/vAruATr0N

All lanuary 2022
Additions
Transfer ftom wlP

ComputerSoftware
KES',000

7 40,0t7
4,037
2.5t9

Wort in Progess
KES,000

9,675
46,758
(2.519)

Total
KES'000

At 31 December2o2z 746.573 53.914

At l.,anuary 2023 7 46,573 53,914
Additions 31,849 319
Transfer ftom WP 10,055 (10,055)

Write-off (43,578)

At 31 December 2023 788.477 q00

ACCUM UIATED AMORTISATION

Atllanltary2o22 607,461
Charge for the year 47.472 :

At 31 December 2022 654.933 .

At 1 January 2023 654,933
Charge for the year 28,259 :Reclassification (28) 

=

At 31 December2o23 683.164 :

NEI BOOI( VATUE

At 31 December 2023 105^3lj1 600

At 31 December 2022 9L640 EIJU

Wofi in progress relates to a digital banking module, rvhich was at various stages of completion.

749,692
50,795

800.487

800,487
32,168

(43,578)

789.077

607,461
41,472

654.933

654,933
28,259

(28)

683.164

105313

1458 1
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA LIMITEO AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

30. [fASEHoID LAi\io {cruupand Bdl'k)

31

COST

At I Januaryand 31December

ACCUMUI-ATED AMORTISATION

At 1.lanuary
Charge torthe year

At 31 December

NET EOOK VALUE

At 31 December

CUSToMER DPOSIIS (cmup and Eank)

Cunent and demand accounts
SavinEF accounts
Fixed deposit accounts
Margins

Matarily analysis ol customer deposits:

Repayable:
On demand
Within one year

32.

2023
KES'000

2022
KES'000

lq005.362 uai5e$

3,406,024
1,274,266
5,966,567

18.505

4,698,795
5.966.567

1189

Group

8s,950
1,788

77 ,7 L8
453

152,139
4,199

45.298

39,339
170

39.509

39,169
170

3933e

L95l

3,930,457
1,251,265
6,149,948

24.148

5,205,870
6.149.948

45298

Bank

85,950
1,788

t7 ,7 t8
453

152,139
4,199

10.9!EJS2 tul55.e1q

The weigited aveEge effective interest rate on interest bearing customer deposits at 31 December 2023 was
5.7oA 12022:.4.6%1. Concentration ol customers' deposits is covered under note 10.7.

OIHER UABILMES

2023 2023 2022 2022
KES'000 KES'000 t(Es'000 KES'000

Acc{ued expenses

Gratuity (note 32(a)
Tenants deposits
Cheques forcollection
Sundry payables+

ECL provision for letters of credit and
guarantees

Lease liability (note 28 (b)) 230.864 230.864 253.409 253.409

![]L469 rEL469 5_1q658 s15.65!

i lncluded in sundry payables are uncl€ared PoS transactions, uncleared cheques and unclaimed balances

Group
50,409
10,295
18,618
10,609

112,899
3,7 75

Bank
50,409
10,295
18,618
10,609

112,899
3,7 75
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CONSOTIDATED BAN( OF KEI'IYA LIMIIED AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES IO THE FINANCIAT SIATEMENTS
FOR THEYEAR ENOED 31 DECEMBER 2023

32. OIHERl,lAElLlTiE3(contrnrredt

a) Gmtuity

Balance as at l January
Paid

Charge for the year

2023
KES'000

Bank

2022
KES'OOO

Bank

1,788
(387)

8.894

2023
KES',000

Group

1,788
(387)

8.894

427
(656)

2.O17

1J8II

1.600.000

4!@-aa0

2022
KES',000

Group

447
(704)
2.04s

1t88

1.600.000

1L80000Q

Ealance as at 3l December 10295 il1295

33. SHARECAPIIAT (Group ard Bank)

a) Authorised:

160,000,000 ordinary shares (2021: 80,000,000 ordinary shares) of
KES 20 each

80,000,000, 4% non-cumulative inedeemable
non-convertible preference shares of KES 20 each

2023
KES'000

2022
t(Es'000

3,200,000 3,200,000

b) lssued and fully paid:

149,920,000 odinaryshares of KES 20 each 2,998,400 2,998,400
36,056,500, 4% non-cumulative inedeemable
Non-convertible preference Shares of KES 20 each 12t.L3O 721.130

IZ1C _530 llXt@
Non{onvertible non-panicipating preference shares are entitled to receive a discretionary dividend before any
dividend is declared to the ordinary shareholders. Ile preference shares have no right to share in any surplus
assets orprolits and no voting rights.
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TOTHE FINANCIAI STATEMENIS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 OECEMBER 2023

34. REyALUAnON PISERVES (cmup and qank)

At l January

Transfer of excess depreciation
Defened tax on transfer of excess depreciation- Buildings

2023
KES'000

2022
KES'000

At 31 December 435414 44L54Q

The revaluation surplus arises on the revaluation of freehold land and buildings. Where revalued land or buildings are
sold, the portion of the revaluation surplus that relates to that asset and is eftectively realised over the period in rvhich
this is transrened, is transfened directly to revenue reserves. The revaluati0n surpluses are non-distributable.

Tax has not been recognised in respect of the revaluation surplus at this time as defened tax has not been recognised
as disclosed in note 19 (b).

35. ACCUMUI.AIEDLOSSES

44s,540
(14,380)

4.314

2022
KES'000

Group
(3,283,667)

(454,006)
14.380

(4,314)
(144.181)

781,063
(47.385)

455,606
(14,380)

4.314

At l January

Loss forthe year
Tra nsfer of excess depreciation
Defened tax on transferof excess

depreciation
Transfer to statutory reserve

STAIITIoRY RESERVE (croup and Bank)
At l January
Transfer from/(to) accumulated defi cit

At 31 December

FAIR VATUE RESERVE (Gmup and Bank)
At l January
(Loss)/Gain in market value of quoted equity shares

2023
KES'000

2022
KES',000

2023
KES'OOO

Grcup
(3,871,788)

(415,270)
14,380

(4,314)

47385

2023
KES',000

Eank
(3,880,310)

(42r3281
14,380

(4,314)
47.385

2022
KES',000

Bank
(3,286,876)

(459,319)
14,380

(4,3r4)
(144.181)

636,882
144.181

At 31 December t42ze,60a (g{4J8D 6-EZtZEj) 13.&80.310)

The retained eamin€ls balance represents the amount available for dividend distribution to the shareholders ol the
Group and Bank and the balance maintained for purposes ofstrengthening the overallcapital ofthe Group and Bank.

36

37.

?3L6]8 l8LoE3

7,486 8,354
(868)

At 31 December 7,480

The fair value gain shows the effects from the fair value measurement of equity instruments at Iair value through other
comprehensive income. Any gains and losses are not recognised in the profit or loss until the asset has been sold.
Referto note 7.6.8 for additional fair value disclosures.

IJ-AE
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NOIES IO THE FINANCIAT STATEMEI'fiS

FORTHEYEAR ENDED 3l OECEMBER 2023

38 (a) NoIES TO IHE GRoiJP STATiMEI{ I Ut CASH FLC.IS

(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxalion lo cash used in operations

Loss before taxation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property and equipment (note 28)
Amortisation 0, intangible assets (note 29)
Amortisation of leasehold land (note 30)
lnterest expense on leases
Gain on disposal of propertyand equipment
Loss on derecognition of intan$ble assets
lmpairment (credit)/charge on loans and advances

Loss belore wod(ing capital changes

lncreas€ in cash ratio balance
lncrease in otherassets
(lncrease)/decrease in gross loans and receivables
lnclease in customer deposits
lncrease in other liabilities
(lncrease)/Decrease in treasury tlonds

Cash (used in)/from operations

Analysis o, the balances of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement
offinancial position and notes

Cash on hand (note 21)
Balances with C€ntral Bank of Kenya -other (note 21)
Balances with other banking institutions (note 22)
Ealance to Central Bank (note 22 (c))

Deposits and balances to other banking institutions (note 22 (b))

2023
KES'000

2022
KES'000

(398,848) (435,356)

264,824
182,951
203,461

(3,1r8,544)

G32-3r8)

7 6,732
48,O72

170
32,468

(556)

59J78

117,831
(63,968)

(905,930)
88,229

l29,O2sl
(344.916)

273,298
510,936
110,911

(2,340,000)
(261.208)

74,316
28,698

170
30,567

(8s)
43,578

258.614

23,480
63,058

r92,490
(690,456)

(77 ,7 4Sl
(542.731)

37.010 (218.692)

(e,e4€9$ (LL5q41)

(b)

t2Je9S80 (1J!SJ63)

For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months'
matudty from the date of acquisition, including cash in hand, deposits held at call with banK and other short term highly
liquid investments with original maturities ol three months or below, less advances from banks repayable within three
months from the dates of the advances.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

38 (b) I{OTES I0IHE Br.llK STAIEMEMT 0rCASH FL0t S

(a) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operations

Loss beforetaxation

Adjustments ror
Depreciation of property and equipment (note 28)
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 29)
Amortisation of leasehold land (note 30)
lnterest expense on leases
Loss on derecognition ofintangible assets
Gain on disposalof propertyand equipment
lmpairment (credit)/charge on loans and advances

Loss betore rvorfting capital changes

lncrease in cash ratio balance
lncrease in other assets
(lncrease)/decrease in gross loans and receivables
lncrease in customer deposits
lncrease in other liabilities
(lncraese)/Decrease in treasury bonds

Cash (used in)/from operations

b) Analysis ofthe balances of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement
offinaocial position and notes

Cash on hand (note 21)
Balances rvith Central Bank of Kenya -other(nole 21)
Ealances with other banking institutions (note 22(a)
Balance due to Central Bank (note 22 (c))

Deposits and balances to other banking institutions (note 22(b))

2023
KES',000

2022
KES'000

(408,153) (445,983)

73,130
28,259

170
30,567
43,578

(8s)
258.614

23,480
63,081

192,490
(690,456)

(80,502)
$32.2921

264,824
182,951
203,461

(3,1 18,544)
(332.378)

75,510
47,412

770
32,468

26.080 (231.141)

(ss6
59J?8

117,831
(63,663)

(905,930)
88,229

(22,1941
(344.9161

273,298
510,936
110,911

(2,340,000)
(261.2081

El!-119 [J_61,L841

EJ99-6@ (LL08.0631
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CONSOLIDATED BANK OF KENYA TIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

39. INVESIMEITIs ItI SUBSIDIARIES

40.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Consolidated Bank Limited and its subsidiaries
Consolidated Bank does not have anyjoint ventures or associates
The operations ofthe companies belorv were vested in the Eank in July 2002 and are all incorporated in Kenya.
i) Jimba Credit Corporation Limited
ii) Kenya Savings & Mortgages Limited
iii) Citizen Building Society
iv) Estate Building Society
v) Estate Finance Company of Kenya Limited
vD Business Finance Company Limited
vi0 Home Savings and Mortgages Limited
viiD Union Bank of Kenya Limited
ix) Nationwide Finance Company Limited
Further to the above, the bank incorporated, Conso Eancassurance lntermediary Limited, which commenced operations in ,anuary
2079.

All the above subsidiaries are wholly owned by the Bank. Ihe subsidiaries except Conso Bancassurance lntermediary Limited are
dormant and had a nil carrying value as at 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

oIHER SUPPt.EM ETTARY INF0RMAnON Gank)

The bank's business comprises the rollowing reportable units:
. Corpomte Banking - This include banking services such as business cunent accounts, fixed deposits, overdratts, loans, asse

finance and othercredit facilities in local and foreign cunencies
. Retails & SME (Small medium size enterprises) - incorpoGting banking curent accounts, savings accounts, individual ,ixed

deposits, peconal loans, retail and SME lending
. Treasury - operates the bank's fund management and investment activities.

Othec comprise rental income and other incidental income from the rental space in the Eank's Head Office building a
Consolidated Bank House.

The table below summarizes the breakdown of other supplementary information;

P.ofit orloss fortheyearended 31 December2023
Corporate

banking
KES'000

Treasury

KES'OOO

other
KES'000

Total
t(Es'000

(314.785)

(1ca,_85_Q

Retailbanking

KES'000

(1.2s4.0001

(2.3)
(213,080)

GJS!

t40tl3.)

809,013

546,879
67,638

(1.673.938)

t3egE4A

Net interest income

Negfee and commission
Other income

Operating expenses

Profi t/(loss) berore tax

27,532

93,395

626,995

376,402

153,327

52,052

1,159

25,030
67,638

14593
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CONSOLIDATED BANI( OF KET.IYA [IMrTED AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAT STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

40. OIHERSUPPI.fMENIARY!NFoRMAT|oNrconunued)

Prollt orloss forthe year ended 31 Decemb€r2022
Corporate

bankjng
KES',000

Treasury

KES'000
0ther

KES'000
Total

KES'000

Net interest income

Net fee and commission
0therincome

Operating expeftses

Profi t/(loss) b€fore tar

Statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2023

135,819

177,618

424,445

311,412

159,321

23,884

(546.929)

(a$rua

Retailbanking

KES',000

(1.158.6011

I&JA
(17.5841

165-621

25,644
65,690

{36.115}

55259

719,s85

538,598
65,690

11.759.229\

!B5i5q)

Assets
Shottterm tunds
Loans
0therassets

Assets

Short term funds
Loans
Other assets

Totalassets

Liabilities and equity:
Customer deposits
Bonowed funds
other liabilities
Shareholders' funds

Total liabilities and equity

Statement offinancial position as
at 3l Oecembe( 2022

468,286
7,167,449
720.786

4,406,187
r,781,689

1.781.689 8.350.521 4.406.187

2,748,185 7,916,577

469,847

0_6016!

La!21!!

3,418,544

2J48J!5 L4.1EE44

L,372,405
6,351,025
854.244

3,226,727
3,043,2t7

3.043.217 8.577.674 3.226.721

3,461,753 7,894,065

523.681
roLl-E31

gJgsElI

2,593,185

681.917

681.917

4,814,47 3
8,943,138
1.402.703

75.220.314

10,665,362
3,418,544
469,847
666.s61

1522Q-114

4,599,132
9,394,242
1.561.141

15.554.515

11,355,818
2,593,185
523,681

1,08-1.83 '

706.897

706.897Totalassels

Liabilities and equitf
Customer deposits
Bonowed funds
Other liabilities
Shareholders' funds

Total liabilities and equity 3.!16LJ5:l
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CONSOLIDATED EANK OF KENYA LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

41. COI{IINGEI{CIES AND tOMMIIMEI{TS lNCtUolNG oFt BATANCE SHEEI mMS (Bank)

a) Contingentliabilities

Acceptances and letters ofcredit
Forward and spot
Guarantees

ln common with other financial institutions, the Eank conducts business involving acceptances, letters of credit,
guarantees, pedormance bonds and indemnities. The majorityofthese facilitiesare offset by conesponding obligations
olthird parties.

2023
KES',000

27 ,87 7

158,400
1.026.974

2022
KES',000

28,939

868.949

81L888u1q2!1

Litigations against the bank

llatuE of ctntingent liabilities:

An acceptance is an undertaking by a Bank to pay a bill oI exchange drawn on a customer. IIe Bank expects most
acceptanc€sto be presented, but reimbursement bythe customer is normally immediate.

Letters of credit commit the Eank to make payments to third partres on production of documents, which are
subsequently reimbursed by customers.

Guamntees are generally written by a Bank to supporl performance by customers to third parties. Iie Bank will only be
required to meet these obligations in the event ofthe custome/s default.

Concentrations of contingent liabilities are covered under note 10.7(iii).

Utigations against the Eank relate to civil suits lodged against the Bank by customers and employees in the normal
course of business. The likely outcome of these suits cannot be determined as at the date of signing these financial
statements. The Directors, however, do not anticipate that any material liabilitywill accrue from the pendingsuits.

b) Commitrnents to extend credit

2023 2022
KES'000 KES'000

other commitmenrs to rend 4c!p5c lJllJuls
Undrawn formal stand-by facitities and credit tines ?q9J49 _3OL694

Commitments to €xtend credit are agreements to lend to a customer in future subject to certain conditions. Such
commitments are normally made for a fixed period. The Bank may withdraw from its cont(actual obligation to extend
credit by giving reasonable notice to the customer.

c) Capitalcommitrnents

2023 2022
KES'000 KES'000

Authorised but not contracted for 1lg3q0 rco+lq4

Capital commitmenG relate to; Investmeot in core banking system, digital system upgrade, procurement of HR
system and replacement of computers, fumiture and equipment.
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CONSOLIDATED EANK OF KENYA LIMITED ANO SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STAIEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

41. (,oNIINGENCIFS ANo CoMMm{ENIS ,iCLiJDltlG nrF EArANct SHFEI mMS ((;omiflued)

d) operating lease commitments

Rental income eamed during the year was KES 67,638,000(2022- KES 65,690,000). At the reporting date, the
Eank had contracted with tenants for the following minimum future lease receivables:

2023
KES',000

2022
KES'000lhe Eank as a lessor

Within one year

ln lhe second lo flfth year inclusive
After five years

LL8-LZI 105,913

operating leases relate to the buildings and are negotiated for an average term of 6 years, with the rentals being
reviewed every two yeats and hence classified as operating leases. Ihe leases are cancellable with a penalty when
the tenants do not give three months' notice to vacate the premises.

All operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the lessor exercises its option to renew.
The lessses do not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period. The operating lease
contracts are cancellable.

eI For€lgn erctange contracts

The Bank enters into derivatives for trading and risk management purposes, as explained in n0te 7.4.3 in the
Summary oI significant accounting policies. The Bank may take positions with the expectation of proliting from
favourable movements in pdces, rates or indices. The trading portfolio is within the Bank's investment banking
division (treasury) and is treated as trading risk for risk management purposes. Derivatives held for risk management
purposes include hedges that are economic hedges, but do not meet the hedge accounting requirements. The table
below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments recorded as assets or liabilities together with their
notional amounts.

The notional amount, recorded gross, is the quantity of the derivative contracts' underlying instrument (being foreign
cunency, reference tate or index). Ihe notional amounts indicate the volume of transactions outslanding al the year
end and are not indicative of eitherthe mark€t orcredit risk.

62,601
150,108

5.312

Carryingvalue
liabilities
KES',000

46,098
119,875

Canyingvalue
assets

KES'000

Notionalamount

KES'OOO

Lu28a5

1-32L1.15

At 31 December 2023
Derivatives in economic hedge relationships:
Foreign exchange contracts D,352

At 31December2022
Foreign exchange contracts t4.5-23

Forwards and spot contingents are lhe foreign exchange deals canied out in the interbank markets.
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42- REI-ATED PARIY IRANSAC lloNS (ri.o'rp and Eank)

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise sigoificant
influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions.

Placings are made in the Bank by Directors, their associates and companies associated to Directors. Advances to
customers at 31 December 2023 include advances and loans to companies associated with the directo6. Contingent
liabilities at 31 December 2023 include guarantees and letters of credit for companies associated with tie Directors.

As at 31 December 2023 loans and advances to staff amounted to KES 346,981,000 (2022: KES 463,071,000). Ihe
loans and advances to related parties are performing and are adequately secured.

Directors and employees
2023 2022

(ES',000 KES'000
Cuslomer deposi!s:

At l ranuary
Placed duringthe year
Net ioterest applied
Withdrawals

Staff costs
Board expenses
Administrative expenses

ShorT tem benelits
Salaries and other benefits

Fees for services as Directors

2023
KES',000

Bank

2022
KES',000

Bank

33,438
1,797,018

1,981
(1.788.4811

31,418
1,684,155

706
(1.682.841)

33-{18At 31 December 4jl9l6

Payments made on behalf of Conso Bankassurance intermidiary Limited are as follows:

2023
KES',000

2022
KES'000

6,736
430

5.535

u,]sl

6,133
543

8.381

15-05?

6,531

121,348

2j.223

r50-581

Due from subsidiaries

Conso Bankassurance intermidiary limiled

Due to subsidiades

Conso Bankassurance intermidiary Limited 3.ti8

No ECL has been recorded on amounts due from the subsidiary as these have been assessed and are oot material

Key management compensation

The remuneration of Directors and other members of
key management during the yearwere as follows:

2023
KES'000

Group

128,004

24.84t

156_84i

128,004

28.41q

$q414

2022
KES'000

Group

121,348

29.17 6

111"124
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42 RLLAILI) PARW fR^NSACTIONS (Contirued)

Staff number

The total numberof staffas at the end ofthe yearwas as follows

Numberotstaff

43. DISNNCIIONBEIWEE{CURRS{TANDNON-CURREI{T

2023

223

202

GROUP
Afte( 12
months
KES',O00'

Total
KES '000'

Within 12
months
KES '000'

COMPAI'IY
After 12
months
l(Es'000'

Total
KES '000'

The table belorv sho$/s the distinction between curenl and non,cunent assets and liabilities

As at 31 December2023

Assets

Cash and balances rvith Central Bank

o( Kenya

Balances due from banking

institutions

Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans and advances to customers
Other assets
Due from subsidiary

Equity instruments at fair value

through other comprehensive income

Taxation recoverable

Property and equipment and Right of
Use Assets

lntangible assets

Prepaid operating lease rentals

TotalAssets

Liabilities

Deposits and balances due to

banking institutions

Balances due to Central Eank of
Kenya

Customer deposits

Due to subsidiary

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Nct

Within 12
months

KES '000,

901,554

203,564

384,083
3,203,4t2
36s,819

3,385,37s
5,739,726

901,554

203,564

3,769,458

8,943,138
365,819

901,554

203,564

384,083

3,203,412
365,702

3,374,936

5,7 39,726

901,554

203,564

3,?59,019
8,943,138

365,702

8,354
1,685

914,897
105,911

5J&9

3,118,544

10,665,362

3,7 78

4:17-40s

8,354
1,685

3,1r8,544
10,665,362

915,145

105,911

5.789

8,354

1,685

915,145

105,911

5.789

3,118,544

10,665,362

8,354

1,685

3,118,544

10,665,362

3,778

437.469

914,897

105,911

5.789

5.068.471 10.151.946 t5.220.417 5.068.354 10.141.259 15.209.613

332,378
332,378

332,378
332,3 78

437.469 437.469

14.553.753 14.553.753 14.557.531 14.55f,531

J-r8:282 tc.151ll€ QgQ€q4 e4lgJ]ll 1!,L4t;1t W2&&
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43- DISNNCTION BETWEEN CURREI{T AND NON.CURRENT(CONNNUED}

As at 31 December 2022
Within 12
months
KES '000'

GROUP
After 12
months

KES '000'
Tota I

KES '000'

Within 12
months
xEs ,000,

COMPATIY
Aftet 12
months
KES',000'

Total
KES '000'

Assets

Cash and balances with Central Bank

of l(enya

Ealances due from banking

institutions

Financial assets at amortised cost
loans and advances to customeG
Other assets
Due from subsidiary

Equity instruments at fairvalue
through other comprehensive income

Taxation recoverable

Property and equipment and Right of
Use Assets

lntangible assets

Prepaid operating lease rentals

TotalAssets

Liabilities

Deposits and balances due to
banking institutions

Ealances due to Central Bank of
Kenya

CustomerdeposiG

Due to subsidiary

0ther liabilities

1,261,494

110,911

705,225
2,267,400
42a,877

3,121,502

7 ,t26,842

110,911

3,226,727

9,394,242
428.875

110,911

105,225

2,267,400
428,783

3,121,502

1,126,842

1,261,494

110,911

3,226,727

9,394,242
428,783

8,354

1.050

7 48,0t2
366,992

5159

2,340,000

11,355,818

6,s31

515.65-q

1,261,494 1,261,494

8,354

1,050
8,354

1,050

970,910
145,991

5.959

970,910

145,991

s.959

2,340,000

11,355,818

8,354

1,050

2,340,000

11,355,818

6,531

s1s.65q

748,Ot2
366,992

5.959

4.183.311 11.371.204 15.554.515 4.183.311 11.369.307 L5.552524

261,208 261,208 261,208 261,208

2,340,000

11,355,818

515,658 515,0s8

Iotal liabilities 4 472 684 14.472j86 14.43s.067 14,1135.0i?

Net ffL2seJ7J llJl_t -?A4 lJ.suit OQZgE.ee& lL3og,ilt rult3@

44. CURRENCY

These flnancial statements are prepared in Kenya shillings thousands (KES'000) which is the Bank's functional and presentati
currency.

45. SUBSEQUENI EVENTS

There were no material events after the reporting date which would require adjustments to, or disclosure in, these financ
stat€ments as at the date of the approval of the financial statements.

46. COMPARATIVEFIGURES

Where necessary, comparative flgures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.
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-. Appendix 1

Statement ol Compadson Actualand Sudget:

a) Statement of Finaocial Position

ASSETS

Cash and balances rith CentGl Bank ot Kenya

Salances due fmm ba nking institutions

Financial assets at amodzed cos

loans and adYancts to dJstome,S

otier assets

Property and equ lgnenl and Right of t se Assets

Cuslomer deposits

Actual

31'Dec

2023

xfs'000

901,551

203,161

3.?69.458

Budget

31.tlec

2023

KES 000

941,179

400,000

4,097.185

Performahce

ffis'000 %

3?.60%

0.00i

12.40x

Remarl(s

tower l€{el of ca$ held at the bmnches en
for operationa

Lower due to louer le€l of cash held in N

accounts lor ope€tions

Lower $ao brdget due to lack ol ercess ltq
to ln€st in goEmment securities

Lad( of llquidlty to disbuGe l@ns and adv
and the Bank's prudeoce in rlsk managemei
addidooal lmpaidneni due to the d
bljslness{perating entircnment

(39.624)

(r96,539) 7230%

(321,1211 .2.60*

8,943,140 11,121.008 (2.17i,868) .1t.10%

Equlty instruments at fa ir ratue throotn other
(rmOrehensive in@(ne

Iaxation recoverable

0.00r

.1.30%

365.819

8,354

1,685

915,145

105,91r

1,685

22,166

(88.000)

564.794 (198.975) 21.801

8,354

892.379

193.911 58 90%

Due to incaease in moblle ooney balances h

at ycar end

Change in the l€rel ol dght ot us€ asset
depreciation

oue to the facl that the plann€d inyestmen
new core baokiq system lYas not implemenl

Lower botlorvi.rg due to lack ol tiquidity
lnter banl ma (el

HiEiher bomwing to cover tie gap in the te
deposlts

lntanElble assets

Prepaid operating leas€ rcfltals

IOIAI ASSETS

I-IAEILITIES AND SHAREIIOI.DERS' FJI{DS

UAEILTTES

oeposits a ncl balances due to banking tnstitutions

Baboces due to Centml Eank of Kenya

822!Jr6
5J89

1&22!-59n =lt004aa

332,378

3,118,544

10.665,362

437.169

14.553.753

51r.302

1,890,000

r3,606.771

533.255

1614 L328

(l?8.921)

t.228.544

(2.94r,4091

(95.?86r

o.987.5751

55.60

485.00%

(soo.000)

(sr6.7081

r1.0r6.708)

$22!.3U tu2lt!! 4s0{2!ll .12.40,(

1.201

r!g)x

Du€ to lower acsuals and suodry c.editors
eadi€r budgeted

23.00% oueto lacl ot lilurdty in th. mafiet

Due to higherthar budgeled toss

otherliabitities

TOTAT UABILINES

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNOS

Stare capital

RlYalualion suDlus

Acqrmulated deficit

Statulory res€rve

IOIAI SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS

TOTAL LIABII-tTIES ANO

SIIAREHOLOERS' FUIIDS

3,719,530

435.474

4.251,155

, bt,827

7.486

066162

4,219.530

435.471

3.74 r.047

161.827

7.{8!

1.683.2i0

0.00r

0.00!(

r2.10t

0.00*

(DN/01

-24.20%

96



CONSOTIDATED BANK OF KENYA LIMTTED ANO SUBSIDIARY

NOIES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMEER 2023

Appendix 1

b) StatementofCompEhensivelncome

Actual

31-Dec-23
Pe omance

Vadance

Sudget

31-Dec-23

(69,78s)

(13.5891

(83.378)

Variance

It{TEREST INCOME

INIEREST EXPENSE

NET INIEREST INCOME

Fee and commission iflcome

Foreigo exchange trading
tncome

Total other operating lncome

OPERAIII'iG INCOME

0 Deratin { exDenses

Credit loss expense on loans
aod advances

Credit loss expense on
balances due from banking
institulio ns

(ES',000 KES'OOO KES'000

1,591,817 1.774,077 (182,260)

(782.804t (776.110) (6.694)

809,013 997,967 (188,954)

343.260

1,725,403

(1,610,324)

Due to lorver than budgeted lev€l
oI adrances as a result of capital
and liquiditychallenges

Due to higher cost of bonowing
from CBI( due to liquidity
challenges

Due to lower income ftom credil
relat€d lines due to capital and
liq uidtty challenges

Positive rariaflce du€ to forer
volatility expedenced in the year

enabling the Bank to make mor€
gailts

Oue to lower recoveries from gDDs319.689

1,430,973

(1,382,692)

e3.571)

(294.430)

227,635

-10%

1%

-19%

250,220 360,680 (110,461) -31%

52,052 23,497 28,555 122%

_ {21

.7%

-17%

-14%

248%

2t%

211%

Due to paudent management of
erpenseS

1291,2441 (184,868) (106,37s) 58%

Higher than budget due to the
dilficult ec.nomic conditions
wl ch affec{ed Baok customeG
thus some rve,e uoable to honor

theirobligations

I2l

LOSS BEFORE TOGIIOI{

INCOMETAX CHARGT

LOSS FORTHIYEAR

i.242,9641

(16.4221

(259.386r

(173,173)

tl76.006t
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APPE,l0tx2: ISSUES RAISED EYIHEAUDIOR GE ER T DITRNG PFEV|OUS YF]AR

Statement ol lssue Position in 2023

[,laterial uncertainty related to going concern

The Eank continued to register poor performance ifl

its operatioG. ouring the year under review, the

bank incufted a loss of KES 459,319,000 (2021

KES 304,906,000) resulting into a reported

accumulated losses of KES 3,880,310,000 (2021

KES 3,286,87ti,000) and as of that date the bank

had a regulatory capitalto riskweified assets ratio

ol 1.27% (202t 5.3%) against a regutatory

minimum required of 14.5. The cunent liabilities

balance of Ksh.14,472,684,000 exceeded curent
assets of l,sh. 14,43 1,655,000 by (si.4 1,029,000

and codinued operations depend on Government

suppoi. These coflditions alongside other matteF

disc,osed under the same note are indicative of the

Bank's inabilityto continue as a goingconcem.

Ihough the implemenlatioo of the 2023 to

2027 strategic plan was negatively affeded by

lack of capital and liquidity challenges, the

Sank recorded imp.oved performance

compared to 2022 by reduced losses by 44%

fiom the KES 435 million in 2022 to XES 242

in 2023.

0utlook

The Eoard and management have put in place an

aggressive five-year strategic plan for the period

20231o 2027. The strateo/ is anchored on five

strategic pillars; business grcMh, brand

positioning, people, asset quality and leveragi0g

on technolo$/to growand turn around the Bank.

The total regulatory capital to dsk weighted

assets ratio was howeve. (3.35%l {2022:
(1.27)%) against a regulatory minimum ratio

of 14.5%

Raisiog additional capital lo financ€ growth and

malntain healthy regulatory ratios is of paramount

impodance. The Eoard has be€n in constant

engageme.t viith the t{ational Ireasury the

majodty shareholder and other shareholders to

inject additional capital i[ the bank lo eflsure

compliance with the regulatory capital ratios. The

National Treasury, the maiodty shareholder with

93.4%, is committed to continu€ to suppon the

baok to meet regulatory capital ratios and

implementthe 2023-2027 strategic plan.
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